

National Statistical Service of the Republic of Armenia





THE INFORMAL Sector and Informal Employment in Armenia





COUNTRY REPORT 2010





The Informal Sector and Informal Employment in Armenia

COUNTRY REPORT 2010

© 2011 Asian Development Bank, National Statistical Service of the Republic of Armenia

All rights reserved. Published 2011. Printed in the Philippines.

ISBN 978-92-9092-238-4 Publication Stock No. RPT102860

Cataloging-In-Publication Data

Asian Development Bank and National Statistical Service of the Republic of Armenia The informal sector and informal employment in Armenia. Mandaluyong City, Philippines: Asian Development Bank, 2011.

1. Informal Sector. 2. Armenia. I. Asian Development Bank.

The views expressed in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views and policies of the National Statistical Service of the Republic of Armenia (NSSRA), Asian Development Bank (ADB) or its Board of Governors or the governments they represent.

ADB and NSSRA do not guarantee the accuracy of the data included in this publication and accept no responsibility for any consequence of their use.

By making any designation of or reference to a particular territory or geographic area, or by using the term "country" in this document, ADB and NSSRA do not intend to make any judgments as to the legal or other status of any territory or area.

ADB and NSSRA encourage printing or copying information exclusively for personal and noncommercial use with proper acknowledgment of ADB and NSSRA. Users are restricted from reselling, redistributing, or creating derivative works for commercial purposes without the express, written consent of ADB and NSSRA.

Asian Development Bank 6 ADB Avenue, Mandaluyong City 1550 Metro Manila, Philippines Tel +63 2 632 4444 Fax +63 2 636 2444 www.adb.org

For orders, please contact: Department of External Relations Fax +63 2 636 2648 adbpub@adb.org

Contents

List o	f Tables, Figures, and Appendixes	V
Forev	vord	х
Abbr	eviations	xii
Εχесι	itive Summary	xiii
Chap	ter 1: Introduction	1
1.1.	Background	1
1.2.	Objectives of the Report	2
1.3.	Importance of Informal Sector Indicators in Policy Making and Monitoring	2
1.4.	Informal Sector Statistics in the Realm of Official Statistics	2
1.5.	Main Data Sources Used in the Report	3
1.6.	Layout of the Report and Technical Details of the Surveys	3
Chap	ter 2: Employment in the Informal Economy	4
2.1.	Labor Force Characteristics	4
2.2.	Jobs in the Informal Sector	8
2.3.	Persons Employed in the Informal Sector	11
2.4.	Informal Employment	13
2.5.	Industry of Economic Activity	14
2.6.	Hours of Work	18
2.7.	Employment Status	21
2.8.	Wages and Earnings/Incomes	23
2.9.	Type of Enterprise	27
2.10.	Size of Establishment	28
2.11.	Legal Organization of the Enterprise	30
2.12.	Kind of Workplace	32
2.13.	Age Composition	33
2.14.	Level of Education	35
2.15.	Employment Conditions of Informal Employees	38
2.16.	Exclusion of Agriculture, Forestry, and Fishing	38
Chap	ter 3: Contribution of the Informal Sector to GDP	42
3.1	Industry	44
3.2	Administrative Unit and Urbanity	45
3.3	Agriculture and Non-Agriculture Sectors	46
3.4	Labor Productivity	47
Chap	ter 4: Characteristics of Informal Sector Enterprises	49
Chap	ter 5: Institutionalizing Informal Employment and Informal Sector Statistics	52

Chapter 6: Summary and Conclusions	55
6.1 Summary of the Main Results	55
6.2 Importance of Measuring Informal Employment and the Informal Sector	56
6.3 Other Issues	56
Chapter 7: Recommendations	58
Appendixes	61
References	143

Tables, Figures, and Appendixes

Tables

2.1.1	Population and Labor Force Characteristics by Sex and Urban/Rural	5
2.1.2	Number of Employed Persons by Nature of Employment and Sex	7
2.1.3	Number of Employed Persons by Nature of Employment and Urban/Rural	7
2.2.1	Total Number of Jobs by Type of Production Unit and Nature of Employment	9
2.2.2	Total Number of Jobs by Urban/Rural and Nature of Employment	10
2.3.1	Employment by Employment Status and Type of Production Unit	11
2.3.2	Employment by Employment Status, Job Holding, and Type of Production Unit	11
2.3.3	Employment by Employment Status and Urban/Rural	12
2.4.1	Employment by Type of Production Unit, Nature of Employment, and Sex	14
2.5.1	Employment by Industry, Nature of Employment, and Sex	15
2.5.2	Employment by Industry, Nature of Employment, Sex, and Urban/Rural (%)	16
2.5.3	Employment by Industry, Nature of Employment, and Urban/Rural	17
2.6.1	Average Number of Hours Worked by Employment Status, Nature of Employment, and Activity	19
2.6.2	Average Number of Hours Worked by Employment Status and Sex	19
2.6.3	Average Number of Hours Worked by Employment Status and Urban/Rural	19
2.6.4	Average Number of Hours Worked by Nature of Employment and Industry	20
2.7.1	Employment by Employment Status, Nature of Employment, and Sex	21
2.7.2.1	Employment by Employment Status, Type of Production Unit, and Sex	22
2.7.2.2	Employment by Employment Status, Type of Production Unit, and Sex (%)	23
2.8.1	Average Wage and Earnings by Employment Status, Sector, and Nature of Employment	23
2.8.2	Average Wage and Earnings by Employment Status, Nature of Employment, and Sex	24
2.8.3	Average Wage and Earnings by Employment Status, Nature of Employment, and Urban/Rural	25
2.8.4	Average Wage and Earnings by Industry, Nature of Employment, and Sex	26
2.9	Employment by Type of Enterprise, Type of Production Unit, and Nature of Employment	27
2.10.1	Employment by Employment Size of Establishment, Type of Production Unit,	
	and Nature of Employment (%)	29
2.10.2	Employment by Employment Size of Establishment, Type of Production Unit,	
	Nature of Employment, and Urban/Rural (%)	30
2.11	Employment by Legal Organization, Nature of Employment, and Sex (%)	32
2.12.1	Employment by Place of Work and Nature of Employment	33
2.13.1	Employment by Age Group and Urban/Rural	34
2.13.2	Employment by Age Group and Nature of Employment	35
2.13.3	Employment by Age Group and Type of Production Unit	35
2.14.1	Number of Employed Persons by Level of Education and Sex	36
2.14.2	Employment by Level of Education and Employment Status (1,000 jobs)	36
2.14.3	Employment by Level of Education and Employment Status (%)	37
2.15.1	Number of Wage Workers in Either Primary or Second Jobs by Nature of Employment	39
2.15.2	Frequency Distribution of Wage Workers by Type of Benefits Received and Nature of Employment	39
2.10.1	and Sev	40
2 16 2	Employment in the Non-Agriculture Sector by Employment Status. Type of Production Unit	-+0
2.10.2	and Sex (%)	40

v

3.3	Contribution of Informal Sector to GDP, Agriculture and Non-Agriculture Sectors	46
4.1	Type of Premises Where Business Activities are Carried Out	49
4.2	Employment Size by Industry	50
4.3	Reason for Choosing the Business Activity (%)	50
4.4	Source of Financing	50
4.5	Reason for Not Availing Loan to Finance Business Activity	50
4.5	Reason for Not Availing Loan to Finance Business Activity	50

Figures

2.1.1	Economically Inactive Population by Category of Inactivity and Sex	6
2.1.2	Economically Inactive Population by Category of Inactivity and Urban/Rural	6
2.1.3	Economically Inactive Population by Category of Inactivity, Sex, and Urban/Rural	6
2.2.1	Employment by Nature of Employment, Sex, and Urban/Rural	8
2.2.2	Nature of Employment by Sex and Urban/Rural	8
2.2.3	Nature of Jobs by Type of Production Unit	9
2.2.4	Type and Nature of Jobs by Urban/Rural	10
2.3.1	Employment by Type of Production Unit and Employment Status	12
2.3.2	Employment Status by Production Unit	12
2.4.1	Employment by Type of Production Unit and Nature of Employment	13
2.4.2	Informal Employment by Type of Production Unit	13
2.4.3	Informal Employment by Type of Production Unit and Sex	13
2.5.1	Employment by Industry	14
2.5.2	Employment by Nature of Employment and Industry	16
2.5.3	Informal Employment by Industry and Sex	17
2.5.4	Informal Employment by Industry and Urban/Rural	18
2.6.1	Average Number of Hours Worked by Nature of Employment and Industry	20
2.7.1	Employment by Employment Status, Nature of Employment, and Sex	22
2.7.2	Employment by Employment Status, Sex, and Nature of Employment	22
2.7.3	Employment by Type of Production Unit, Sex, and Employment Status	23
2.8.1	Average Wage and Earnings by Employment Status, Nature of Employment, and Sex	24
2.8.2	Average Wage and Earnings by Urban/Rural, Nature of Employment, and Employment Status	25
2.8.3	Ratio of Average Wage and Earnings of Men and Women by Industry	27
2.9	Employment by Type of Enterprise and Type of Production Unit	28
2.10.1	Employment by Employment Size of Establishment and Type of Production Unit	29
2.10.2	Employment by Nature of Employment and Employment Size of Establishment	29
2.10.3	Employment by Nature of Employment, Urban/Rural, and Employment Size of Establishment	30
2.11.1	Employment by Legal Organization and Nature of Employment	31
2.11.2	Private Sector Employment by Nature of Employment and Legal Organization	31
2.11.3	Private Sector Employment by Legal Organization and Urban/Rural	31
2.12.1	Employment by Place of Work	32
2.12.2	Employment by Place of Work and Nature of Employment	33
2.13.1	Employment by Age Group and Urban/Rural	34
2.13.2	Employment by Nature of Employment and Age Group	34
2.13.3	Employment by Age Group and Type of Production Unit	35
2.14.1	Employed Persons by Level of Education and Sex	36
2.14.2	Employment by Level of Education and Employment Status	37
2.14.3	Employment by Level of Education and Nature of Employment	37
2.15	Frequency Distribution of Wage Workers by Type of Benefits Received and Nature of Employment	39

2.16.1	Employment in the Non-Agriculture Sector by Nature of Employment, Sex,	
	and Type of Production Unit	40
2.16.2	Employment in Non-Agriculture Sector Type of Production Unit, Employment Status, and Sex	41
3.1	Share of Informal Sector to Total GVA by Industry (%)	44
3.2.1	The Informal Sector's Gross Value Added by <i>Marz</i> (%)	45
3.2.2	The Informal Sector Gross Value Added by Urbanity in Armenia	46
3.3	Agriculture and Non-Agriculture Gross Value Added in the Formal and Informal Sectors	46
3.4	Labor Productivity by Industry in the Formal and Informal Sectors	47
3.4.1	Labor Productivity in Agriculture and Non-Agriculture Sectors (AMD '000)	48
Append	ixes	
Appendi	x 1. Concepts and Definitions	61
Figure A	1.1: 17th ICLS Conceptual Framework on Informal Employment	62
Figure A	I.2: Segmentation of the Informal Economy	64
Appendi	x 2. Cost-Effective Sampling Design for the Informal Sector	65
Figure A	2.1: Dichotomy of Household Enterprises	65
Figure A	2.2: Mixed Survey Approach	65
Table A2	1: PSU Distribution for Phases 1 and 2 of the Informal Sector Survey: Armenia	67
Table A2	2: HUEM Decision Matrix	69
Appendi	x 3. Sampling Errors	70
Table A3	1: Distribution of Jobs by Employment Status	70
Table A3	2: Number of Jobs by Employment Status	70
Table A3	3: Distribution of Jobs by Industry	70
Table A3	4: Number of Jobs by Industry	71
Table A3	5: Proportion of Informal Jobs by Marz	71
Table A3	6: Number of Informal Jobs by <i>Marz</i>	71
Table A3	7: Proportion of Workers Who Receive Benefits	72
Table A3	8: Number of Workers Who Receive Benefits	72
Appendi	x 4. Measuring Informal Employment and Informal Enterprises	73
Table A4	1: Combination of Questions from the 2009 Section D of ILCS Used for the	
	Cross Tabulation Analysis	73
Table A4	2a: Decision Matrix for Determining Formal and Informal Employment: Employees,	
	Unpaid Family Workers, and Members of Cooperatives and Others	75
Table A4	2b: Decision Matrix for Determining Formal and Informal Employment:	
	Own-Account Workers and Employers	76
Table A4	3a: Decision Matrix for Classifying Production Units: Employees, Members of Cooperatives,	
	and Others	76
Table A4	3b: Decision Matrix for Classifying Production Units: Own-Account Workers and Employers	77
Table A4	3c: Decision Matrix for Classifying Production Units: Unpaid Family Workers	77
Annondi	x E Estimating the Contribution of Informal Sector to CDD	70

Appendix 5. Estimating the Contribution of Informal Sector to GDP		78
Table A5:	Contents of the ISS Form 2: Armenia, Bangladesh, and Indonesia	80
Box 5.1:	Estimating Value of Output from the HUEM Survey	81
Box 5.2:	Estimating Cost of Intermediate Inputs from the HUEM Survey	81
Box 5.3:	Estimating Operating Surplus from the HUEM Survey	82

Appendix 6.	Statistical Tables	86
Table 2.1.1:	Population and Labor Force Characteristics by Sex	86
Table 2.1.2:	Population and Labor Force Characteristics by Urban/Rural	87
Table 2.2.1:	Total Number of Jobs by Type of Production Unit, and Nature of Employment	88
Table 2.2.2:	Total Number of Jobs by Urban/Rural, and Nature of Employment	88
Table 2.3.1:	Employment by Type of Production Unit and Employment Status	88
Table 2.3.2:	Employment by Employment Status and Urban/Rural	88
Table 2.4.1:	Employment by Type of Production Unit, Nature of Employment, and Sex	89
Table 2.4.2:	Employment by Urban/Rural, Nature of Employment, and Sex	89
Table 2.5.1:	Employment by Industry, Nature of Employment, and Sex	89
Table 2.5.2:	Employment by Industry, Nature of Employment, and Urban/Rural	90
Table 2.5.3:	Employment by Industry and Nature of Employment	90
Table 2.6.1:	Average Number of Hours Worked by Employment Status, Nature of Employment,	
	and Activity	91
Table 2.6.2:	Average Number of Hours Worked by Employment Status, and Urban/Rural	91
Table 2.7.1:	Employment by Employment Status, Nature of Employment, and Sex	91
Table 2.7.2:	Employment by Employment Status, Production Unit, and Sex	91
Table 2.8.1:	Average Wage and Earnings by Employment Status and Nature of Employment	92
Table 2.8.2:	Average Wage and Earnings by Employment Status, Nature of Employment, and Sex	92
Table 2.8.3:	Average Wage and Earnings by Employment Status, Nature of Employment, and Urban/Rural	92
Table 2.9:	Employment by Type of Enterprise, Type of Production Unit, and Nature of Employment	93
Table 2.10.1:	Employment by Employment Size of Establishment, Type of Production Unit,	
	and Nature of Employment	93
Table 2.10.2:	Employment by Employment Size of Establishment, Type of Production Unit,	
	and Nature of Employment (%)	93
Table 2.10.3:	Employment by Employment Size of Establishment, Nature of Employment, and Urban/Rural	94
Table 2.11.1:	Employment by Legal Organization, Nature of Employment, and Sex	94
Table 2.11.2:	Employment by Legal Organization, Nature of Employment, and Urban/Rural	95
Table 2.12.1:	Employment by Place of Work and Nature of Employment	95
Table 2.12.2:	Informal Employment by Place of Work (Excluding Farm and Agricultural Plots) and Urban/Rural	96
Table 2.13.1:	Employment by Age Group and Urban/Rural	96
Table 2.13.2:	Employment by Age Group and Nature of Employment	97
Table 2.13.3:	Informal Employment by Age Group and Type of Production Unit	97
Table 2.14.1:	Employment by Level of Education, Employment Status, and Sex	97
Table 2.14.2:	Employment by Level of Education, Employment Status, and Nature of Employment	98
Table 2.14.3:	Informal Employment by Level of Education and Employment Status	98
Table 2.15.1:	Employees Receiving Benefits by Nature of Employment and Job Holding	99
Table 2.15.2:	Frequency Distribution of Employees by Type of Benefits Received and Job Holding	99
Table 2.16:	Employment by Employment Status, Type of Production Unit,	
	and Sex (Excluding Agriculture)	99
Table 2.17.1	Total Number of Jobs by Marz and Nature of Employment	100
Table 2.17.2	Total Number of Jobs in Non-Agricultural Sector by Marz and Nature of Employment	100
Table 2.17.3	Total Number of Jobs by Marz, and Type of Production Unit, and Nature of Employment	100
Table 3.1:	Gross Value Added in Formal and Informal Sectors by Industry	101
Table 3.2:	Formal and Informal Sectors' Contributions to GDP by Marz	101

Table 3.3:	Formal and Informal Sectors' Contributions to GDP by Agriculture and				
	Non-Agriculture Sector Segregation	101			
Table 3.4:	Labor Productivity in Formal and Informal Sectors by Industry	102			
Table 4.1:	Table 4.1: Average Real Income of Small Producing Units by Industry (AMD thousand)				
Table 4.2:	Proportion of Real Income Perceived by HUEM Owners				
	That Should Be Reported to State Bodies	102			
Appendix 7. Section D, Integrated Living Conditions Survey 2009 Questionnaire: Armenian Version 10.					
Appendix 8.	Section D, Integrated Living Conditions Survey 2009 Questionnaire: English Version	114			
Appendix 9.	Informal Sector Survey 2009 Questionnaire: Armenian Version	125			
Appendix 10	D. Informal Sector Survey 2009 Questionnaire: English Version	134			

Foreword

This report presents the findings of the Informal Sector Survey (ISS) that the National Statistical Service of the Republic of Armenia (NSSRA) conducted with financial and technical assistance from the Asian Development Bank (ADB). ADB funds were provided by Regional Technical Assistance (RETA) 6430: Measuring the Informal Sector.

This is a unique study in the last decade for Armenia, which focused on both informal employment, as well as informal sector contribution to gross domestic product. A previous study on informal employment in Armenia conducted in 2008 and co-funded by the European Union), indicated that informal employment in Armenia is substantial and comprises 51.8% with 35.3% of those employed working in the informal sector and, therefore, are mostly under informal employment arrangement (Report on Labor Force and Informal Employment in Armenia [on results of one-off survey], NSSRA 2009). There are also indications from current research and from sparse survey results across the world that most of the working poor are engaged in informal employment. While the informal sector may offer an alternative source of employment to displaced workers during economic crisis, informal employment rarely comes with social protection, good working conditions, and adequate wages and, thus, its benefits may not be sufficient for workers to achieve an acceptable standard of living. In general, only the employers in the informal sector can rise above the poverty threshold. It is, therefore, necessary that efforts to alleviate poverty must be focused on the needs and constraints faced by the working poor in the informal economy. NSSRA and ADB support this common objective and, through close collaboration under RETA 6430, explored cost-effective ways for measuring and analyzing the informal sector and hence, informal employment. It is the hope of NSSRA that statistics on the informal sector and informal employment be readily available for evidence-based policy making and monitoring.

This is not an easy task. Households or production units that are engaged in the informal sector have low levels of organization and technology, and with unclear distinction between labor and capital or between household and production operations. These informal enterprises are highly mobile, seasonal, lacking of recognizable features for identification, and are usually reluctant to share information. The turnover of these production units is quite fast, making it highly unlikely for them to be included in the list of establishments/enterprises that is usually used as sampling frames for business surveys. Moreover, the numbers of employees of these production units are usually lower than the threshold number for inclusion in the list of establishments. Thus, it is quite likely that these units are not covered by the regular establishment or enterprise surveys. And while these production units might be covered by household surveys, the standard questionnaires for these surveys do not usually include questions pertaining to production. Because of these issues, informal sector statistics are not usually collected through the regular survey system of national statistics offices.

RETA 6430 aims to contribute to the increase in evidence-based policy making for poverty reduction by (i) providing national statistics offices, such as NSSRA, with a good strategy for collecting data from the informal sector; (ii) supporting the integration of informal sector survey results into the compilation of national accounts statistics; and (iii) enabling agencies involved in planning, monitoring, and evaluation of poverty-related policies to have a better understanding of the relationships between poverty and the informal sector.

This report summarizes the key results of the ISS that was conducted by NSSRA in 2009, using the mixed survey approach in which questions that could (i) distinguish informal employment from formal, (ii) determine the extent of social protection, and (iii) identify household unincorporated enterprises with at least some market production (HUEMs) were included in the Integrated Living Conditions Survey (ILCS) that NSSRA conducts annually. A probability sample survey of the HUEMs that were identified in the ILCS was conducted to determine

the contribution of the informal sector to the gross domestic product and to analyze issues pertaining to the informal sector.

The preparation for the ISS, the analysis of the survey results, and this report were done by the following NSSRA staff:

- Mr. Gagik Gevorgyan, Member, State Council on Statistics;
- Mr. Artashes Shaboyan, Member, State Council on Statistics;
- Ms. Lusya Khachatryan, Head, Macroeconomic Indicators and National Accounts;
- Ms. Lusine Kalantaryan, Head, Labor Statistics Division;
- Ms. Diana Martirosova, Head, Households Surveys Division;
- Ms. Anahit Safyan, Head, International Statistical Co-operation Division; and
- Ms. Armenuhi Arushanyan, Chief Specialist, IT Development Division, IT and Information Resources Management Department

NSSRA staff received technical support from the RETA 6430 team composed of Dalisay S. Maligalig, Sining Cuevas, Arturo Martinez, Jr., and Estrella V. Domingo. The RETA 6430 team assisted NSSRA in the preparation of all survey instruments, including questionnaires, manuals, and training materials; in the data processing and analysis of the survey results; and in the writing of this country report. ADB's Armenia Resident Mission staff Areg Barseghyan, Gohar Mousaelyan, Kristine Martirosyan, and Nina Avetisyan provided administrative support to this project. This report also benefited from the valuable inputs of Joann Vanek of the Women in Informal Economy: Globalizing and Organizing (WIEGO).

NSSRA also appreciates the support of its field operations staff and the cooperation of all the respondents of the ILCS and the ISS. The results of these two surveys are very important in providing a clear picture of the social and economic development in Armenia and in effective planning of Armenia's development.

Stepan Mnatsakanyan President NSSRA Yerevan

Abbreviations

- ADB Asian Development Bank
- GDP Gross Domestic Product
- GVA Gross Value Added
- HUEM Household unincorporated enterprises with at least some market production
- ICLS International Conference of Labour Statisticians
- ILCS Integrated Living Conditions Survey
- ILO International Labour Organization
- ISS Informal Sector Survey
- LFS Labor Force Survey
- NOE Non-observed economy
- NSSRA National Statistical Service of the Republic of Armenia
- WIEGO Women in Informal Economy: Globalizing and Organizing

Executive Summary

Mixed Survey Approach

The National Statistical Service of the Republic of Armenia (NSSRA) applied the mixed survey through the Asian Development Bank's (ADB) Regional Technical Assistance (RETA) 6430: Measuring the Informal Sector. The cost-effective and workable data collection strategy presented a workable solution for generating informal employment and informal sector statistics in Armenia.

The mixed survey approach that was implemented in 2009 has two phases: the first phase is the expanded Section D or the Labor and Employment module of the Integrated Living Conditions Survey (ILCS), while the second phase is the Informal Sector Survey (ISS).

The ILCS covers the 10 *marzes* (provinces) and Yerevan, the capital and largest city of Armenia. It has a two-stage sampling design with the primary sampling units (PSUs) as villages or urban blocks and the ultimate sampling units as households. In addition to the *marzes*, all the PSUs are stratified according to either urban, other urban areas, and rural. For 2009, 984 PSUs were sampled, and eight households from each of the sampled PSUs were interviewed.

Section D was expanded with additional questions on (i) identifying household unincorporated enterprises with at least some market production (HUEMs), (ii) distinguishing informal employment from formal employment, and (iii) the extent of social protection mechanisms.

The second phase covered 624 PSUs. The sampling frame constituted the list of HUEMs identified in phase 1. A total of 548 HUEMs were included in the ISS.

The enumeration period was spread into the 12 months of 2009, such that for each month, 82 sampled PSUs were covered and 656 households were interviewed. Data processing, validation, and analyses were carried out from January 2010 to August 2010.

Informal Employment¹

In 2009, it was estimated that a total of 1.2 million persons are employed in the country. This is equivalent to 81.3% employment rate among the economically active population.

Of the employed, 96.6% have one job while the remaining 3.4% have multiple jobs. As in other countries, an employed person in Armenia may have multiple jobs to augment household income especially when the primary job could not provide enough resources to meet one's daily needs.

Privately owned enterprises generated 70.7% of the total employment in 2009, followed by state-owned enterprises, at 25.7%. The rest is spread over municipals, nongovernment organizations, and private employer.

The number of jobs generated by microenterprises accounts for 72.0% of total employment.

Jobs² of employees comprise more than half (55.0%) of the total employment, while the ownaccount workers (26.3%), contributing (unpaid) family workers (17.8%), and employers (0.5%) composed the remaining half.

Throughout the document, the term total employment is expressed as the total number of jobs, unless stated otherwise. This is to facilitate straightforward classification between formal and informal employment since an employed person may have multiple jobs. For instance, a person with two jobs may have both formal and informal jobs. In turn, this person will be counted both under total formal employment and total informal employment. A job is conveniently defined as any productive activity carried out by an employed person, following the official definition of employment adopted in Armenia.

² A job of an employed person may be classified under one of the four categories of employment status: employee, ownaccount workers, employers, and contributing family members. Further, the sources of jobs are categorized into three types of establishments: formal enterprises, informal enterprises, and subsistence household production. The term enterprise, for the first two categories, is not limited to production units that employ hired labor. Instead, an enterprise refers to any unit engaged in the market production of goods and services.

Formal production units supplied majority of the jobs (52.4%), followed by informal enterprises (37.9%) and subsistence household production (9.8%).

Of the total employment, about 52.1% can be considered informal. This is equivalent to 621,700 jobs with informal arrangements. The incidence of informal employment is a little higher among women at 53.4%, than among men at 51.0%.

Informal employment is widely prevalent in the rural areas, at 82.1%. In urban areas, only a quarter (24.5%) of the jobs are informal.

The agriculture sector has the highest incidence (about 98.6%) of informal employment. This may be attributed to the general absence of the formal institutional arrangements in agricultural activities.

Informal employment was estimated at 20.0% of the total non-agricultural employment, which is equivalent to 704,400 jobs. The sectors with high incidence of informal employment are construction (34.2%); wholesale and retail trade, repairs (26.9%); and manufacturing (11.8%).

Employment in the following sectors is mostly³ associated under formal arrangements: financial intermediation (100.0%), government services, (i.e., public administration and defense and social security), and extraterritorial organizations.

Informal employment is primarily linked to informal enterprises; about 72.6% of the total informal jobs are carried out in informal production units. Still, informal arrangements can exist in either the formal enterprises or households. Of the total jobs in formal enterprises, 8.6% are carried out with informal arrangements.

Of the total jobs in informal enterprises, 50.2% are performed by own-account workers while 40.3% can be attributed to unpaid family work.⁴

In 2009, the average monthly earnings in Armenia is estimated at AMD66,511. Men generally receive higher compensation than women. For instance, male employees receive AMD86,450 per month, 52.8% more than women's average monthly earnings of AMD56,572. Male employers earn 22.9% more than female employers, while male own-account workers earn twice the average earnings of their female counterparts.

Workers with formal arrangements generally earn better than those who depend on informal employment. A formal own-account worker earns roughly 2.6 times more than an informal own-account worker. In the agriculture sector, the average wage of formal employees is 30.0% higher than what informal employees receive. In the non-agriculture sectors, formal employees earn 20.0% more than their informal counterparts.

Formal employment is more associated with better educated workers; 41.0% of total formal employment constitutes workers with college education. In comparison, only 6.5% of informal jobs are carried out by college graduates.

Social protection in Armenia is only likely if a wage worker is engaged under formal arrangements; the benefit received by informal wage workers is nil. About eight in 10 formal wage workers have pension funds paid by their employers. Three in five formal wage workers receive sick leave, paid leave, and maternity/ paternity leave.

Contribution of Informal Sector to Total Economy

Until 2008, the construction sector was the main driver of Armenia's economy over the recent years, contributing 25.3% of the total gross domestic product. This was followed by agriculture (16.3%), wholesale and retail trade (11.6%), and manufacturing (8.8%). With the financial and economic crisis in 2009, Armenia's economy contracted by 14.2%.

During the economic crisis in 2009, the share of the informal sector to total gross value added (GVA) reached 11.2%. By industry, contribution of the informal sector to total GVA was highest in the following: agriculture (22.4%), other services (16.6%), construction (15.4%), and wholesale and retail trade (14.8%).

The informal economy was dominated by agriculture (36.2%), construction (26.6%), and trade (18.6%). Meanwhile, by administrative unit, Yerevan has the largest share (38.8%) in the informal sector, followed by Ararat (12.1%), Shirak (9.1%), Armavir (9.1%), Syunik (8.8%), and Kotayk (4.9%).

³ All sampled observations fall under formal employment.

⁴ This is consistent with one of the known characteristics of informal enterprises, that is, "labor relations—where they exist—are based mostly on casual employment, kinship or personal, and social relations rather than contractual arrangements with formal guarantees." (ILO 1993)

The informal sector's total GVA is concentrated more in urban areas (60.1%). In the rural areas, high contributions of the informal sector were noted from Armavir (20.4%) (in proportion to total informal sector's GVA in rural areas), Ararat (19.0%), and Syunik (16.5%). The fact that subsistence agriculture is prevalent in Armenia may have influenced the lower informal production in the rural areas.

In agriculture, 22.4% of production can be accounted to the informal sector and the remaining 77.6% to the formal**⁵ sector.

Total labor productivity, measured as the ratio of gross domestic product to total employment, is AMD2,376,000 per worker. Labor productivity in the formal** sector exceeds that of the informal sector by 4.8 times.

Characteristics of HUEMs

One in two informal enterprises is motivated by either family tradition or their knowledge of the profession in choosing their respective business activities. From all the sampled enterprises, 21.3% reported that to be able to manage their business activities, they take loans. Four in five informal enterprises, which availed themselves of credit to finance their business activities, tap private money institutions, such as banks, pawnshops, cooperatives, or private moneylenders, to finance their business activities.

Among those who did not apply for loans to finance their business, 52.1% identified high interest rate as a primary reason for their decision.

Future Directions

After outlining the strategies to address areas of improvement, NSSRA intends to permanently include the additional questions introduced in 2009 ILCS Section D for estimation of informal employment into the ILCS questionnaire. Similarly, NSSRA also plans to regularly conduct the HUEM survey, which is the data collection tool used for estimating the size, structure, and value added of different types of economic activity in the informal sector.

⁵ The gross value added (GVA) of formal** sector does not represent the GVA of the formal sector alone, as it is computed as the residual of the total GVA less informal sector's GVA. Hence, the term formal** may span both the formal and household (whose production is only for own final consumption) sectors.

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1. Background

Measuring the contribution of the informal sector to the total economy is fast gaining interest as a statistical concern. Many countries have attempted to estimate the non-observed economy (NOE) to which the informal sector belongs. The revised 2008 System of National Accounts (SNA) has also included a chapter on the informal sector (Chapter 25: Informal Aspects of the Economy). The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) published the handbook, Measuring the Non-Observed Economy, while the International Labour Organization (ILO), through the 15th International Conference of Labour Statisticians (ICLS), came out with a resolution defining the informal sector, which is harmonized with the SNA concept of informal sector. Relevant concepts and definitions of the informal sector and informal employment are discussed in Appendix 1.

The estimation of the NOE in Armenia started in 1994. The definition of the NOE is consistent with the OECD handbook definition, but illegal production is not estimated. The most recent estimate of the NOE in Armenia is 25.0% of gross domestic product (GDP) in 2008. Also, it was estimated that 51.8% (or 29.1% in non-agriculture sectors) of the employed are under informal arrangement in 2008 (Report on Labor Force and Informal Employment in Armenia [on results of one-off survey], NSSRA 2009) while indirect estimates of the NOE show that the informal sector contributes about 11.0% to GDP.

These estimates were derived on the basis of different data sources: from sample surveys, such as the sample survey of 2,500 small enterprises with up to 10 employees that was carried out in November–December 2007; the Labor Force Survey of 5,000 urban households in December 2007; the sample survey of employers and self-employed in December 1998–January 1999, which covered 2,046 registered entrepreneurs and 1,800 employers and self-employed; and the annual Armenian Integrated Living Conditions

Survey (ILCS). Although these household surveys were not really designed for collecting data on the NOE, they, nevertheless, are the only available data sources for measuring its size. Observing the hidden economy is complicated because production units in the NOE are difficult to identify, and those that are identified do not fully cooperate in surveys.

Notwithstanding incomplete coverage and possible misreporting, estimates are derived based on data on output and the number of persons employed in the economy. Indirect macroeconomic methods are also employed, using all possible sources of information mentioned earlier. The method used by Armenia is based on the analyses of the supply and demand for labor. The results serve to determine the number of persons engaged in legal productive activities that have not been recorded.

In recent years, however, several other focus surveys were also used to estimate the NOE. For example, a survey of health care institutions was conducted together with a survey of households expenditures in the sphere of health care and medicine. The comparison of these two surveys showed about six fold difference between the figures of production of health care institutions and the expenditures of households on the services provided by these institutions. Several other surveys were conducted and used to estimate the NOE.

Collecting data on the informal sector can be challenging because of the inherent characteristics of the informal sector production units (i.e., high mobility and turnover, small employment size, and lack of distinction between enterprise and accounts of household that own the enterprise). Hence, they are unlikely to be covered by the regular establishment or enterprise surveys. Efforts to collect data from informal sector production units or enterprises, using household surveys, are also difficult. The government cannot afford a special regular survey on the informal sector production units because of the tremendous resource requirements of special listing operations needed to construct the sampling frame of informal sector production units and also the subsequent field operations.

This is rather unfortunate because research in other countries show that workers under informal employment rarely receive social protection benefits and adequate pay and are, therefore, in vulnerable situation compared to their counterparts under formal employment. Informal production units, which are mostly the employers of the informal workers, usually could not offer good and healthy working environment and job security. It is therefore important that the informal sector, as well as informal employment, be measured directly and analyzed to help policy makers better understand these emerging areas of concern.

The Asian Development Bank's (ADB) regional technical assistance (RETA) 6430: Measuring the Informal Sector presented a solution to measuring informal employment and the informal sector by providing a cost-effective and workable data collection strategy using the mixed survey approach. This approach is discussed in detail in Appendix 2. Armenia was one of the three countries in which this approach was tested. A Memorandum of Understanding was drawn and signed between the National Statistical Service of the Republic of Armenia (NSSRA) and ADB in November 2008. The mixed survey approach was implemented in 2009. Data processing, validation, and analysis were performed in January-August 2010. This report is the culmination of the activities listed in the Memorandum of Understanding.

1.2. Objectives of the Report

The general approach and objective of the survey was to improve informal sector statistics by developing and implementing a cost-effective data collection strategy for compiling and analyzing of informal sector statistics. Its main objectives include increasing the availability of data on the informal sector and informal employment and to improve the calculation of the contribution of informal sector to employment and to GDP.

The objective of this report is to present key findings of the expanded labor and employment module of the ILCS and the Informal Sector Survey (ISS) and to recommend practical steps in improving the data collection and analysis approach methodology in the hope that the generation of statistics on the informal sector and informal employment can be institutionalized with full government support.

1.3. Importance of Informal Sector Indicators in Policy Making and Monitoring

The statistics and analysis on informal employment and on the informal sector, which are presented in this report, are important support for evidencebased policy making that can improve the economic and social development of Armenia. Workers under informal employment are more vulnerable and need more assistance from the government and policy makers so that they would be able to fully support their families as well as get protection against unforeseen circumstances. Policy makers need to fully understand the plight of the informal workers so that they could enact or revise laws or review regulations, as needed, to promote worker-centered economic policies.

Data-intensive analysis is also needed in developing viable approaches that could help mainstream informal sector production units into the formal sector. Without full understanding of the situation of the informal sector production units, policy makers and relevant government agencies may not be able to help and convince them to become formal enterprises. There may also be cases when the informal sector need not be mainstreamed; but reliable data are needed to help improve the productivity of informal sector production units.

1.4. Informal Sector Statistics in the Realm of Official Statistics

Although the importance of informal sector and informal employment statistics cannot be denied, collecting official statistics on these areas, due to practical issues, remains a challenge. Informal sector and informal employment are unlikely to be covered by regular establishment or enterprise surveys. Special sample surveys remain as the only source that could be used to estimate informal employment and informal economy. These special sample surveys, however, were rarely conducted in recent years in Armenia, due to resource and financing limitations. (The most recent survey focused on informal employment was conducted, in November 2008, by a project funded by the European Union.) Armenia's official statistics—those that are updated regularly—do not include relevant regular statistics on the contribution of the informal sector to GDP and also on informal employment; thus, mostly coefficients and estimates from rarely conducted surveys are used.

It is our hope that this report would be the initial step toward the inclusion of regularly collected statistics on informal sector and informal employment in Armenia's official statistics.

1.5. Main Data Sources Used in the Report

The mixed survey approach that was implemented in 2009 comprised two phases, with the first phase being a component of the Integrated Living Conditions Survey (ILCS) - Section D (the Labor and Employment module) and the second phase being the Informal Sector Survey (ISS). Section D was expanded with additional questions on identifying household unincorporated enterprise with at least some market production (HUEMs)-or what we have referred to as informal sector production units in the preceding paragraphs—on distinguishing informal employment from formal employment and on the extent of social protection mechanisms. The expanded Section D is the major source of statistics on informal employment and social protection. Also, the sampling frame of HUEMs was constructed from Section D, which became the basis for the ISS (in which 548 HUEMs were included in the sample). The survey was conducted from 1 January to 31 December 2009 in Yerevan and in all marzes (provinces). The results of the ISS are mostly discussed in Chapters 3 and 4.

The contribution of the informal sector to GDP is discussed comprehensively in Chapter 3. Other data

sources, such as data from regular statistical surveys, as well as estimates from some one-off sample surveys held in recent years in Armenia, were also used in this chapter, in addition to the ISS. On the other hand, the characteristics of informal sector enterprises that were mostly derived from the ISS are discussed in Chapter 4.

1.6. Layout of the Report and Technical Details of the Surveys

The full report has seven chapters, which discuss the main results of the surveys, as well as summary and recommendations, and appendixes, which contain technical details, including survey estimates.

Chapter 1 introduces the background, objectives, and importance of measuring the informal sector and informal employment, while Chapter 2 presents the analysis of employment in the informal economy. Chapter 3 presents the estimation of gross value added of the informal sector. Chapter 4 discusses the characteristics of informal sector enterprises. Chapter 5 presents the recommendations on how the statistics on informal employment and the informal sector can be institutionalized. Chapter 6 summarizes the findings of the report and also presents the conclusions. Chapter 7 contains a list of recommendations for future actions that can help improve the data collection and estimation methods that were implemented.

The following appendixes are also included in the report.

Appendix 1:	Concepts and Definitions (Glossary of
	Concepts and Definitions that Were
	Used in the Report)
Appendix 2:	Cost-Effective Sampling Design for the
	Informal Sector
Appendix 3:	Sampling Errors
Appendix 4:	Measuring Informal Employment and
	Informal Enterprises
Appendix 5:	Estimating the Contribution of Informal
	Employment to GDP
Appendix 6:	List of Tables
Appendix 7:	HUEM Survey Questionnaire

Chapter 2 Employment in the Informal Economy

This Chapter describes the profile of the informal economy, using the results of the 2009 Integrated Living Conditions Survey (ILCS) in which questions to identify formal and informal employment were included.

The concepts and definitions of terms used to operationalize such classification and the detailed estimation methodology, that is, the decision matrices in classifying formal and informal employment, are discussed in Appendix 1. The sampling design of the ILCS is described briefly in Appendix 2, while the list of additional statistical tables is available in Appendix 6. The relevant portion of the ILCS questionnaire for phase 1 is in Appendix 7.

Based on the respondent's answers, every 15–75 year old person (surveyed focus group) was classified by economic activity status to the following mutually exclusive groups: employed, unemployed, and economically inactive.

The survey provided an opportunity to analyze the current patterns in employment and acquire a clearer description of the labor market by distinguishing informal from formal employment. This is a significant feat especially since those engaged in informal employment are considered to be vulnerable in the Armenian labor market. Particularly, most of the workers under informal employment do not enjoy the same benefits as those received by the formally employed.

The analysis of formal and informal employment is mainly based on the number of jobs and not the number of persons. This is an important detail given that a person could have more than one job, which is a typical situation in Armenia as in other countries. For example, a person could be a formal employee in an educational institution, working as a teacher in his or her primary job. At the same time, he or she may also be a self-employed worker in his or her own farm for the second job. Therefore, the total employment by job nature will be larger than the total number of workers.⁶

2.1 Labor Force Characteristics

The profile of the labor resources or the 15–75 year old de facto population that comprised 76.9% (2.4 million) of the total population in Armenia is shown in Table 2.1.1. Of this number, men comprised 45.4%, and women, 54.6%, while the proportions in urban and rural settlements were 65.9% and 34.1%, respectively.

Economic activity rate (or labor force participation rate) was recorded at 59.2% (of the total labor resources), a 2.8 percentage points decline compared to the 2008 figure. There are significant differences between economic activity rates of men (69.0%) and women (51.0%), as well as between urban and rural areas, at 70.8% and 53.2%, respectively.

The economic activity rate among young people (15–24 years old) reached 33.4%, which is 25.8 percentage points less than the national average. The highest youth economic activity rate was recorded among men at 36.6%, much greater than the rate among women at 9.4%. Youth economic activity rates were almost the same in urban (31.8%) and rural (30.8%) areas. The low participation rate of the youth in the labor market is mainly due to their attendance in educational institutions, as well as their lack of work experience and, consequently, their low professional skills level.

Meanwhile, the proportions of employed and unemployed persons in the economically active population were 81.3% and 18.7%, respectively.

⁶ Hereafter, total jobs or total employment refers to the sum of primary and second jobs, unless specified that analysis is on a per person basis.

	Total (1,000 persons)						% to Total			
Population	Men	Women	Urban	Rural	Total	Men	Women	Urban	Rural	
Total population (de facto)	1,448.3	1,668.6	2,034.1	1,082.9	3,116.9	46.5	53.5	65.3	34.7	
Labor resources/working age population	1,088.1	1,309.6	1,579.1	818.5	2,397.6	45.4	54.6	65.9	34.1	
Economically active	750.6	668.1	839.6	579.2	1,418.8	52.9	47.1	59.2	40.8	
15–24 years	104.3	80.4	113.8	70.8	184.6	56.5	43.5	61.7	38.3	
25–29	100.3	64.4	107.9	56.8	164.7	60.9	39.1	65.5	34.5	
30–62	492.3	472.7	577.0	387.9	965.0	51.0	49.0	59.8	40.2	
63–75	53.8	50.7	40.8	63.7	104.5	51.5	48.5	39.1	60.9	
Unemployed	133.3	132.6	229.3	36.6	265.9	50.1	49.9	86.2	13.8	
Employed	617.3	535.5	610.3	542.6	1,152.8	53.5	46.5	52.9	47.1	
Employed in agriculture	209.9	244.9	47.0	407.9	454.8	46.2	53.8	10.3	89.7	
Formal employment	4.3	2.7	3.5	3.5	7.1	61.4	38.6	49.9	50.1	
Informal employment	205.6	242.2	43.4	404.3	447.8	45.9	54.1	9.7	90.3	
Formal enterprise	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.1	0.4	53.7	46.3	73.5	26.5	
Informal enterprise	169.0	184.4	13.6	339.7	353.3	47.8	52.2	3.9	96.1	
Household	36.4	57.6	29.4	64.6	94.0	38.8	61.2	31.4	68.6	
Employed in non-agriculture	407.4	290.6	563.3	134.7	698.0	58.4	41.6	80.7	19.3	
Formal employment	306.2	253.8	462.0	98.0	560.0	54.7	45.3	82.5	17.5	
Informal employment	101.2	36.8	101.3	36.7	138.0	73.3	26.7	73.4	26.6	
Formal enterprise	34.8	18.1	47.7	5.1	52.8	65.8	34.2	90.3	9.7	
Informal enterprise	56.0	15.1	44.1	26.9	71.0	78.8	21.2	62.1	37.9	
Household	10.5	3.7	9.5	4.6	14.2	73.9	26.1	67.4	32.6	
Economically inactive*	337.4	641.5	739.5	239.3	978.9	34.5	65.5	75.6	24.4	
15–24 years	181.0	215.3	255.4	140.9	396.3	45.7	54.3	64.4	35.6	
25–29	16.6	63.5	60.6	19.5	80.0	20.7	79.3	75.7	24.3	
30–62	78.6	255.8	287.5	46.9	334.4	23.5	76.5	86.0	14.0	
63–75	61.3	106.9	136.1	32.1	168.1	36.4	63.6	80.9	19.1	
Pupil, student (stationary)	91.8	123.4	151.8	63.5	215.3	42.7	57.3	70.5	29.5	
Housekeeper*	3.5	213.3	173.4	43.4	216.8	1.6	98.4	80.0	20.0	
Pensioner (by age, health, privileged conditions)	95.3	140.7	192.2	43.8	236.0	40.4	59.6	81.5	18.5	
Other jobless people**	146.9	164.0	222.2	88.7	310.9	47.2	52.8	71.5	28.5	

Table 2.1.1 Population and Labor Force Characteristics by Sex and Urban/Rural

* Person does not belong to the labor force during the reference period and hence, is not active because of engagement in family duties within household.

** Person does not belong to the labor force during the reference period and hence, is not active because he or she is supported by other people, or receives other incomes, such as rents, interest payments, etc.

Notes: Numbers may not sum precisely because of rounding.

Data shown pertain to the primary job only (by person analysis).

Employment rate is computed as employed population over the total labor resources.

The unemployment rate, at 18.7%, is a 2.3 percentage point rise from the 2008 unemployment figure. Among the economically active men, 17.8% were unemployed, and among women, 19.9%. While the distribution, by sex, is almost equal, urban–rural unemployment strongly varies with unemployment rate in urban areas (27.3%), which is more than four times the rate in rural areas (6.3%). This condition is

mostly related to the overall involvement of country people to low-productive agricultural activities.

The number of economically inactive population increased by 1.7 percentage points compared with the 2008 figure. The number of economically inactive women was almost twice that of men, that is, of the 978,900 inactive population, 66.0% are women and 34.0% are men. A third of the economically inactive women are identified to be housekeepers (Figure 2.1.1).

Meanwhile, the economically inactive population in urban areas (76.0%) was three times more than that in the rural areas (24.0%).

Employment rate was recorded at 48.1%, a 3.8 percentage point drop from the rate in 2008. This decline may have been the effect of the global financial-economic crisis in 2007, in which 31.9% of employed people lost their jobs due to dismissals, shortage in job vacancies, and shutting down of the enterprises that provide employment. Moreover, about 51.6% of the employed lost their temporary jobs.

Employment rate by sex was registered at 56.7% among men, and 40.9% among women. Comparing these with the previous year's data showed that employment rate among men decreased by 5.3 percentage points, while it slightly increased by 0.9 percentage points among women. On the other hand, the large difference in employment rates between those living in urban (38.6%) and rural (66.3%) areas is generally related to the high rate of employment in the agriculture sector.

Among the 1.2 million employed persons, the shares of men (617,400 persons or 53.5%) and townspeople⁷ (610,300 persons or 52.9%) were significantly larger compared with those of women (535,500 persons or 46.5%) and country people⁸ (542,600 persons or 47.1%). The percentage of those





employed in the agriculture sector (includes fishing and fish breeding) was 39.5% (454,800 persons), of which 89.7% are in the rural areas. On the other hand, women accounted for more than half (53.8%) of the employed in the rural areas.

100 80 71 80 60 81 % 40 20 29 29 24 20 19 Λ Pupil, Housekeeper Pensioner Other jobless Total (by age, health, student people priviledged condition) Rural Urban

Figure 2.1.2 Economically Inactive Population by Category of Inactivity and Urban/Rural





Note: Values inside the bars represent the number of persons, in thousands.

While having only one job is the popular case in Armenia (96.6% of total employed persons), there were still some workers (about 39,500 or 3.4% of total employed persons) with two jobs. Of these, 74.7% were engaged formally in their first jobs and informally employed in their second jobs. Only a minimal number

People who live in urban areas.

⁸ People who live in rural areas.

	Total Number of Employed (1,000 persons)			% to Total Number of Employed		% to Total Number of Employed of the Corresponding Group	
Nature of Employment	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Men	Women
Formally employed in one job only	293.6	240.9	534.5	54.9	45.1	47.6	45.0
Informally employed in one job only	301.6	277.3	578.9	52.1	47.9	48.9	51.8
Formally employed in both primary and second jobs	2.3	0.8	3.1	75.1	24.9	0.4	0.1
Formally employed in primary job and informally employed in second job	14.6	14.9	29.5	49.6	50.4	2.4	2.8
Informally employed in primary job and formally employed in second job	0.3	0.3	0.5	52.9	47.1	0.0	0.1
Informally employed in primary job and informally employed in second job	4.9	1.4	6.4	77.7	22.3	0.8	0.3
Total employed	617.3	535.5	1,152.8	53.5	46.5	100.0	100.0

Note: Numbers may not sum precisely because of rounding.

	Tota (1,	al Numbe Employed 000 perso	er of d ons)	% to Numl Emp	Total ber of loyed	% to Total Number of Employed by Urbanity/Are		
Nature of Employment	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Urban	Rural	
Formally employed in one job only	456.4	78.0	534.4	85.4	14.6	74.8	14.4	
Informally employed in one job only	143.9	435.0	578.9	24.9	75.1	23.6	80.2	
Formally employed in both primary and second jobs	2.9	0.2	3.1	95.0	5.0	0.5	0.0	
Formally employed in primary job and informally employed in second job	6.2	23.3	29.5	20.9	79.1	1.0	4.3	
Informally employed in primary job and formally employed in second job		0.5	0.5		100.0		0.1	
Informally employed in primary job and informally employed in second job	0.8	5.5	6.4	13.3	86.7	0.1	1.0	
Total employed	610.3	542.5	1,152.8	52.9	47.1	100.0	100.0	

Table 2.1.3 Number of Employed Persons by Nature of Employment and Urban/Rural

 \dots = no observation/no data available.

Note: Numbers may not sum precisely because of rounding.

of employed persons (1.3%) were informally employed in their primary jobs and formally employed in their second jobs. Meanwhile, 7.8% were employed formally and 16.2%, informally, in both jobs. This shows that the additional jobs that workers engage in are generally under informal arrangements. The number of workers who are informally employed in their only job reached 578,900 persons or 93.1% of total informally employed, while those who were informally employed in both primary and secondary jobs reached 6,400 persons or 1.0% of total informally employed.

2.2 Jobs in the Informal Sector

Informal employment (in primary and/or in secondary job) was estimated at 52.1% of the total employment and comprised 621,700 of the total jobs⁹ (including the agriculture sector). Of the total number of jobs engaged in by women, 53.4% are informal, higher than the percentage of informal employment among men, at 51.0%. While analysis of the nature of employment, by sex, does not show wide discrepancies in numbers, investigation by type of settlements presents a notable difference. Informal employment was prevalent in the rural areas, with 82.1% of the 572,100 jobs in the rural areas, mainly due to the agriculture sector's employment.¹⁰ Informal employment in urban areas was posted at 24.5% of the total employment in the area (620,200 jobs).

Consequently, formal employment (in primary and/or in secondary job) comprised 47.9.0% of the total employment (570,700 of the total jobs) (Figure 2.2.1). Of the total formal jobs, 93.7% were formal employment by a person with one job only; the rest are recorded from people with second jobs.

Of the total jobs engaged in by women, 46.6% are formal, slightly less than the percentage of formal employment among jobs assumed by men, at 49.0%. Meanwhile, formal employment in urban areas was estimated at 75.5%, four times more than the 17.9% registered in rural areas.

Different informal employment patterns were observed when analyzed by sex and urbanity (Figure 2.2.2). Of the total informal jobs, 621,700 (or 52.5%) were assumed by men, higher than the percentage of jobs engaged in by women (47.5%). Still, this difference is minimal compared to the wide discrepancy in numbers with respect to settlements. Informal employment is largely more common in rural areas (75.6%) than in urban areas (24.5%).

Figure 2.2.1 Employment by Nature of Employment, Sex, and Urban/Rural



Figure 2.2.2 Nature of Employment by Sex and Urban/Rural



Note: Urban area includes Yerevan.

In Armenia, formal enterprises or production units provide the greatest employment based on the number of jobs (52.4%), followed by informal

⁹ People classified by nature of employment (formal and informal) through their jobs. Thus, a person with two jobs can be categorized as both formally and informally employed.

¹⁰ The majority of these employed in agriculture in Armenia have no organizational and legal status and are therefore considered to be informally employed by the International Labour Organization methodology. From the institutional point of view, these employed are classified to the informal sector of economy stipulated by the absence of the institutionalorganizational and legal status.

enterprises (37.9%) and households (9.8%). This follows the pattern of the primary job grouping, that is, 53.8% of primary jobs are engaged in formal enterprises, 36.8% in informal enterprises, and 9.4% in households. However, the picture is quite different with respect to second jobs: 68.4% of second jobs are in informal enterprises, 21.5% in households, and only 10.1% in formal enterprises. The percentage of second jobs in informal enterprises is almost twice (68.4%) that of primary jobs (36.8%) in these production units. This is consistent with the earlier observation that most second jobs are informal in nature; second jobs are also more common in informal enterprises.

There is also a noteworthy difference in the number of jobs in the households, by type of job. That is, while only 9.4% of primary jobs are engaged in households as production units, twice this number (21.5%) is recorded in the second jobs (Figure 2.2.3). In both cases, the activities associated with the households are agricultural ones, at 86.9% in primary job and 96.0% in second job. Households, as type of production unit, were also more typical in the rural areas (62.6% on average).

As mentioned in the previous section, employment in secondary jobs in Armenia totaled 39,500 jobs, of which 90.9% are under informal arrangement. Only 50.8% of the primary jobs were estimated to be informal. It should be noted that the second activity of an employed person is mainly to augment the income received, since the primary work does not provide enough to meet daily needs. This reason was cited by 65.8% of those with additional jobs. Hence, given



Figure 2.2.3 Nature of Jobs by Type of Production Unit

that second jobs are chiefly informal in nature and/or take place in informal enterprises, it can be surmised that informality in labor arrangements and production units play significant roles in households that need additional sources of income.

Table 2.2.1 shows that the number of formal jobs in formal enterprises (570,700 jobs) is actually greater than the number of informal jobs in informal enterprises (451,300 jobs). However, due to the informal employment present in formal enterprises (53,600 jobs or 8.6% of informal employment) and in households (116,700 jobs or 9.8% of informal employment), the total number of informal jobs becomes greater than the total number of formal jobs. Thus, while formal employment in Armenia only exists in formal enterprises, informal employment cuts across the different types of production units.

	Nature of Employment (thousand)											
		Primary Job	כ		Second Job)	Total					
Type of Production Unit	Formal	Informal	Total	Formal	Informal	Total	Formal	Informal	Total			
Formal sector enterprises	567.0	53.3	620.3	3.6	0.4	4.0	570.7	53.6	624.3			
Informal sector enterprises	_	424.4	424.4	_	27.0	27.0	_	451.3	451.3			
Households	-	108.2	108.2	-	8.5	8.5	-	116.7	116.7			
Total	567.0	585.8	1,152.8	3.6	35.9	39.5	570.7	621.7	1,192.3			

Table 2.2.1 Total Number of Jobs by Type of Production Unit and Nature of Employment

– = not applicable.

Meanwhile, of the 451,300 jobs in the informal sector, 189,600 jobs (42.0%) were identified with own-account workers in farms. In Armenia, enterprises of own-account workers in farms are classified under the informal sector due to the characteristics of the production units, specifically the absence of the institutional–organizational and legal status.

Although informal employment was prevalent in both the primary (50.8%) and secondary jobs (90.9%), more jobs in Armenia are still created by the formal enterprises (at 52.0% of total jobs) than by the informal sector enterprises (38.0%) or households (10.0%).

About 3.4% of employed persons in Armenia had a second job and most of them (83.9%) were employed in agriculture. Because most of the second jobs are associated with agriculture, as in other countries such as the Philippines and Indonesia, the additional jobs are typically employed by informal sector enterprises/productions units or engaged in informal employment.

Significant differences are observed in terms of formal and informal employment by urbanity. Informal work is more common in rural than in urban areas¹¹ as evidenced by the prevalence of informal employment, at 82.1% and 24.5%, respectively (Table 2.2.2 and Figure 2.2.4). This is mainly due to the widespread unorganized farm activities and the prevalence of informal enterprises in rural areas. Analysis by type of jobs showed further interesting contradictions. While a greater number of primary jobs is in the urban areas (52.9%, or 610,200 jobs where the share of Yerevan was 55.0%), three of four second jobs (74.9%, or 29,600 jobs) were in rural settlements (Figure 2.2.4). Meanwhile, formal arrangements were much more

Figure 2.2.4 Type and Nature of Jobs by Urban/Rural



common in urban (76.3%) than in rural areas (18.7%) among the primary jobs. On the other hand, informal employment is typical among the second jobs, whether the workers are in urban (70.7%) or rural (97.6%) areas.

In general, while informal employment reached 50.8% among the primary jobs, this is small compared to the percentage of informality in the second jobs, at 90.9%. Furthermore, analysis in this section supports the earlier statement that workers, through their second jobs, want to earn more by engaging in informal activities. This is true whether one is located in the urban areas and is engaged in non-agriculture jobs, or is in the rural agriculture activities. These results further suggest that the agriculture sector, specifically the farming activities, has a significant association with respect to jobs in the informal sector and informal employment.

		Nature of Employment (thousand)											
		Primary Job			Second Job		Total						
Area	Formal	Informal	Total	Formal	Informal	Total	Formal	Informal	Total				
Yerevan	271.5	64.3	335.8	2.3	1.2	3.5	273.8	65.5	339.2				
Urban	194.0	80.4	274.4	0.6	5.8	6.4	194.7	86.3	281.0				
Rural	101.5	441.1	542.6	0.7	28.9	29.6	102.2	469.9	572.1				
Total	567.0	585.8	1152.8	3.6	35.9	39.5	570.7	621.7	1,192.3				

Table 2.2.2 Total Number of Jobs by Urban/Rural and Nature of Employment

¹¹ Includes Yerevan.

2.3 Persons Employed in the Informal Sector

		Type of Production Unit										
		Number (thousand)	% to Total of Each Group								
Employment Status	Formal	Informal	Household	Total	Formal	Informal	Household					
Employee	600.8	42.5	16.4	659.7	91.1	6.4	2.5					
Employer	6.3		-	6.3	100.0		-					
Own-account worker	15.2	226.7	72.0	313.9	4.8	72.2	22.9					
Unpaid family worker	2.0	181.7	28.3	212.0	0.9	85.7	13.4					
Member of cooperative	0.0		-	0.0	100.0		-					
Others	0.3			0.3	100.0							
Total	624.3	451.3	116.7	1,192.3	52.4	37.9	9.8					

Table 2.3.1 Employment by Employment Status and Type of Production Unit

 \dots = no observation/no data available, - = not applicable.

Table 2.3.2	Employment b	y Employment	Status, Job Holding,	, and Type of Pro	duction Unit

		Type of Production Units (thousand)										
		Primary Jo	ob		Second Jo	ob	Total					
Employment Status	Formal Informal Household			Formal	Informal	Household	Formal	Informal	Household			
Employee	597.1	42.4	15.8	3.8	0.1	0.6	600.8	42.5	16.4			
Employer	5.9	0.4	-	0.1		-	5.9	0.4	-			
Own-account worker	15.1	209.4	65.8	0.2	17.3	6.1	15.2	226.7	72.0			
Unpaid family worker	2.0	172.1	26.5	0.0	9.6	1.8	2.0	181.7	28.3			
Member of cooperative	0.0		-			-	0.0		-			
Others	0.3						0.3					
Total	620.3	424.4	108.2	4.0	27.0	8.5	624.3	451.4	116.7			

 \dots = no observation/no data available, - = not applicable.

Among all the types of employment status, employees registered the highest prevalence, at 55.3% of total employment (Tables 2.3.1 and 2.3.2). This is also true in the case of primary jobs, where employees are 56.8% of the total, but not in the secondary jobs in which employees only accounted for 11.2% of the total. The likely reason for such difference between types of job is the large share of farming in the second job, an activity more common among own-account and unpaid family workers. Employees also comprised majority of the jobs in formal sector enterprises. More than half of the formal sector's employees worked in state-owned enterprises, at 50.9%; 43.6% in private enterprises; 3.6% in municipals; and 1.9% in nongovernment organizations.

Less than half, about 44.6% of total employment, is classified as self-employed¹² workers, including ownaccount workers (26.3%), employers (0.5%), and contributing (unpaid) family workers (17.8%). The share of unpaid family workers is significant in the economy because of the lack of appropriate jobs. At the same time, informal enterprises or production units mainly provide jobs to the self-employed workers (90.6%). Of these, the own-account workers had the greatest share (50.2%), followed by the unpaid family workers (40.3%). This confirms one of the known characteristics of informal enterprises, that is, "*labor relations—where they*

¹² Self-employment refers to own-account workers, employers, and unpaid family workers.

		Urban/Rural											
		Number (thousand)		% to T	otal of Each	Group						
Employment Status	Yerevan	Urban	Rural	Total	Yerevan	Urban	Rural						
Employee	307.4	222.6	129.7	659.7	46.6	33.7	19.7						
Employer	4.4	1.2	0.7	6.4	68.8	18.8	10.9						
Own-account worker	25.3	44.0	244.7	313.9	8.0	14.0	78.0						
Unpaid family worker	2.1	13.2	196.7	212.0	1.0	6.2	92.8						
Member of cooperative			0.0	0.0			100.0						
Others	0.0		0.3	0.3	9.2		90.8						
Total	339.2	281.0	572.1	1,192.3	28.5	23.6	48.0						

Table 2.3.3 Employment by Employment Status and Urban/Rural

... = no observation/no data available.





exist—are based mostly on casual employment, kinship or personal, and social relations rather than contractual arrangements with formal guarantees (ILO 1993)".

The share of members of cooperatives in the economy of Armenia was very low (less than 0.1%) and tends to decrease from year to year. Households provide jobs to own-account workers (61.7%), unpaid family workers (24.3%), and employees (14.1%). A substantial amount of own-account workers in households, i.e., those who produce for their own final consumption, is caused by the lack of job vacancies in the labor market of Armenia. These activities provide additional sources of food (or nonfood) household expenditures. Moreover, activities in household production units are more often performed as a second job (21.4%) rather than as main job (9.4%). It can, therefore, be assumed that households produce for own consumption to avoid poverty.

Figure 2.3.2 Employment Status by Production Unit



Total employment mainly comprises employees who are distributed between the urban and rural settlements at 80.3% and 19.7%, respectively (Table 2.3.3). A large percentage of employees was in the country's capital (46.6% of the total number of employees), where majority of the formal jobs are available. In fact, 90.6% of total jobs in Yerevan are assumed by employees. Meanwhile, about 87.6% of all employers are in the urban areas. Employers tend to concentrate in Yerevan (68.8% of total number of employers) perhaps because of relevant business structures in the city, such as greater accessibility to financial institutions, means of production, and raw materials; availability of specialists; and well-established communication facilities and arrangements with other countries.

In the rural areas, own-account worker jobs (42.8%) and unpaid family jobs (34.4%) comprised most of the employment, due to agricultural activities.

2.4 Informal Employment

In accordance with legislation¹³ of the Republic of Armenia (RA), formal employment is only provided by legally registered organizations. Given that registration is one of the factors that determine formality of enterprises, it follows that in the country, formal employment exists only in formal enterprises. Cases of formal employment in informal enterprises or households, i.e., employees with contracts in unregistered enterprises or private households hiring domestic help with contracts, are not likely.

To reduce informal employment, the Government of Armenia made additional administrative arrangements in recent years, such as the amendments to the Labor Law of RA, and the Law of RA on Administrative Infringement, etc. However, as mentioned earlier, survey results show that, unlike formal employment, informal employment exists in all three types of production units. The number of informal employment in the formal enterprises accounted for 4.5% of the total employment and 8.6% of the informal employment. Meanwhile, the informal enterprises are the main provider of informal employment, and the





¹³ Entrepreneurial activity without state registration is prohibited by law (RA Law "On State Registration of Juridical Person"). At the same time, holding an employee without a labor contract is prohibited by law (RA Law "On Administrative Infringement of the Law").

number of jobs it supplied reached 37.8% of the total employment or 72.6% of the informal employment. The households, on the other hand, provided 9.8% of the total employment or 18.8% of the informal work (Figure 2.4.1).

Recall that informal employment (in primary and/ or in secondary job) was estimated at 52.1% of total employment. Distribution of informal employment by type of production unit (Figure 2.4.2) shows prevalence of employment in the informal enterprises. Two in every three informal jobs were in informal enterprises.

There are observed patterns between the different socioeconomic characteristics and nature of employment, which enabled deeper understanding of employment and related issues. Specifically, analysis of the nature of employment and types of production units shows different patterns of employment between sexes (Figure 2.4.3).





Figure 2.4.3 Informal Employment by Type of Production Unit and Sex



		Nature								
Type of	Formal Informal						Total			
Production Unit	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Men	Women	Total		
Formal enterprises	313.1	257.6	570.7	35.1	18.6	53.6	348.2	276.1	624.3	
Informal enterprises	-	-	-	240.0	211.3	451.3	240.0	211.3	451.3	
Households	-	-	-	51.3	65.4	116.7	51.3	65.4	116.7	
Total	313.1	257.6	570.7	326.4	295.3	621.7	639.5	552.8	1,192.3	

Table 2.4.1 Employment by Type of Production Unit, Nature of Employment, and Sex

– = not applicable.

The data suggest that in relative terms, the number of jobs assumed by men is more than that assumed by women (Table 2.4.1 and Figure 2.4.3) except in terms of employment in households. As presented in Appendix 1, Figure A1.1, activities in households are composed of production for own-consumption and/or households employing paid domestic workers. In addition, in Armenia, aside from own-account workers and employees, unpaid family workers are also classified in households.¹⁴ These characteristics of employment in households allow women the opportunity to combine home care with other productive activities.

2.5 Industry of Economic Activity

In Armenia, the highest share of employment was recorded in the agriculture sector (40.9%). During the whole period of transition and after the collapse of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, privatization of public lands and overall liquidation of industrial enterprises became widespread, which caused activities in agriculture, though small scale, to flourish. The next sectors with the highest employments are industry¹⁵ (9.6%), education (9.1%), and wholesale and retail trade (8.2%).

Based on estimates on the total number of employed persons in 2009, it is noteworthy that from 2008 figures, a 1.1 percentage point growth in agriculture employment was recorded while a 12.0 percentage point drop in industry employment was observed. The most likely causes of such (slight) redistribution in workforce are the high occurrence of dismissals, shortage of available work, liquidation of enterprises, and the forced administrative vacations of workers due to the global financial and economic crisis. In Armenia, industry is one of the sectors most vulnerable to the economic crisis.

Of the total jobs assumed by men, employment in agriculture ranked the highest (35.6%), followed by industry (13.7%) and construction (12.7%). Almost half of the jobs engaged in by women were in agriculture (47.0%), followed by education (15.8%), health (9.3%), and wholesale and retail trade (7.8%); such activities are traditionally considered to be feminine.

Figure 2.5.1 Employment by Industry



¹⁴ Following the Informal Employment Framework, unpaid family workers are included in the group of own-account workers producing goods for own consumption. These unpaid family workers assume the characteristics of the own-account household member, such as the industry of the work, the type of enterprise, etc.

¹⁵ Includes mining and quarrying; manufacturing; and electricity, gas, and water supply.

		Nature of Employment							Total Employment			
		Formal Informal							1,000 job	nent s)		
Sector	Industry	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total		
A	Agriculture, hunting, and forestry	4.2	2.7	6.9	223.7	257.2	480.8	227.8	259.9	487.7		
В	Fishing	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.2		
С	Mining and quarrying	7.4	2.1	9.5	0.1	0.0	0.1	7.5	2.1	9.7		
D	Manufacturing	41.5	13.2	54.6	8.5	7.3	15.8	50.0	20.4	70.4		
E	Electricity, gas, and water supply	29.5	4.7	34.2	0.4	0.3	0.7	29.8	5.0	34.9		
F	Construction	33.6	1.2	34.8	47.6	0.5	48.1	81.2	1.7	82.9		
G	Wholesale and retail trade, repairs, etc.	33.3	26.7	60.0	21.4	16.5	37.9	54.7	43.1	97.8		
Н	Hotels and restaurants	3.3	4.7	8.0	1.5	3.6	5.0	4.8	8.2	13.1		
I	Transport, storage, and communications	41.5	9.8	51.3	13.5	0.6	14.1	55.0	10.5	65.4		
J	Financial intermediation	6.2	6.9	13.1				6.2	6.9	13.1		
к	Real estate, renting, and business activities	4.4	3.7	8.1	0.6	0.2	0.8	5.0	3.9	8.9		
L	Public administration and defense, social security	52.5	25.0	77.5				52.5	25.0	77.5		
М	Education	20.7	86.5	107.2	0.2	1.1	1.3	20.9	87.6	108.5		
Ν	Health and social work	10.4	51.2	61.6	0.1	0.2	0.3	10.5	51.4	61.8		
0	Other community, social, and personal services	23.0	17.8	40.8	7.8	5.0	12.9	30.8	22.9	53.7		
Р	Private households with employed persons	0.3	0.4	0.6	1.0	2.8	3.8	1.3	3.2	4.4		
Q	Extraterritorial organizations	1.3	1.0	2.3	-	-	_	1.3	1.0	2.3		
	Total	313.1	257.5	570.7	326.4	295.3	621.7	639.5	552.8	1,192.3		

Table 2.5.1 Employment by Industry, Nature of Employment, and Sex

 \dots = no observation/no data available, - = not applicable.

The patterns and relationships of the variables, such as nature of jobs, economic industry, and distribution of employment by sex show wide discrepancies. Survey results show that some industries exclusively provided formal employment, such as the financial intermediation (sector J); public administration, defense, and social security (sector L); and extraterritorial organizations (sector Q) (Table 2.5.2). The lowest percentage of formality was estimated in agriculture (sector A), private households with employed persons (sector P), and in construction (sector F), at 1.4%, 14.4%, and 42.0%, respectively, of the total employment (Table 2.5.2).

Although the mining industry (sector C) in many Asian countries is generally composed of informal employment, the situation in Armenia is the opposite. As a priority sector of the economy, this type of activity is specifically monitored by the state. As such, mining enterprises are generally formal and provide formal labor arrangements. Formal employment in mining and quarrying (sector C) was estimated at 98.5% (Figure 2.5.2, Table 2.5.2). Similarly, the fishing and fish-breeding industry (sector B) is mainly characterized by formal employment (71.4%). However, production in the industry is small-scale as Armenia is not a nation with sufficient water resources.

		Natu	Nature of				0		
		Emplo	pyment	S	ex	Ar	ea		
Sector	Industry	Formal	Informal	Men	Women	Urban	Rural		
А	Agriculture, hunting, and forestry	1.4	98.6	46.7	53.3	10.7	89.3		
В	Fishing	71.4	28.6	73.2	5.4	83.5	16.5		
С	Mining and quarrying	98.5	1.5	78.2	22.0	80.2	19.8		
D	Manufacturing	77.6	22.4	71.0	29.0	83.9	16.1		
E	Electricity, gas, and water supply	98.0	2.0	85.7	14.4	76.6	23.4		
F	Construction	42.0	58.0	97.9	2.0	70.9	29.1		
G	Wholesale and retail trade, repairs, etc.	61.3	38.7	55.9	44.1	89.5	10.5		
Н	Hotels and restaurants	61.5	38.5	36.6	63.1	93.2	6.8		
I	Transport, storage, and communications	78.5	21.5	84.0	16.0	88.1	11.9		
J	Financial intermediation	100.0	0.0	47.5	52.8	92.9	7.1		
К	Real estate, renting, and business activities	90.9	9.1	56.5	43.7	95.1	4.9		
L	Public administration and defense, social security	100.0		67.7	32.3	72.6	27.4		
М	Education	98.8	1.2	19.3	80.7	70.3	29.7		
N	Health and social work	99.5	0.5	16.9	83.1	87.6	12.4		
0	Other community, social, and personal services	76.0	24.0	57.5	42.6	83.0	17.0		
Р	Private households with employed persons	14.4	85.6	29.4	71.0	84.4	15.6		
Q	Extraterritorial organizations	100.0	-	56.7	44.3	99.5	0.5		
	Total	47.9	52.1	53.6	46.4	52.0	48.0		

Table 2.5.2 Employment by Industry, Nature of Employment, Sex, and Urban/Rural (%)

 \dots = no observation/no data available, - = not applicable.

Note: Urban area includes Yerevan.



Figure 2.5.2 Employment by Nature of Employment and Industry

Note: Refer to Tables 2.5.1 and 2.5.2 for the industry classifications.

Meanwhile, the highest incidence of informal employment was recorded in agriculture (98.6%), primarily due to the absence of the institutional– organizational and legal status of such activities. This was followed by private households with employed persons (85.6%) and construction (34.2%). Furthermore, of the total informal jobs, highest rates were estimated in agriculture (77.3%), construction (7.7%), and wholesale and retail trade (6.1%).

Informal employment was estimated at 20.0% of the total non-agriculture employment, which is equivalent to 704,400 jobs. The greatest prevalence of

informal employment in the non-agriculture subsectors is in construction (34.2%), followed by wholesale and retail trade, and repairs (26.9%), and manufacturing (11.8%).

Of the total informal employment, the percentage of jobs engaged in by men is estimated at 52.5%, higher than the percentage recorded by women (47.5%).

Since education and health are traditionally considered as spheres for women, the incidence of informal employment among jobs assumed by women in these industries is high at 83.0% and 82.0%, respectively. These were followed by private households, at 74.0%, and hotels and restaurants, in which the jobs engaged in by women reached 71.0% (Figure 2.5.3).



Figure 2.5.3 Informal Employment by Industry and Sex

Note: Refer to Tables 2.5.1 and 2.5.2 for the industry classifications.

		Nature of Employ			ment (1	,000 jc	bs)			
		Formal			I	nforma	I	Total	Employ	ment
Sector	Industry	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
А	Agriculture, hunting, and forestry	3.4	3.5	6.9	49.0	431.9	480.8	52.4	435.4	487.7
В	Fishing	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.2
С	Mining and quarrying	7.7	1.8	9.5	0.0	0.1	0.1	7.7	1.9	9.7
D	Manufacturing	48.4	6.3	54.6	10.7	5.1	15.8	59.1	11.3	70.4
E	Electricity, gas, and water supply	26.1	8.1	34.2	0.6	0.1	0.7	26.7	8.2	34.9
F	Construction	28.9	5.9	34.8	29.9	18.2	48.1	58.8	24.1	82.9
G	Wholesale and retail trade, repairs, etc.	55.9	4.1	60.0	31.7	6.2	37.9	87.6	10.3	97.8
Н	Hotels and restaurants	7.4	0.6	8.0	4.8	0.3	5.0	12.2	0.9	13.1
l	Transport, storage, and communications	46.6	4.7	51.3	11.0	3.1	14.1	57.6	7.8	65.4
J	Financial intermediation	12.1	0.9	13.1				12.1	0.9	13.1
К	Real estate, renting, and business activities	7.8	0.3	8.1	0.7	0.2	0.8	8.5	0.4	8.9
L	Public administration and defense, social security	56.3	21.3	77.5				56.3	21.3	77.5
М	Education	75.0	32.2	107.2	1.3	0.0	1.3	76.3	32.2	108.5
Ν	Health and social work	53.9	7.7	61.6	0.3	0.0	0.3	54.2	7.7	61.9
0	Other community, social, and personal services	35.9	4.8	40.8	8.6	4.3	12.9	44.6	9.1	53.7
Р	Private households with employed persons	0.6	0.0	0.6	3.1	0.7	3.8	3.7	0.7	4.4
Q	Extraterritorial organizations	2.3	0.0	2.3	-	_	_	2.3		2.3
	Total	468.5	102.2	570.7	151.7	469.9	621.7	620.2	572.1	1,192.3

Table 2.5.3 Employment by Industry, Nature of Employment, and Urban/Rural

 \dots = no observation/no data available, - = not applicable.

Note: Urban area includes Yerevan.



Figure 2.5.4 Informal Employment by Industry and Urban/Rural

Note: Refer to Table 2.5.3 for the industry classification.

Meanwhile, the prevalence of informal employment in jobs taken on by men is high in the sectors of fishing; mining industries; transport, storage, and communications; and construction, as well as in real estate, renting, and business activities, due to the physical requirements of activities in the said industries.

Different patterns were also noticed in the analysis of informal employment by urbanity (Figure 2.5.4 and Table 2.5.3).

Of the total number of jobs in urban areas, industry recorded the highest level of employment at 15.1%, followed by wholesale and retail trade (14.1%) and education (12.3%) (Table 2.5.3).

In the rural areas, three in every four jobs were in agriculture, making it the primary provider of employment. Meanwhile, employment in the nonagriculture sector, totaling 136,700 jobs, is highest in education (23.5%), followed by construction (17.6%; usually implemented out of the village where workers live) and in public administration and defense, social security (15.5%) (Table 2.5.3). Noteworthy is the labor migration that is generally widespread in the rural areas; this is perhaps due to the low profitability in agricultural activities and the limitation in opportunities from non-agricultural jobs.

Informal employment was three times higher in rural areas (75.6%) than in urban areas (24.4%). Interestingly, the figures were reversed in the case of nonagricultural activities only, where informal employment reached 27.0% in the rural areas and 73.0% in the urban areas (Figure 2.5.4).

Almost a third of the informal nonagricultural jobs in urban areas were in wholesale and retail trade

(30.9%), followed by construction (29.1%); industry (11.1%); and transport, storage, and communications (10.7%). In the rural areas, the percentage of informal non-agricultural jobs was high in construction (47.8%), wholesale and retail trade (16.2%), and industry (13.7%).

2.6. Hours of Work¹⁶

The average duration of hours worked per week was recorded at 35 hours in the primary job, twice as much as that registered in the second job (at 15 hours). The average number of hours worked by the formally employed was higher than the average hours worked by informally employed in both the primary and second jobs. The number of hours worked by the formal workers is nearly double the number of hours registered by the informal workers.

Meanwhile, the figures strongly varied by status of employment. Among the primary jobs, the average number of hours worked by the informal employers (68 per week) is much higher than that of their formal counterparts (48 per week). The same is observed among the employees, though at a lesser degree of discrepancy. Conversely, the average working period of the formal own-account workers (53 per week) is more than twice that of their informal counterparts (23 per week). These observations seem to suggest that with respect to the number of hours worked,

¹⁶ Analysis of this section was based on the number of persons.

Table 2.6.1Average Number of HoursWorked by Employment Status, Natureof Employment, and Activity

Production	Nature of Employment, Hours							
Units by	Primary Job			Second Job				
Туре	Formal	Informal	Total	Formal	Informal	Total		
Employees	44	46	44	31	15	27		
Employer	48	68	49	*				
Own- account worker	53	23	25	15	13	13		
Unpaid family worker	-	20	20	_	13	13		
Average	44	26	35	29	13	15		

– = not applicable.

* Only one observation classified as employer in the second job category. Note: Number of hours worked during the survey week.

underemployment is characteristic of informal employment.

The number of hours worked by women is slightly less than the number of hours worked by men whether in the primary or second job. The highest average rates of working hours among the primary jobs were recorded among employers and employees who worked more than a full working week, at 49 hours and 44 hours, respectively.¹⁷

Table 2.6.2Average Number of HoursWorked by Employment Status and Sex

Production	Hours							
Units by	P	rimary Jo	b	Second Job				
Туре	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total		
Employees	48	40	44	29	23	27		
Employer	49	52	49	*				
Own- account worker	28	19	25	14	12	13		
Unpaid family worker	20	20	20	12	14	13		
Average	39	30	35	15	14	15		

* Only one observation classified as employer in the second job category. Note: Number of hours worked during the survey week.

Table 2.6.3Average Number of HoursWorked by Employment Statusand Urbanity/Area

Production Units by	Hours							
	Primary Job			Second Job				
Туре	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total		
Employees	45	40	44	29	22	27		
Employer	51	37	49	*				
Own- account worker	31	23	25	10	14	13		
Unpaid family worker	18	20	20	11	13	13		
Average	43	26	35	16	14	15		

* Only one observation classified as employer in the second job category. Notes: Number of hours worked during the survey week; urban area includes Yerevan.

Townspeople worked almost two times longer than country people regardless of employment status (except unpaid family workers). This situation is mostly due to the high rate of involvement in irregular agricultural activities of country people. This can be the reason why informal employment, which is high in the rural areas, registered a lower number of working hours than formal employment. And since agriculture is the main source of employment in the rural areas, results seem to suggest that the average number of hours worked in agriculture is shorter than the normal 40 hours a week work period, and that this translates to a shorter average time worked by those engaged in informal employment. This assumption is validated by Table 2.6.4.

Meanwhile, the average number of hours worked per week in transport, storage, and communications sector is high at 53 hours; in wholesale and retail trade, repairs, and hotels and restaurants, the number of hours worked per week averaged 52 hours. The least number of hours worked (per week), at 21 hours, was recorded in the agriculture sector, due to the high seasonality of activities. Among the different industries, differences between the number of hours worked by formal and informal workers (in their primary jobs) are higher in agriculture and financial intermediation, real estate, renting, and business activities. Meanwhile, the smallest difference is registered in transport, storage, and communications and in other services (Table 2.6.4).

¹⁷ More than 40 hours per week.

		Nature of Employment, Hours						
		Primary Job			Second Job			
Sector	Industry	Formal	Informal	Total	Formal	Informal	Total	
A-B	Agriculture, hunting, and forestry; fishing	47	21	21		13	13	
C-E	Industry	45	40	44	38	16	24	
F	Construction	47	41	44	50	10	11	
G-H	Wholesale and retail trade, repairs; Hotels and restaurants	53	50	52	30	28	11	
I	Transport, storage, and communications	52	53	53	56	11	22	
J-K	Financial intermediation; real estate, renting, and business activities	46	24	45	30		30	
L-Q	Other services	38	37	38	26	15	23	
A-Q	Average	44	26	35	29	13	15	
C-Q	Average	44	44	44	29	15	23	

Table 2.6.4 Average Number of Hours Worked by Nature of Employment and Industry

 \dots = no observation/no data available.

Note: Number of hours worked during the survey week.

Compared to the primary jobs, differences in the average number of hours worked between formal and informal employment are larger in the second jobs. This may be because second jobs are typically a combination of full-time and part-time jobs, thus, the irregular working hours reported by the respondents.

Different patterns were observed during analysis of the average number of hours by agriculture and nonagricultural activities (Figure 2.6.1). Concentrating on the primary job, the data showed that working hours among the formally employed are relatively similar for workers in the agriculture and non-agriculture sectors. As mentioned earlier, those engaged in agricultural activities worked shorter hours; however, this seems to be true only for those who are informally employed. Moreover, the informally employed nonagriculture workers labored as long as their formally employed counterparts. This resulted in a wide gap in the average number of hours worked among the informally employed. It seems like the variation in average working hours is influenced by both the nature of employment and the economic sector to which the workers belong.





Note: Refer to Table 2.5.3 for the industry classification.
2.7 E	Empl	oyment	Status
-------	------	--------	--------

		Nature	of Employ						
Employment	Forn	nal Employi	ment	Infor	mal Employ	vment	Total		
Status	Men	Men Women Total Men Women Total					Men	Women	Total
Employee	297.3	251.9	549.2	78.8	31.8	110.6	376.1	283.6	659.7
Employer	5.4	0.5	6.0	0.4	0.0	0.4	5.9	0.5	6.4
Own-account worker	10.1	5.1	15.2	173.5	125.2	298.6	183.5	130.3	313.9
Unpaid family worker	_	_	_	73.7	138.3	212.0	73.7	138.3	212.0
Others	0.3	0.0	0.3				0.3	0.0	0.3
Total	313.1	257.6	570.7	326.4	295.3	621.7	639.5	552.8	1,192.3

Table 2.7.1 Employment by Employment Status, Nature of Employment, and Sex

... = no observation/no data available, - = not applicable.

Different patterns are generally observed in the analysis of employment and labor market, by sex, and the incorporation of informal employment concepts is no exception.

According to the survey results presented in Table 2.7.1, more than half of total employment is composed of employees. There are more men who assume jobs as employees than women do, at 57.0% and 43.0%, respectively.

Interestingly, this pattern is the same as that observed in formal employment, that is, employees accounting for most of the formal jobs (at 96.2%). On the other hand, the pattern is different with respect to informal employment, where majority of jobs are assumed by own-account worker workers (48.0%) followed by unpaid family workers (34.1%).

By employment status–formal or informal–the number of men is more than that of women (Figure 2.7.1). This is true except in the unpaid family worker status in which 65.2% of the jobs were assumed by women. This implies that helping in the household economic activities is generally carried out by the female family members. Consequently, they more often combine economic activities with the daily household activities.¹⁸

Meanwhile, the highest sex ratio was recorded among the employers where only one in every 12 employer jobs was carried out by a woman. These results seem to suggest that, in addition to traditional family duties and the unpaid economic work they normally assume, women also experience difficulty in breaking through the "glass ceiling" and are unable to engage in their own businesses.

For each category of employment status, the distribution of nature of employment (whether formal or informal) is similar between men and women (Figure 2.7.2).

Survey results recorded significant discrepancies with respect to the patterns and relationships of the following variables: employment by type of production unit, by employment status, and by sex. These are presented in Tables 2.7.2.1 and 2.7.2.2.

Jobs engaged in by men were prevalent in both formal and informal enterprises and comprised 55.8% and 53.2% of the total, respectively (Table 2.7.2.2). On the other hand, majority of the jobs in households were carried out by women (56.0%).

While employee jobs undertaken in formal enterprises are almost equally performed by men and women, majority of the same jobs in informal enterprises and households were assumed by men, at 77.7% and 72.2%, respectively.

Meanwhile, the data presented in the tables clearly show the advantage in the number of men over that of women with regard to jobs as employers. Regardless of the production unit, the number of employer jobs

¹⁸ Noteworthy also, because of their traditional role as dependent members of the household, women tend to become unpaid family workers even if they have equal responsibilities as the men in a family enterprise.



Figure 2.7.1 Employment by Employment Status, Nature of Employment, and Sex



Table 2.7.2.1 Employment by Employment Status, Type of Production Unit, and Sex

		Type of Production Unit, 1,000 Jobs										
Employment	For	mal Enterpr	ises	Info	rmal Enterp	orises		Households				
Status	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total			
Employee	331.2	269.6	600.8	33.1	9.5	42.5	11.9	4.6	16.4			
Employer	5.4	0.5	6.0	0.4		0.4	_	-	_			
Own-account worker	10.1	5.1	15.2	144.2	82.5	226.7	29.3	42.7	72.0			
Unpaid family worker	1.2	0.8	2.0	62.3	119.4	181.7	10.2	18.2	28.3			
Others	0.3	0.0	0.3									
Total	348.2	276.1	624.3	240.0	211.3	451.3	51.3	65.4	116.7			

 \ldots = no observation/no data, - = not applicable.

		Type of Production Unit								
Employment	For Enter	mal prises	Info Enter	rmal prises	Households					
Status	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women				
Employee	55.1	44.9	77.7	22.3	72.2	27.8				
Employer	91.2	8.8	100.0		-	-				
Own- account worker	66.3	33.7	63.6	36.4	40.7	59.3				
Unpaid family worker	58.5	41.5	34.3	65.7	35.9	64.1				
Others	90.9	9.1								
Total	55.8	44.2	53.2	46.8	44.0	56.0				

Table 2.7.2.2Employment by EmploymentStatus, Type of Production Unit, and Sex (%)

... = no observation/no data available.

carried out by men was 10 times higher (91.2%) than those carried out by women (8.8%) in formal enterprises. On the other hand, all the employers in informal enterprises are men (Table 2.7.2.2).

Sex ratio in jobs held by own-account workers exhibited similar patterns in formal and informal enterprises. In both cases, jobs assumed by men were twice than those performed by women (Figure 2.7.3). Specifically, the share of men reached 66.3% to the 33.7% of women in formal enterprises, while the figures recorded in informal enterprises were 63.6% for men and 36.4% for women.



Figure 2.7.3 Employment by Type of Production Unit, Sex, and Employment Status

A different pattern was observed with respect to contributing (unpaid) family workers. More women hold unpaid family jobs than men in either informal enterprises or household production units. However, 58.5% of the unpaid jobs in formal enterprises were assumed by men, greater than the 41.5% figure registered by women.

2.8 Wages and Earnings/ Incomes

The average monthly earnings in Armenia were estimated at AMD66,511. Workers with formal employment arrangements generally earn more than those who depend on informal employment. A formal own-account worker earns roughly 2.6 times what an average informal own-account worker earns. And while the gap in earnings between formal and informal employees is not as wide, the average wages of formal employees are more by 30.0% and 20.0% than the salaries received by informal employees in the agriculture and non-agriculture sectors, respectively.

Comparative analysis suggests sex-related income disparities. The average salaries of male employees (at AMD86,450) was 52.8% more than those received by female employees (at AMD56,572). The same pattern is observed in the other employment statuses; the incomes received by male employers were higher by 22.9%, while the earnings of male own-account workers were

Table 2.8.1Average Wage and Earnings byEmployment Status, Sector, and Nature ofEmployment

		Average Earnings, AMD							
	Agric	ulture	Non-Agriculture						
Employment Status	Formal Employment	Informal Employment	Formal Employment	Informal Employment					
Employees	70,996	54,183	75,342	64,647					
Own-account worker	*	36,870	109,195	42,182					
Employer	194,406	*	223,431	165,055					
Average earnings	73,236	37,625	77,665	48,919					

 Formal own-account and informal employer in agriculture classifications only have a few observations and may not provide adequate representation of their average incomes.

		A							
Employment	Formal Employment Informal Employment						Average Earnings		
Status	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total
Employee	89,614	58,327	75,342	73,849	42,390	64,647	86,450	56,572	73,612
Employer	227,697	181,327	223,431	165,055		165,055	222,765	181,327	219,227
Own-account worker	116,132	95,066	109,195	55,046	24,719	42,182	58,966	27,793	45,908
Average earnings	92,665	59,279	77,665	61,605	28,658	48,919	79,790	48,499	66,511

Table 2.8.2 Average Wage and Earnings by Employment Status, Nature of Employment, and Sex

... = no observation/no data available.





more than double the earnings received by their women counterparts. Similar patterns emerge whether we look at formal or informal employment (Table 2.8.2).

Figure 2.8.1 illustrates wide gaps in the incomes received by men and women in all angles of analysis— whether comparison is by employment status, nature of employment, or both. In all cases, men received higher incomes than women.¹⁹

The data shows that earnings were definitely higher among those engaged in formal employment than among those employed informally, regardless of the employment status, sex, and urbanity of the worker (Tables 2.8.2 and 2.8.3). Specifically, the formal self-employed workers earned almost thrice as much as their informal counterparts (2.6 times). Meanwhile, the gap in earnings between the formal and informal employees was not as wide. The pattern is the same for the formally and informally employed men and women, that is, the incomes received by male formal workers are higher than those received by male informal workers, as is the case among the formal and informally employed women. Moreover, disparities in incomes are also widest among the self-employed and narrowest among the employees. Employers recorded the highest average income of AMD219,227, which is 3.3 times higher than total average. However, their levels do not have a notable impact on average earnings due to the small number of employers.

Average earnings were higher among formally than informally employed workers in all areas. The incomes of formal workers in Yerevan exceeded those received by their informal counterparts by 14.6%; 50.6% in other urban areas; and 58.0% in the rural areas (Table 2.8.2). These results suggest that the gaps in

¹⁹ Men traditionally tend to be the primary earners of the households.



Figure 2.8.2 Average Wage and Earnings by Urban/Rural, Nature of Employment, and Employment Status

incomes of formal and informal employment get wider as the area becomes more rural and less developed.

By urbanity, the highest amount was estimated in Yerevan. In fact, the AMD84,434 recorded in the capital exceeded the national average (AMD66,511) by 26.9% (Table 2.8.3). This confirms the higher income opportunities available in more economically developed locations. Meanwhile, Figure 2.8.2 illustrates the extensive discrepancy in average monthly earnings across settlements. Overall, workers in urban areas generally get paid better than those in the rural areas. Furthermore, those working in Yerevan relatively received the highest incomes compared to those employed in other urban areas and rural areas. Average earnings in Yerevan were 1.3 times higher than the income figures in other urban areas, and 1.7 times more than earnings in the rural areas. Meanwhile, workers in other urban areas get 1.3 times higher pays than workers in the rural areas.

As in the previous cases, the ratio of average earnings between workers in the urban and rural areas was lowest among the employees (1.1) and highest among the own-account workers (3.2).

As reflected in Table 2.8.4, jobs in extraterritorial organizations posted the highest average income for both men and women. This is typical in many economies. This industry normally provides higher paying jobs. Thus, a more revealing examination of the patterns in wages and earnings could be facilitated if this industry is excluded.

Table 2.8.3Average Wage and Earnings by Employment Status, Nature of Employment,
and Urban/Rural

		A							
Employment	Form	nal Employr	ment	Infor	mal Employ	ment	Average Earnings		
Status	Yerevan	Rural	Yerevan	Urban	Rural	Yerevan	Urban	Rural	
Employee	83,154	69,075	66,457	72,377	60,048	58,741	81,653	67,653	64,736
Employer	249,310	203,205	91,909	154,735	*		240,661	205,011	91,909
Own-account worker	136,946	97,982	92,317	81,270	30,859	40,514	93,421	43,681	41,345
Average earnings	86,426	70,868	67,456	75,447	47,062	42,690	84,434	65,007	50,167

... = no observation/no data available.

* Only one observation classified as employer engaged in informal employment working in the urban area answered the income query. It was assessed to be insufficient for comparison with other average incomes.

	5 5 5		<u> </u>						
		For	mal	Info	rmal	Total	Averag	e Income	By Sex
Sector	Industry	Men	Women	Men	Women	Income	Men	Women	Ratio
А	Agriculture, hunting, and forestry	79,155	65,744	494,22	22,986	38,623	50,323	24,054	2.1
В	Fishing	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
С	Mining and quarrying	105,391	61,105	83,858		94,907	104,943	61,105	1.7
D	Manufacturing	80,020	59,129	63,015	40,322	70,000	77,375	52,245	1.5
E	Electricity, gas, and water supply	84,205	74,786	57,178		82,226	83,865	70,922	1.2
F	Construction	105,195	81,041	83,660	41,906	92,937	93,258	71,883	1.3
G	Wholesale and retail trade, repairs, etc.	98,750	63,732	83,659	54,793	78,948	93,000	60,609	1.5
Н	Hotels and restaurants	97,759	57,271	61,146	35,443	62,314	86,658	47,991	1.8
1	Transport, storage, and communications	83,918	72,509	78,510	30,344	80,801	82,612	71,053	1.2
J	Financial intermediation	118,558	84,764			100,925	118,558	84,764	1.4
К	Real estate, renting, and business activities	137,436	86,038	73,789	58,795	109,792	129,764	84,920	1.5
L	Public administration and defense, social security	103,026	69,362			92,051	103,026	69,362	1.5
М	Education	76,357	56,875	**	72,667	60,778	75,776	57,065	1.3
Ν	Health and social work	80,817	49,911	40,000	22,876	55,132	80,620	49,784	1.6
0	Other community, social, and personal services	90,641	44,558	61,676	31,745	65,724	83,405	41,688	2.0
Р	Private households with employed persons			44,094	42,896	43,224	44,094	42,896	1.0
Q	Extraterritorial organizations	147,231	116,548	-	-	133,630	147,231	116,548	1.3
	Total	92,665	59,279	61,605	28,658	66,511	79,790	48,499	1.6

Table 2.8.4 Average Wage and Earnings by Industry, Nature of Employment, and Sex

 \dots = no observation/no data available, - = not applicable.

* The fishing industry only has six observations, which may not provide adequate representation of the average income of the employed population. Consequently, analysis by sex and nature of employment may not be reliable.

** The electricity, gas, and water industry has only two observations for women under informal employment. Similarly, the education industry has only two observations for men engaged in informal employment. Income analysis using these observations may lead to incorrect generalizations.

The real estate, renting, and business activities and the financial intermediation industries registered the highest average monthly incomes among men, which reached AMD129,764 and AMD118,558, respectively. The lowest average income, on the other hand, was reflected in the private households with employed persons (AMD44,094) followed by average income in agriculture, hunting, and forestry (AMD50,323).

The same pattern is observed among the jobs performed by women. Highest average incomes were received from the same two industries: AMD84,920 from real estate, renting, and business activities and AMD84,764 from financial intermediation. Similarly, the lowest rate (AMD24,054) was reflected in agriculture, hunting, and forestry, which is assumed to be due to the widespread underpaid agricultural informal activity.

Analysis by sex showed that overall average incomes received by men were higher than those

received by women in all types of activity, and regardless of the nature of their jobs. Discrepancy in the sex income ratio was most significant in the agriculture and other community, social, and personal services industries, where the payments received by men were double those received by women. Conversely, the gap was narrowest among the jobs in private households.

Table 2.8.4 further shows a significant difference between the average wages and earnings by nature of employment. As mentioned, earnings were definitely higher among those engaged in formal employment than among those informally employed, regardless of the sex and types of activities. This is true, except in the education industry in which the average income of women holding informal jobs was 1.3 times higher compared to the rate received by those who hold formal jobs. This is likely due to the widespread wellpaid private lessons carried out mostly by women.



Figure 2.8.3 Ratio of Average Wage and Earnings of Men and Women by Industry

This case, however, may be considered unique. The qualifications of those engaged in formal and informal arrangements in this industry do not differ much. In fact, the minimum educational backgrounds and the skills for the types of jobs in this industry are assumed to be the same in both types of employment. Thus, a more extensive analysis can be performed to further explain the seemingly more profitable informal work in this industry.

Among formally and informally employed men, the highest discrepancies in the average monthly income were reflected in health and social work (2.0 times) and real estate, renting, and business activities (1.9 times). Higher formal–informal income gaps among women were observed in agriculture, hunting, and forestry, and in transport, storage, and communications, which posted ratios of 2.9 and 2.4, respectively. In general, the average income among formally employed men was 1.6 times higher than that of their women counterparts. The pattern was similar in the case of informal employment, in which the menwomen income ratio reached 2.1.

2.9 Type of Enterprise

Employment was mainly concentrated in privately owned enterprises, which comprised 70.7% of the total. State-owned enterprises also provided most of the jobs, at 25.7%, while the rest of the employment was spread over municipals, nongovernment organizations, and private employers.

		iype of Pr	oduction Unit (1	,000 Jobs)		
	F	ormal Enterprise	s			
Type of Enterprise	Formal Employment	Informal Employment	Total	Informal Enterprises	Households	Total
State-owned	305.9	_	305.9	_	_	305.9
Municipals	22.0	_	22.0	_	-	22.0
NGOs	11.3	_	11.3	_	_	11.3
Privately owned enterprise	231.5	53.6	285.2	451.1	106.9	843.1
Private employer	_	_	_	0.3	9.8	10.1
Total	570.7	53.6	624.3	451.4	116.7	1,192.4

Table 2.9 Employment by Type of Enterprise, Type of Production Unit, and Nature of Employment

11 14 14 000 1 1

- = not applicable, NGOs = nongovernment organizations.

Note: Refer to Table 2.8.4 for the industry classification.



Figure 2.9 Employment by Type of Enterprise and Type of Production Unit

State-owned enterprises were the main provider of formal employment (53.6%), followed by private enterprises (40.6%) and municipals (3.9%). In Armenia, formal jobs are available only in formal enterprises. Thus it is not normal practice for informal enterprises or households to offer employment with written contracts.

However, it is possible for formal enterprises to supply informal employment, though only at a minimal level of 8.6% of the total jobs in this type of production unit. Informal workers mainly got employment from informal enterprises (72.6%); nevertheless, households also provided informal jobs at a notable rate (18.8%). Employment here was chiefly composed of ownaccount workers producing for own consumption and were helped by the unpaid family workers in their households.

Enterprises belonging to the state, municipality, and nongovernment organizations, by definition, are all considered to be formal production units. Thus, informal enterprises will be present only among the private enterprise and private employer's classifications. In fact, of the total jobs supplied by privately owned establishments and by private employer, 53.5% and 97.0%, respectively, were engaged in informal production units (Figure 2.9).

2.10 Size of Establishment

In the economy of Armenia, the size of establishment is not considered among the criteria for defining informal employment²⁰ and informal enterprises since there is no strong relationship seen among the variables, that is, strong enough to say that one determines the other. However, patterns between the size and the type of production unit and nature of employment are observed, which are shown in the succeeding figures and tables.

The skipping pattern was applied to the query on employment size; only those working in privately owned and private employer enterprises provided answers to the item. Therefore, total estimates discussed will not be equivalent to those presented in other sections.

Overall, employment was concentrated (at 72.0%) in micro-sized (less than five workers) establishments, implying that enterprises that provided most of the private sector's jobs in Armenia are actually small-scale. Jobs in the microenterprises were also widespread in both informal enterprises (96.7%) and in households (96.4%). Employment in formal enterprises, on the other hand, showed a lower percentage (23.0%) in these microenterprises (Table 2.10.1).

In most countries, microenterprises are associated with informal production units. In Armenia, as shown in Figure 2.10.1, the relationship between informality and employment size is still evident but not sufficient to make it a defining factor. Among the total jobs in micro-sized establishments, the percentage of those employed in informal enterprises was high at 71.0%. While this was 4 and 7 times higher than the percentage of those engaged in households (18.3%) and formal enterprises (10.7%), respectively, the combined proportions of jobs in these two types of establishments is still substantial. The higher likelihood that a microenterprise is an informal enterprise is the generalization that can be derived from these observations.

²⁰ According to RA Law "On Supporting of Small and Medium Enterprises", industries are defined as large, medium, small, and micro enterprises. For example, in agriculture and in manufacturing, enterprises are considered as large (if the number of employees is more than 100), medium (if the number of employees is 51–100), small (if the number of employees is 6–50), and micro (if the number of employees is less than five).

		Type of Production Unit									
		% to	Total Emplo	oyment		% to Total o [.]	f Each Group				
	For	mal Enterpr	ises	Informal		Formal	Informal				
Employment Size	Formal	Informal	Total	Enterprises	Households	Enterprises	Enterprises	Households	Total		
Less than 5 workers	7.9	2.8	10.7	71.0	18.3	23.0	96.7	96.4	72.0		
6–15	57.8	17.6	75.4	22.8	1.8	14.0	2.7	0.8	6.2		
16–30	78.9	21.1	100.0			26.0			8.7		
31–49	80.1	19.9	100.0			8.4			2.8		
50–99	87.0	13.0	100.0	-	-	7.2	_	-	2.4		
100 and more	90.6	9.4	100.0	-	_	8.8	-	-	2.9		
Don't know	82.1	3.4	85.5	6.6	7.9	12.5	0.6	2.8	4.9		
Total	27.1	6.3	33.4	52.9	13.7	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0		

Table 2.10.1	Employment by Employment Size* of Establishment, Type of Production Unit,
and Nature o	f Employment (%)

 \dots = no observation/no data available, - = not applicable.

* Figures do not match the other estimates due to the skipping pattern applied in the legal organization query. Only those who worked under privately owned or private employer types of enterprises provided answers to this item.

In formal microenterprises, almost all jobs carried out are informal (92.1%), but though minimal, 7.9% of the jobs were recorded as formal. This shows the existence of micro-sized formal enterprises with formal employment (Figure 2.10.1 and Table 2.10.2).

Results also show that establishments with employment size of more than 15 workers are probably formal; all of the jobs in these large-scale productions were registered to formal enterprises.

Figure 2.10.2 illustrates interesting patterns. Expectedly, informal employment will be most prevalent in microenterprises. Thus, 91.1% of informal jobs were carried out in establishments with less than five workers. What is not expected is the important role these small-scale production units have in providing formal employment. Of the total formal jobs, 20.9% are engaged in microenterprises; this translates to one in every five formal jobs. This is most likely due to the earlier observation that microenterprises supply more than two-thirds of the total employment in Armenia. This also strengthens the notion that employment

Figure 2.10.2 Employment by Nature of Employment and Employment Size of Establishment



Figure 2.10.1 Employment by Employment Size of Establishment and Type of Production Unit



		Production Units by Type								
		Formal En	nployment			Informal E	mployment			
Employment Size	Yerevan	Urban	Rural	Total	Yerevan	Urban	Rural	Total		
Less than 5 workers	45.9	38.6	15.5	7.9	6.7	12.8	80.5	92.1		
6–15	63.2	25.6	11.2	57.8	20.5	28.8	50.7	42.2		
16–30	62.7	30.5	6.9	78.9	61.7	30.5	7.8	21.1		
31–49	74.3	18.3	7.4	80.1	93.9	5.8	0.3	19.9		
50–99	67.1	22.9	10.0	87.0	80.3	10.9	8.8	13.0		
100 and more	62.1	32.1	5.8	90.6	94.2	5.8		9.4		
Don't know	32.7	42.8	24.5	82.1	59.1	24.1	16.8	17.9		
Total	56.1	31.9	12.0	27.1	10.5	13.9	75.6	72.9		

Table 2.10.2Employment by Employment Size of Establishment, Type of Production Unit,Nature of Employment, and Urban/Rural* (%)

 \ldots = no observation.

* Figures do not match the other estimates due to the skipping pattern applied in the legal organization query. Only those who worked under privately owned or private employer types of enterprises provided answers to this item.

size cannot be effectively used as a criterion for determining either the informal employment or informal enterprises.

Meanwhile, different patterns were observed among establishments with respect to employment size, analyzed by urbanity. Overall, Yerevan was the basic area where formal employment exists (at 56.1%), as rural areas are to informal employment (at 75.6%). In every type of establishment, regardless of employment size, formal jobs are most prevalent in establishments located in Yerevan. On the other hand,

Figure 2.10.3 Employment by Nature of Employment, Urban/Rural, and Employment Size of Establishment



in terms of informal employment, the situation was quite different. In rural areas, most of the informal jobs can be found in microenterprises (80.5%) and in establishments with 6–15 workers (50.7%). As the employment size of the unit becomes bigger, those establishments located in Yerevan gained significance in supplying informal employment (Table 2.10.2 and Figure 2.10.3). This can be linked with small-scale agricultural production consisting mostly of family enterprises in farms that generally exist in rural areas and are the chief source of informal jobs. Large-scale production, on the other hand, is typically present only in urban areas, most especially in Yerevan.

2.11 Legal Organization of the Enterprise

The skipping pattern was applied to the item on legal organization; however, only those working in privately owned and private employer enterprises answered the query. Thus, the total estimates will not match the figures in the other sections. More importantly, formal employment in state-owned enterprises, municipals, and nongovernment organizations are not incorporated into the analysis. Hence, we could also refer to this as investigation of employment in the private sector.



Figure 2.11.1 Employment by Legal Organization and Nature of Employment

In the private sector, informal employment is more common (at 72.9%) than formal employment (at 27.1%) (Figure 2.11.1). This is not surprising since, as shown by Table 2.9 (in Section 2.9), 66.6% of all the jobs in the private sector are provided by either the informal enterprises or the households, both of which only supply informal employment. Meanwhile, formal enterprises engaged 6.3% of the total informal jobs.

Formal employment in the private sector is essentially provided by joint-stock corporations (at 98.5%); informal employment is essentially provided by farms (at 76.5%) (Figure 2.11.2). The disaggregation of jobs, by sex and legal organization, shows similar patterns between formal and informal employment. Overall, jobs performed by men are more than those assumed by women (70.9%) in formal employment and, to a lower extent, 52.5% in informal employment. On the other hand, while jobs carried out by women were mostly in farms (70.4%), jobs assumed by men were distributed, almost equally, among farms (45.0%) and joint-stock corporations (39.8%). It should be noted, though, that one in four jobs performed by women was in joint-stock corporations (Table 2.11).



Figure 2.11.2 Private Sector Employment by Nature of Employment and Legal Organization

Figure 2.11.3 Private Sector Employment by Legal Organization and Urban/Rural



Note: Urban area includes Yerevan.

		Total					ature of E	nt			
						Formal		Informal		Total	
Legal Organization	Formal	Informal	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women
Joint stock corporation	98.5	8.3	39.8	23.3	32.8	70.9	29.1	64.9	35.1	69.8	30.2
Registered cooperative	0.8	0.3	0.5	0.3	0.4	59.5	40.5	79.8	20.2	69.8	30.2
Condominium	0.2		0.1		0.1	100.0	0	-	-	100.0	0.0
Individual business	-	9.9	9.7	3.9	7.2	-	-	77.0	23.0	77.1	22.9
Partnership	-	2.2	2.3	0.7	1.6	-	-	82.5	17.5	82.5	17.5
Private household	_	1.6	1.3	1.0	1.2	-	-	62.4	37.6	62.4	37.6
Farm	-	76.5	45.0	70.4	55.8	-	-	46.3	53.7	46.3	53.7
Others*	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0	100.0	90.5	9.5	73.5	26.5
Don't know	0.4	1.0	1.2	0.3	0.8	83.1	16.9	82.8	17.2	82.8	17.2
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	70.9	29.1	52.5	47.5	57.5	42.5

Table 2.11 Employment by Legal Organization, Nature of Employment, and Sex (%)

 \dots = no observation/no data available, - = not applicable.

* This group has only 14 observations, which may not provide adequate representation. Consequently, analysis by sex and nature of employment may not be reliable. Notes: Figures do not match the other estimates due to the skipping pattern applied in the legal organization query. Only those who worked under privately owned or private employer types of enterprises provided answers to this item. Numbers may not sum precisely because of rounding.

Further interesting patterns were observed in Table 2.11. In general, employment by men was prevalent in all groups of legal organizations regardless of the nature of employment. Unique exceptions were the jobs in farms, in which women assumed 53.7% of employment. Meanwhile, formal arrangements were much more common among male (70.9%) than for female jobs (29.1%).

Employment is primarily available in the rural areas, at 58.3% of the total. This is due to the large number of private sector jobs (476,008 of the total 853,187) provided by farms. Meanwhile, the types of organizations, which supply jobs and are largely located in the urban areas, include condominiums, joint-stock corporations, registered cooperatives, and some with individual businesses (Figure 2.11.3).

2.12 Kind of Workplace

In Armenia, the most common places where jobs are carried out were factories, offices, and workshops (52.2%) and farms (40.4%) (Figure 2.12.1). Meanwhile, the least popular workplaces are the street (0.2%), mobile or no fixed location (0.6%), and transport vehicle (0.7%). Nevertheless, in some countries, these

three workplaces cited are quite widespread such that some occupations, such as hawkers,²¹ peddlers, street vendors, traveling salespersons, street sellers, and the like, are based on them.

A closer look at the workplaces shows that this variable is actually a good (alternative) indicator in

Figure 2.12.1 Employment by Place of Work



A person who offers goods for sale by shouting his or her wares in the street or going from door to door.



Figure 2.12.2 Employment by Place of Work and Nature of Employment

assuming the nature of a person's job. First, formal employment is only significantly visible in two workplace categories: factory, office, and workshop (91.0%) and market, bazaar stall, and trade fair (12.4%). Given this, a person working in a factory will most probably be formally employed. In the same manner, a person working in any other place, such as the home, workplace of a client, construction site, street, employer's home, transport vehicle, farm,

or is mobile, will most likely be informally employed (Figure 2.12.2).

2.13 Age Composition

Different patterns are observed in the analysis of employment and labor market, by age category. The average age of employed persons recorded is 43 years.

		Nature of Employment								
		1,000 jobs		Pero	cent					
Place of Work	Formal	Informal	Total	Formal	Informal					
Home (with and without special workplace)	0.1	10.6	10.7	0.8	99.2					
Factory, office, workshop	566.7	55.8	622.5	91.0	9.0					
Farm or agricultural plot	1.9	480.0	481.9	0.4	99.6					
Home or workplace of client	-	17.6	17.6	-	100.0					
Construction site	_	17.7	17.7	_	100.0					
Market, bazaar stall, trade fair	1.4	9.6	11.0	12.4	87.6					
Street pavement or highway with fixed post	_	2.5	2.5	0.0	100.0					
Employer's home		11.5	11.5		100.0					
Transport vehicle	0.0	8.3	8.3	0.4	99.6					
No fixed location, mobile	_	7.0	7.0	_	100.0					
Others	0.6	1.1	1.6	34.1	65.9					
Total	570.7	621.7	1,192.3	47.9	52.1					

Table 2.12.1 Employment by Place of Work and Nature of Employment

 \dots = no observation/no data available, - = not applicable.

	Em	ployme	nt					
Age	(1,0	000 job	s)		E	mploym	ient, %	
Group	Yerevan	Urban	Rural	Total	Yerevan	Urban	Rural	Total
15–19	1.5	1.1	11.8	14.5	0.4	0.4	2.1	1.2
20–24	32.6	21.7	41.1	95.5	9.6	7.7	7.2	8.0
25–29	43.7	31.7	49.7	125.1	12.9	11.3	8.7	10.5
30–34	38.7	32.0	44.1	114.8	11.4	11.4	7.7	9.6
35–39	36.7	27.6	56.2	120.5	10.8	9.8	9.8	10.1
40–44	36.6	29.3	74.3	140.3	10.8	10.4	13.0	11.8
45–49	41.1	42.0	92.7	175.8	12.1	14.9	16.2	14.7
50–54	43.1	41.8	75.6	160.4	12.7	14.9	13.2	13.5
55–59	29.6	29.8	45.8	105.2	8.7	10.6	8.0	8.8
60–64	19.6	13.3	24.7	57.7	5.8	4.7	4.3	4.8
65–69	8.9	6.5	22.7	38.0	2.6	2.3	4.0	3.2
70–75	7.2	4.3	33.3	44.8	2.1	1.5	5.8	3.8
Total	339.2	281.0	572.1	1,192.3	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

Table 2.13.1Employment by Age Groupand Urban/Rural

By age category, the jobs carried out by the following age groups recorded the lowest prevalence: 1.2% for those aged 15–19; 3.2%, aged 65–69; and 3.8%, aged 70–75. The probable reason for low employment among the youth is their engagement in school, while the physical demands of most jobs may have limited the opportunities for the two older groups.

The highest employment was registered in age groups 45–49, 50–54, and 40–44, accounting for 14.7%, 13.5%, and 11.8%, respectively, of the total employment. The same pattern is observed in the rural areas where these jobs were likely to be in agriculture and, in particular, jobs that were located in farms.





In general, the difference between formal and informal employment across age categories is not significant, except in age groups 15–19, 70–75, and 65–69 in which informal employment was higher than formal employment (Figure 2.13.2). These are the same age groups identified to assume the least number of jobs. Since youth are generally less experienced while the elderly are already passed their prime, informal employment is more prevalent in these categories. Informal employment arrangements are more available to the youth. In addition, skills required in informal jobs seem to suit the older age groups probably because of their limited physical capabilities.





Of the total formal jobs, those assumed by people aged 50–54 (14.2%) had the highest prevalence, while of the total informal arrangements, the 45–49 age group (15.8%) registered the highest number (Table 2.13.2).

Similarly, Table 2.13.3 shows that jobs carried out by workers aged 50–54 posted the highest incidence in formal enterprises, while jobs performed by workers aged 45–49 comprised most of those in the informal enterprises. This shows that, in Armenia, the nature of employment and nature of production units follow the same patterns.

The jobs assumed by the youth (aged 15–19) and the older workers (aged 65–75) were more often performed in informal enterprises or in households. The employment of people aged 40–49, on the other hand, was distributed almost equally in the formal or

		Nature of Employment									
Aae	1,000) jobs	Perce	ntage							
Group	Formal	Informal	Formal	Informal							
15–19	1.7	12.8	0.3	2.1							
20–24	49.3	46.1	8.6	7.4							
25–29	70.0	55.1	12.3	8.9							
30–34	65.4	49.4	11.5	7.9							
35–39	61.6	58.9	10.8	9.5							
40–44	61.4	78.8	10.8	12.7							
45–49	77.6	98.2	13.6	15.8							
50–54	80.9	79.5	14.2	12.8							
55–59	54.2	51.0	9.5	8.2							
60–64	31.3	26.3	5.5	4.2							
65–69	10.4	27.6	1.8	4.4							
70–75	6.8	38.0	1.2	6.1							
Total	570.7	621.7	100.0	100.0							

Table 2.13.2Employment by Age Groupand Nature of Employment

Table 2.13.3Employment by Age Groupand Type of Production Unit

	Productio	n Unit (1,00	0 jobs)	Production Unit (%)				
Age	Formal	Informal	House-	Formal	Informal	House-		
Group	Enterprises	Enterprises	holds	Enterprises	Enterprises	holds		
15–19	2.4	9.9	2.1	0.4	2.2	1.8		
20–24	55.5	34.7	5.2	8.9	7.7	4.5		
25–29	77.7	41.3	6.1	12.4	9.2	5.2		
30–34	71.2	35.0	8.6	11.4	7.8	7.3		
35–39	67.5	41.6	11.4	10.8	9.2	9.8		
40–44	68.5	59.0	12.8	11.0	13.1	10.9		
45–49	84.7	70.0	21.1	13.6	15.5	18.1		
50–54	87.5	58.5	14.4	14.0	13.0	12.3		
55–59	58.8	35.3	11.1	9.4	7.8	9.5		
60–64	32.8	19.6	5.3	5.2	4.3	4.6		
65–69	11.0	20.0	7.1	1.8	4.4	6.1		
70–75	6.8	26.4	11.5	1.1	5.9	9.9		
Total	624.3	451.4	116.7	100.0	100.0	100.0		

informal enterprises. Distribution of jobs performed by people belonging to the other age categories showed greater prominence in formal enterprises.

According to the RA legislation, general secondary education is obligatory. Based on the results of the Census of RA for 2001, 99.4% of the population (aged 15 and over) was literate.

Figure 2.13.3 Employment by Age Group and Type of Production Unit



2.14 Level of Education

People who reached the secondary level of education registered the highest prevalence among the employed population regardless of sex, at 41.3%, followed by those with vocational training, and postgraduate (and higher) level, at 23.6% and 22.6%, respectively. Knowledge and formal training are factors that have always affected one's marketability for employment; hence, it is not surprising that people with the least formal education posted the lowest number among the employed (at 0.4% for the illiterate and those with uncompleted primary education) (Table 2.14.1). It is interesting to note, however, that those who achieved the highest level of learning (postgraduate), were barely higher in number, comprising only 0.4% of the employed. It would be a good avenue for future analysis to determine whether the basis for this small incidence is the supply of workers or the demand for them.

In some countries, unpaid jobs were generally carried out by people who have low levels of education or no formal education at all. But in Armenia, this tendency is not exhibited. In fact, most of the unpaid family jobs were performed by people who have at least completed primary and entered the secondary level of education.²²

	1,000 Persons				% to Total	% to Total of Each Group		
Level of Education	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women
Illiterate, uncompleted primary	2.0	2.8	4.8	0.3	0.5	0.4	42.3	57.7
Primary	10.6	9.1	19.7	1.7	1.7	1.7	53.9	46.1
General basic/lower secondary	52.8	30.2	83.0	8.6	5.6	7.2	63.6	36.4
Secondary	267.5	208.9	476.4	43.3	39.0	41.3	56.1	43.9
Preliminary vocational	22.4	13.7	36.2	3.6	2.6	3.1	62.0	38.0
Vocational*	130.5	141.1	271.7	21.1	26.4	23.6	48.1	51.9
Higher, postgraduate	131.4	129.7	261.0	21.3	24.2	22.6	50.3	49.7
Total	617.3	535.5	1152.8	100.0	100.0	100.0	53.5	46.5

Table 2.14.1 Number of Employed Persons by Level of Education and Sex

* Also includes non-complete higher education.

		St	tatus of E						
		Employees	5	No	n-employ	ees	Total		
Level of Education	Formal	Informal	Total	Formal	Informal	Total	Formal	Informal	Total
Illiterate, uncompleted primary	0.3	0.3	0.6		4.2	4.2	0.3	4.5	4.8
Primary	0.5	1.5	2.0		17.9	17.9	0.5	19.4	19.9
General basic / lower secondary	17.4	11.6	29.0	0.8	54.9	55.7	18.2	66.5	84.7
Secondary	136.1	58.4	194.4	1.9	284.4	286.3	138.0	342.8	480.7
Preliminary vocational	14.2	6.5	20.8	0.7	16.3	17.0	14.9	22.9	37.7
Vocational*	153.5	25.1	178.5	5.6	100.4	106.0	159.1	125.5	284.6
Tertiary, postgraduate	227.2	7.2	234.4	7.0	32.9	39.9	234.2	40.1	274.3
Total	549.2	110.6	659.7	21.5	511.1	532.6	570.7	621.7	1,192.3

Table 2.14.2	Employment b	y Level of Education a	nd Employ	ment Status	(1,000 j	jobs)
--------------	--------------	------------------------	-----------	-------------	----------	-------

 \dots = no observation/no data available.

* Also includes non-complete higher education.





Very distinct patterns are observed in Figure 2.14.2. Employees are more associated with those who have higher educational attainment. Conversely, the chances of being an own-account worker become smaller as the level of education increases. This same pattern is observed among those that carried out unpaid work in the family enterprise. Lastly, high skill and knowledge achievement seems to be the conditions for a better likelihood of becoming an employer.

Meanwhile, a large proportion of employee job was associated with those who had higher education (tertiary and postgraduate) (35.5%), followed by workers who reached secondary (29.5%) and vocational (27.1%) (Table 2.14.3). Likewise, the employers reflected the same pattern shown by

		S	tatus of E	_					
		Employees	5	No	n-employ	ees	Total		
Level of Education	Formal	Informal	Total	Formal	Informal	Total	Formal	Informal	Total
Illiterate, uncompleted primary	0.1	0.2	0.1		0.8	0.8	0.1	0.7	0.4
Primary	0.1	1.4	0.3		3.5	3.4	0.1	3.1	1.7
General basic/lower secondary	3.2	10.5	4.4	3.9	10.7	10.5	3.2	10.7	7.1
Secondary	24.8	52.8	29.5	8.8	55.6	53.8	24.2	55.1	40.3
Preliminary vocational	2.6	5.9	3.1	3.0	3.2	3.2	2.6	3.7	3.2
Vocational*	27.9	22.7	27.1	26.0	19.7	19.9	27.9	20.2	23.9
Tertiary, postgraduate	41.4	6.5	35.5	32.5	6.4	7.5	41.0	6.5	23.0
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

Tuble 2.14.5 Employment by Eevel of Education and Employment Status (70	Table 2.14.3	Employment by	/ Level of Education an	d Employment Status (%	6)
---	--------------	---------------	-------------------------	------------------------	----

 \dots = no observation/no data available.

* Also includes non-complete higher education.



Figure 2.14.2 Employment by Level of Education and Employment Status





those with employee jobs. The same educational attainments recorded the largest proportions in the other employment statuses, though with variation in order of prevalence. More than half of the non-wage workers (non-employees) were composed of people who reached secondary education, while one-fifth, by those with vocational training (Table 2.14.2).

A link between the level of education and the nature of employment is evident in Figure 2.14.3. The likelihood of being formally employed increases as the educational achievement rises. Or stated differently, the lower the educational attainment, the higher the probability of being engaged in informal employment.

2.15 Employment Conditions of Informal Employees

The analysis of the employment conditions of informal employees involves examination of the benefits received by the workers and, hence, the extent of their social protection. In this section, the unit of analysis is the wage worker.²³

There is an estimated 656,356 wage workers in Armenia, of which 83.2% were formally employed. Almost all of these wage workers were identified through their primary jobs, and only a handful (0.2%) were classified by means of their second jobs. The number of male wage workers is greater than that of the women, at 56.9% and 43.1%, respectively. The same pattern is shown under both formal and informal employment.

Social protection in Armenia is only likely if a wage worker is engaged in formal employment arrangement. While being a formal wage worker does not guarantee receipt of benefits, it is still a better condition compared to that of informal workers who do not seem to receive any kind of benefits. A large proportion of formal wage workers (76.0%) has pension funds paid by their employers, making it the most common benefit received. Meanwhile, the rest—sick leave, paid leave, and maternity or paternity leave—were received by at least 60.0% of the formal workers. This means that at least two in every three formal workers receive one of the said benefits (Table 2.15.2).

With these results, it can be concluded that a wage worker who receives any kind of employment benefits is definitely engaged in formal employment. In relation to this, given that formal employment is only supplied by formal enterprises, it can also be surmised that employment benefits are only provided by formal production units.

2.16 Exclusion of Agriculture, Forestry, and Fishing

The analysis of employment in the non-agriculture sector registered a wide gap between formal and informal employment rates, at 80.0% and 20.0%, respectively (Table 2.16.1). This is a significant change from the overall employment rates of 47.9% for formal and 52.1% for informal, implying the vital role of the agriculture sector in informal employment.

Figure 2.16.1 shows the high percentage (88.0%) of non-agriculture jobs that are predominantly supplied by formal enterprises, which is much greater than percentage of jobs provided by this production unit to total employment (at 52.0%). This is true in jobs assumed by either men or women. The opposite is observed regarding the non-agriculture jobs in informal enterprises, at 10.0%, to total employment's 38.0%; and in households in which 2.0% of the non-agriculture jobs are performed, smaller than the 10.0% recorded in the total employment (see section 2.2).

Gender bias in employment (measured in terms of number of jobs assumed by men and women), in favor of men, is observed in all types of production units, regardless of the nature of employment. The discrepancies are wider in informal enterprises and households, compared to those in formal enterprises. The overall percentage of male jobs in the formal enterprises reached 55.7%, only 11.4 percentage points higher than the female jobs. On the other hand, the gap recorded in the informal enterprises and households are 56.2 and 49.0 percentage points, respectively (Table 2.16.1).

²³ Employee jobs are taken into consideration in both the primary and secondary jobs and are referred to as wage worker jobs. A person with an employee status in the primary job is considered to be a wage worker. Meanwhile, if he or she has an employment status other than employee in the primary job, the second job is investigated. If in the second job, he or she is an employee, then the person is also tagged as a wage worker. In instances where both primary and secondary jobs record employee status, the primary job is prioritized, meaning the nature of employment associated to it will be the wage worker's employment arrangement.

	Formal				Informal		Total		
Wage Workers	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total
Employee, long-term written contract	243.1	224.3	467.4	_	-	_	243.1	224.3	467.4
Employee, short-term written contract	52.1	26.8	78.9	-	-	-	52.1	26.8	78.9
Employee, verbal contract	-	-	_	78.6	31.5	110.1	78.6	31.5	110.1
Total	295.2	251.1	546.3	78.6	31.5	110.1	373.8	282.6	656.4

Table 2.15.1	Number of Wage Workers in Either Primary or Second Jobs by Nature of
Employment	(thousand)

– = not applicable.

Notes: Numbers may not sum precisely because of rounding.

Wage workers are classified as employed persons who have employee jobs, with written or verbal contracts, in either their primary or second jobs, or in both.

Table 2.15.2	Frequency Distribution of Wage Workers by Type of Benefits Received and Nature
of Employme	ent

	Nature of	Frequency (thousand)			Percent		
Type of Benefit	Employment	Yes	No	Total	Yes	No	Total
	Formal	156.8	56.3	213.1			
Maternity/Paternity	Informal	0.0*	30.9	30.9			
	Total	156.8	87.2	244.0**	64.3	35.7	100.0
Payment in pension fund	Formal	495.4	50.9	546.3			
	Informal	0.0*	110.0	110.1			
	Total	495.4	161.0	656.4	75.5	24.5	100.0
	Formal	404.2	142.1	546.3			
Paid leave	Informal	0.0*	110.0	110.1			
	Total	404.3	252.1	656.4	61.6	38.4	100.0
	Formal	402.7	143.6	546.3			
Sick leave	Informal	0.0*	110.0	110.1			
	Total	402.7	253.7	656.4	61.4	38.6	100.0

* The informal wage workers receiving paid leaves are the employees with verbal contracts in their primary jobs and are classified as employees with written contracts in their second jobs. Given that the methodology for identifying the wage worker provides priority to the first job, the status, therefore, assumes the nature of employment in this job regardless of the nature of employment in the second job.

** Total excludes the observations who answered "not applicable" to the item.



Figure 2.15 Frequency Distribution of Wage Workers by Type of Benefits Received and Nature of Employment

Nature of Formal Enterprises Informal Enterprises Hou				House	eholds	То	tal	
Employment	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Frequency	%
Formal	308.8	254.8	-	-	-	-	563.6	80.0
Informal	34.8	18.3	57.1	16.0	10.8	3.7	140.9	20.0
Total	343.6	273.2	57.1	16.0	10.8	3.7	704.5	100.0

Table 2.16.1Employment in the Non-Agriculture Sector by Nature of Employment,Type of Production Unit, and Sex

– = not applicable.

Note: Numbers may not sum to total because of rounding.

Table 2.16.2	Employment in the Non-Agriculture Sector by Employment Status,
Type of Produ	iction Unit, and Sex (%)

	Type of Production Unit							
	Formal Enterprises		Informal Enterprises		Households			
Employment Status	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women		
Employees	55.1	44.9	82.4	17.6	75.4	24.6		
Employer	91.5	8.5	100.0		-	-		
Own-account worker	65.6	34.4	74.8	25.2	100.0	0.0		
Unpaid family worker	58.5	41.5	63.3	36.7	27.0	73.0		
Members of cooperative and others	100.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-	-		
Total	55.7	44.3	78.1	21.9	74.5	25.5		

 \dots = no observation/no data available, - = not applicable.

Note: Numbers may not sum precisely because of rounding.





Note: Numbers may not sum up to 100 because of rounding.



Figure 2.16.2 Employment in Non-Agriculture Sector Type of Production Unit, Employment Status, and Sex

Note: Numbers may not sum up to 100 because of rounding.

The analysis by employment status showed that the observed gender bias in informal and household production units is due to the difference in the number of men and women in employee and own-account jobs. While the number of women carrying out unpaid family jobs is larger in the households (73.0%), the small number of unpaid jobs (590 to the total 14,503 household jobs), did not influence the prevalence of women in the production unit.

Given the patterns discussed, it is expected that the overall percentage of jobs performed by men is higher than that of jobs performed by women, at 58.4% and 41.6%, respectively.

Chapter 3 Contribution of the Informal Sector to GDP

The complete coverage of economic production is important to ensure good quality of national accounts and exhaustiveness of gross domestic product (GDP) estimates. Exhaustive coverage is difficult to achieve because of the wide range of economic activities, some of which are deliberately concealed from observation by those responsible for them. Some economic activities are referred to as non-observed because they are missing from the basic data used to compile the national accounts. These non-observed activities are underground, illegal, and informal or are due to deficiencies in the basic data collection system. They are said to comprise the non-observed economy (NOE), and including them in the national accounts is referred to as the measurement of the NOE.

The NOE includes

- underground production, defined as those activities that are productive and legal but are deliberately concealed from the public authorities to avoid payment of taxes or complying with regulations;
- illegal production, defined as those productive activities that generate goods and services forbidden by law or that are unlawful when carried out by unauthorized producers;
- informal sector production, defined as those productive activities conducted by unincorporated enterprises in the household sector that are unregistered and/or are less than a specified size in terms of employment, and that have at least some market production;
- production of households for own final use, defined as those productive activities that result in goods or services consumed or capitalized by the households that produced them.

Estimates for 2008 suggest that a quarter of Armenia's GDP can be accounted to the NOE, of which 10.7% is from informal sector production and 14.3% is from underground production. Throughout this chapter, we will focus on one particular component of the NOE—the informal sector.

A domain of the NOE that has gained attention in recent years is the informal sector. The International Labour Organization's (ILO) Manual on Surveys of Informal Employment and Informal Sector (Delhi Group 2010) argues that existing approaches on indirectly estimating the informal sector is generally deemed inadequate due to its reliance on hypothetical assumptions and the high level of aggregation for which the estimates can be derived at. Hence, direct estimation of the contribution of the informal sector provides a tool toward adopting a sustainable approach for national accounts compilation to accurately estimate GDP. On a macroeconomic perspective, detailed analysis of this sector is key toward reorienting socioeconomic policies to be more sensitive to the needs of the working poor who are mostly associated with the informal sector. As Chapter 4 of the Asian Development Bank (ADB) Handbook²⁴ on Measuring Informal Employment and the Informal Sector cites, these types of information allow economic planners to reflect on the sources of GDP growth, particularly the relative susceptibility of the informal sector to diverse socioeconomic policies.

In 2009, the National Statistical Service of the Republic of Armenia (NSSRA) conducted the expanded Section D, Occupation (module) of the Integrated Living Conditions Survey (ILCS), which is the expanded Labor Force Survey (LFS) version of Armenia, and the Informal Sector Survey (ISS) (Household Unincorporated Enterprises with at least Some Market Production [HUEM] survey), following the mixed survey approach.

²⁴ From here onward, will be referred to as "the Handbook."

Box 3.1 Measuring the Non-Observed Economy in Armenia

The estimation of the non-observed economy (NOE) in Armenia started in 1994 following the definition adopted in the Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development (OECD) handbook on measuring the Non-Observed Economy (excluding illegal production). Latest estimates show that, as of 2008, the NOE in Armenia contributes 25.0% of the total gross domestic product (GDP). Valuable sources for estimating the NOE include data from enterprise surveys, labor force surveys, and household income and expenditures surveys (e.g., Integrated Living Conditions Survey (ILCS)) conducted in Armenia. Sample surveys are the most debatable of all the methods used in estimation, but they are, nevertheless, a main source for measuring the size of the hidden (informal) path of the economy directly. Observing the hidden economy is complicated because it can be difficult to identify non-response, or distinguish between incomplete response and misreporting.

Bearing in mind these complexities, the calculations are based on data on output and the number of persons employed in the economy. Indirect macroeconomic methods are also employed using all possible sources of information. The method used by Armenia is based on the analyses of the supply of, and demand for labor. The results serve to determine the number of persons engaged in legal productive activities that have not been recorded. Another large category of information comprises data relating to production.

Since 2001, the National Statistical Service of the Republic of Armenia (NSSRA) has been conducting a labor force survey in coordination with the integrated household survey. The 2008 Labor Force Survey (LFS) serves as a good data source in studying and estimating informal employment in the Armenian labor market.

The NSSRA regularly conducts LFS but, from the point of view of national accounts, the following issues need to be clarified before estimating the NOE contribution to country GDP: (i) the exact type of economic informal activities should be defined in accordance with international classification of economic activities; and (ii) the computation of the number of full-time workers should be based on the total hours worked during a year, etc. The contribution of NOE is indirectly estimated by using a combination of indicators from existing surveys. The contribution of the informal sector is directly estimated in the survey by asking the proportion of activities, output, intermediate consumptions, fixed assets, etc.

The surveys were carried out through an ADB regional technical assistance on Measuring the Informal Sector. The expanded LFS had been implemented in 7,872 households in Armenia with the main objective of identifying HUEM which, in turn, serves as the sampling frame for an ISS. As seen from the previous chapter, data from the expanded LFS can also be used to estimate employment in the informal economy. Subsequently, the ISS questionnaire was outlined to collect detailed information on production activities to estimate gross value added (GVA) of informal sector enterprises. A sample consisting of 548 enterprises was surveyed. The detailed discussions of the sampling strategy are provided in Appendix 7 while the computational methodology is described in Appendix 5.

Conceptually, HUEM²⁵ is a broader concept than the informal sector. Both are characterized by

having low levels of organization and technology such that labor and capital, as well as household and production operations, are hardly distinguishable among these enterprises. Using HUEMs as a sampling unit for an ISS is a step toward ensuring good coverage of the informal sector and introduces flexibility for subsequent analyses when there are different informal sector definitions arising from the need of diverse users.

This chapter estimates the extent of the informal sector's contribution to the total GVA of different economic sectors. It also provides a snapshot on the geographic concentration of the informal economy, including its labor productivity. In the succeeding discussions, some considerations must be noted. The survey period coincided with the financial and economic crisis that affected Armenia's economy starting in October-November 2008. As a response, the Government of the Republic of Armenia drafted an anti-crisis program, which involved simplifying of all types of businesses, including small and medium-sized enterprises, and the new tax procedures. Those factors have been affecting economic units implementing informal activity. By this reason, the households covered by the survey had less income or some of them may had been inclined to hide their informal activities to avoid tax payments. The respondents reported

²⁵ In general, from the list of identified HUEMs, informal enterprises are distinguished by applying the criteria on registration and/or employment size based on the official definitions adopted by each country. In the case of Armenia, registration a distinguishes informal enterprises from HUEMS. However, while seven sampled HUEMs were reported to be registered in either tax agency or state register in the ISS, there is reason to believe that they are not really registered on the basis of other information provided from the ISS. In turn, the contribution of the informal sector was derived from the production activities of all sampled HUEMs.

lower incomes because of concerns of being denied poverty and unemployment benefits, among other social protection schemes.

3.1 Industry

Until 2008, the construction sector remains to be the main driver of Armenia's economy over the recent years, contributing 25.3% of the total GDP. This is followed by agriculture²⁶ (16.3%), wholesale and retail trade (11.6%), and manufacturing (8.8%). The financial and economic crisis in 2009 has largely affected Armenia's economy. Its economic output, measured by GDP, noted a decline of as much as 14.2% in real terms. Construction was among the severely affected sectors, contracting by 42.3%. In proportion to the country's GDP, construction only contributed 17.6% in 2009. In real terms, manufacturing and wholesale and retail trade declined by 8.8% and 4.0%, respectively.

During the economic crisis, the share of the informal sector to total GDP in 2009 reached 11.2%. This is approximately the same as the estimated contribution of informal sector production²⁷ based on estimates of the NOE for 2008. Following the methodology described in ADB's handbook, Figure 3.1 depicts the estimated contribution of the informal economy to total GVA by sector.

The contribution of the informal sector to total GVA was highest in the following industries: agriculture (22.4%), other services (16.6%), construction (15.4%), and wholesale and retail trade (14.8%) (Figure 3.1).

In the ICLS Framework of Informal Employment devised by the ILO (Appendix 1), the three types of production units in which informal employment exists are formal enterprises, informal enterprises, and households. In this concept, subsistence agriculture

Figure 3.1 Share of Informal Sector to Total GVA by Industry¹ (%)



¹ Due to the limited sample size, the survey results were supplemented with information from other relevant indicators in estimating the contribution of the informal sector to total economy. The estimation procedures are documented in Appendix 5.

farming falls under the household and not under the informal sector.

Production for own consumption is a significant part of agricultural production in Armenia, and this has been verified by NSSRA from data it regularly collected (in the form of statistical report forms) from all local authorities in rural areas. Data are also collected through a sample survey of 7,480 of about 340,000 farm holdings and from about 100 profit-making (commercial) organizations. The importance of the household units in agriculture is also confirmed in the results of the expanded Section D of the ILCS. Of the total jobs under the activity, only 1.5% were supplied by formal enterprises, while the majority (77.5%) were provided by informal enterprises. Still, a substantial 20.9% of jobs were engaged in households.

Households that carry out subsistence farming and do not market agricultural goods are not included among the informal sector units.²⁸

²⁶ Throughout the chapter, the term agriculture represents agriculture, hunting, forestry, and fishing, unless stated otherwise.

²⁷ Strictly speaking, there may be minimal differences between the operational conceptualization of informal sector production within the NOE framework followed by the National Statistical Service (NSS) and the informal sector as a subset of HUEMs. For instance, own-account workers who have been registered as unemployed in the Employment Service of the Ministry of Labor and Social Issues of Republic of Armenia may be classified as part of underground production under the NOE but informal enterprise in the survey operations.

²⁸ Unfortunately, the HUEM survey was designed to collect information from production that market at least some of its goods or services, and hence, does not cover production for own consumption. Data to estimate the extent of household production in agriculture are, therefore, not available. Unfortunately, the HUEM survey was designed to collect information from production that market at least some of its goods or services, and hence, does not cover production for own consumption. Data to estimate the extent of household production in agriculture are, therefore, not available.

In terms of proportion to total GVA of the informal sector, the survey results suggest that informal economy in 2009 was dominated by agriculture (36.2%), construction (26.6%), and trade (18.6%). Comparing the NOE estimates of the national accounts in 2008 with the survey results, it is obvious that contribution of the construction and manufacturing sectors to the total informal economy has declined, suggesting that it may have been more affected by the crisis compared to the formal²⁹ sector. In particular, the share of construction in the total informal GVA fell from 50.4% in 2008 to 26.6% in 2009, causing agriculture to take the lead such that its contribution to Armenia's total informal sector's GVA increased from 17.3% in 2008 (using NOE-based estimates) to 36.2% in 2009.

3.2 Administrative Unit and Urbanity

The national accounts regularly compiled by NSSRA do not have the breakdown by administrative units and urbanity, such that the country's GDP is only disaggregated by the economic sector. Under the program of state statistical works of the Republic of Armenia, compilation of national accounts by administrative unit and urbanity is not envisaged because of the shortage of financial and human resources.

However, the ISS can be used to provide estimates at the *marz* level. The following figure shows that 38.8% of total informal sector GVA comes from Yerevan, followed by Ararat (12.1%), Shirak (9.1%), Armavir (9.1%), Syunik (8.8%), and Kotayk (4.9%) (Figure 3.2.1).

The informal sector's GVA is more concentrated in urban areas (60.1% of total informal sector's GVA), of which more than three quarters come from Yerevan city, and the urban areas of Shirak, and Ararat. In the

Box 3.2 A Snapshot on the Informal Economy Construction Sector of Armenia

Armenia is mainly driven by the construction sector. Its share to the total gross domestic product over the last five years has increased. This is fueled by households' resources which, in turn, come from money transfers from abroad. In 2008, of the total construction volume, 70.0% of financing came from households assets from which 78.8% went to new housing construction, most of which were in Yerevan city. In other *marzes* of Armenia, it is typical to see small-scale construction activities financed by household's resources.

Since construction carried out by households is mostly informal activity, it is not surprising that the share of construction to the total informal gross value added in 2008 was high. But the 2009 global financial crisis has affected the volume of money transfers, which have been reduced in 2009. The share of construction financed by households fell (32.1% in the total construction) and has declined by 70.5% in real terms.



Figure 3.2.1 The Informal Sector's Gross Value Added by *Marz* (%)

Note: Numbers may not sum up to 100 because of rounding.

rural areas, high contribution of the informal sector was noted from Armavir (20.4% of total informal sector's GVA in rural areas), Ararat (19.0%), and Syunik (16.5%). The fact that subsistence agriculture is prevalent in Armenia may have influenced the lower informal production in the rural areas.

²⁹ In this chapter, the GVA of formal** sector is computed as the residual of the total GVA less informal sector's GVA. Hence, the term formal** may span all non-informal sectors: formal enterprises, underground and illegal production, and subsistence (household) final consumption. In some sectors, such as agriculture, the contribution of formal** may be mostly coming from the subsistence household sector.

Figure 3.2.2 The Informal Sector Gross Value Added by Urbanity in Armenia



Figure 3.3 Agriculture and Non-Agriculture Gross Value Added in the Formal and Informal Sectors



Formal** = formal sector + households. Notes: *Without financial intermediation services indirectly measured (FISIM).

3.3 Agriculture and Non-agriculture Sectors

Survey results show that out of the total GVA of the agriculture sector, 77.6% is formal** and 22.4% is informal. While in most developing countries, the agriculture sector is perceived to be coming from mostly informal sector production, the term formal**, as mentioned earlier, does not correspond to formal enterprises only. Subsistence farming, whose production output is exclusively³⁰ for household's own final consumption, is implicitly accounted in the formal** sector. This relatively low contribution of the informal sector, compared to the agriculture sector of most developing countries, is consistent with the NOE-based estimates wherein based on 2008 estimates, only 22.5% of total GVA of Armenia's

agriculture sector is considered to be non-observed. This is further motivated by the fact that NSSRA regularly collects information on agriculture/farming through regular statistical report forms from the community authorities in rural areas, and hence, can be considered as the observed part of the economy. Independent validation exercises using indicators from agriculture module of ILCS (which collects information on crop production and utilization, cattle breeding, food production, agricultural equipment and expenditures), reveal that the informal sector's contribution is less than 30.0%.

In the non-agriculture sector, informal sector accounts for 8.8% of its total gross value added.

	Contribut	tion to GDP (AMI	D million)	Percentage		
Sector	Total	Formal**	Informal	Total	Formal**	Informal
Agriculture	514,583.1	399,556.7	115,026.4	100.0	77.6	22.4
Non-agriculture*	2,312,760.2	2,110,117.4	202,642.8	100.0	91.2	8.8
Total*	2,827,343.3	2,509,674.1	317,669.2	100.0	88.8	11.2

Table 3.3 Contribution of Informal Sector to GDP, Agriculture and Non-Agriculture Sectors

GDP = gross domestic product.

Formal** = formal sector + households.

Note: *Without financial intermediation services indirectly measured (FISIM).

The shares of agriculture and non-agriculture GVAs produced in the total economy by formal** and informal sector classification are shown in Figure 3.3.

³⁰ The own consumption of identified informal sector enterprises are still considered part of informal sector gross value added. However, if a household is engaged in subsistence farming (i.e., no market production), its own consumption is not considered part of informal production.

Figure 3.4 Labor Productivity by Industry in the Formal** and Informal Sectors

3.4 Labor Productivity

This section investigates how productively labor is used to generate economic output among informal enterprises in Armenia. Productivity measures reflect the joint influence of changes in capital, intermediate inputs, technical efficiency, and economies of scale and capacity utilization of enterprises (*OECD Manual on Measuring Productivity*). Productivity in the informal sector can be measured with respect to a variety of measures. For example, gross output-based labor productivity measures labor requirements per unit of output while value addedbased labor productivity serves as an alternative measure that can be directly linked with existing income-based measures of living standards. This section uses value added-based measure of labor productivity.

Informal employment data collected with ISS is consistent with the data collected during first stage of survey. The denominators used in estimating labor productivity have been total employment, formal and informal employment in formal enterprises, informal employment in informal enterprises by industry, total employment in agriculture, and total employment in non-agriculture.

The total labor productivity in 2009, measured by the ratio of GDP to total employment, is AMD2,376,000 per worker. Expectedly, labor productivity in the formal** sector exceeded that of the informal sector by 4.8 times. In particular, an average worker in the formal** sector contributed AMD3,397,000 in valueadded terms while an average worker in the informal sector contributed AMD704,000.

Labor productivity for formal** economy in real estate, renting, and business activities (AMD15,688,000) and construction (AMD8,613,000) shows the highest figures. The lowest labor productivity within formal** part of economy is in education (AMD991,000); other community, social, and personal service activities (AMD1,081,000); and agriculture, hunting, forestry, and fishing (AMD3,645,000). Meanwhile, according to the survey results and estimation made, within the informal sector, the highest labor productivity was recorded in real estate, renting, and business activities (AMD20,229,000); health and social work (AMD1,9718,000); and education (AMD11,039,000). The lowest labor productivity in informal sector was recorded in agriculture, hunting, and forestry (AMD304,000); other community, social, and personal service activities (AMD991,000); and manufacturing (AMD2,169,000) (Figure 3.4).



 $Formal^{**} = formal sector + households.$



Figure 3.4.1 Labor Productivity in Agriculture and Non-Agriculture Sectors (AMD '000)

Formal** = formal sector + households.

Comparing formal** and informal labor productivity within an industry from data cited in Figure 3.4, it is apparent that formal** labor productivity in some industries is much higher than that in informal. For example, in construction, labor productivity in the formal** sector is 3.0 times higher than labor productivity in the informal sector, and in transport, storage, and communication, formal** labor productivity is 3.1 times "that of" labor productivity. Interestingly, labor productivity in other community, social, and personal service activities is roughly the same between the formal** and informal sectors. It is also noteworthy that labor productivity in the informal economy is higher than that in the formal** sector, e.g., for the sectors of education (11.1 times) and health and social work (11.2 times).

In general, the survey results suggest that labor productivity of the formal** sector in agriculture is 12.0 times than that of the informal sector's, while in non-agriculture, labor productivity in the formal** sector is 1.2 times the productivity in informal economy.

Chapter 4 Characteristics of Informal Sector Enterprises

The estimates provided in the previous sections suggest that the informal sector accounts for a significant portion of the total economy of a developing country such as the Republic of Armenia. Informal enterprises also supply a notable portion of employment at 37.9% of the total, and about three-fourths of the informal employment.

To better understand the production behavior of the informal sector, this chapter examines the characteristics of these enterprises. In particular, it describes the informal sector unit in terms of (i) type of premises where business activity is conducted, (ii) employment size, (iii) reason for choosing the respective type of entrepreneurial activities and (iv) source of financial resources.

Based on the survey results, about 84.3% of all the sampled household unincorporated enterprises

Table 4.1	Type of Premises Where Business
Activities	are Carried Out

Location	Proportion (%)
At home with no special work space	2.25
At home with work space inside / attached to the home	1.20
Business premise with fixed location independent from home	0.38
Farm or individual agriculture / subsidiary plot	84.25
Home or workplace of the client	4.34
Construction site	0.59
Market, bazaar stall, trade fair	1.94
Street, pavement, or highway with fixed post	1.11
Employer's home	0.21
Transport vehicle	2.60
No fixed location (e.g., mobile, door-to-door, street w/o fixed post)	0.75
Others	0.38

with at least some market production (HUEMs) carry out their business activities at farms or agriculture or subsidiary plots, 4.3% at clients' home or workplace, and 2.6% at a transport vehicle.

In terms of employment size, Table 4.2 shows that, on the average, each informal enterprise in the agriculture sector provides jobs to more than two persons, approximately the same with manufacturing. This supports the usual notion that informal sector units are usually microenterprises, and this is consistent with the results in Section 2.10. Thus, microenterprises in Armenia are also more likely to be informal than formal, though the other characteristics of the production unit still need to be examined for a definite classification.

Informal sector operators tend to choose their respective line of business activities not necessarily because they want to maximize profits, but because this is the only activity that they are more familiar with. In particular, of all the sampled HUEMs, 49.4% reported to have been motivated by either family tradition or their knowledge of the profession in choosing their respective business activities (Table 4.3). These results provide empirical support for the conclusion of Brooks et al. (2010), that those at the bottom part of the labor population are forced to make suboptimal choices to reduce income risks. Informal enterprises, most of which are associated with low-scale production and thus, are more vulnerable to income, are less attracted to riskier entrepreneurial activities even though these are expected to generate higher future returns. Brooks et al. (2010) concluded that when the vulnerable members of the population discount the future, this can have a negative impact for the economy in the long run because investment decision at the household level are suboptimal.

From all the sampled HUEMs, 21.3% reported availing themselves of a loan to manage their business activities. It is interesting to note that among those

	Number of	mber of Total Number of Workers				Total Number of Paid Workers		
Industry	Sampled HUEMs	Minimum	Mean	Maximum	Minimum	Mean	Maximum	
Agriculture, hunting, and forestry	353	1	2.32	6	1	1.14	5	
Manufacturing	47	1	1.91	5	1	1.03	4	
Construction	40	1	1.17	3	1	1.10	2	
Wholesale and retail trade	45	1	1.26	3	1	1.08	3	
Transport, storage, and communication	26	1	1.26	3	1	1.00	1	
Real estate, renting	1	1	1.00	1	1	1.00	1	
Education	7	1	1.00	1	1	1.00	1	
Health and social work	2	1	1.00	1	1	1.00	1	
Other service activities	27	1	1.25	2	1	1.12	2	

Table 4.2 Employment Size by Industry

Table 4.3Reason for Choosing the BusinessActivity (%)

Reason	Proportion (%)
Family tradition	41.76
It is the profession that I know	7.59
It gives better income / higher profits than other products or services	5.94
More stable returns than other products /	
services	12.24
Others	32.47

who availed credit to finance their business activities, 77.7% reported that their sources of financing are private banks. Among HUEMs, 52.1% of those who did not apply for loan to finance their business identified high interest rate as a reason. This is followed by burdensome requirements at 30.8%.

Tables 4.4 and 4.5 reveal significant information about the attitudes of HUEM operators in Armenia. The fact that two in every three owners of HUEMs that carried loans borrowed money from banks suggests the following scenarios: (i) they are knowledgeable that banks can provide loans to small enterprises; (ii) they know that they have access to banks; and (iii) they prefer formal financial transactions than informal arrangements, such as borrowing money from relatives, friends, and employers. In addition, given that there are no informal private money lenders in Armenia,

Table 4.4 Source of Financing

Source	Proportion (%)
Relative/neighbor/friends	11.23
Employer/landlord	0.00
Private moneylender/pawnshop	12.82
Private bank	77.74
Cooperative	1.30
Others	16.07

Table 4.5Reason for Not Availing Loan toFinance Business Activity

Reason	Proportion (%)
Has other source of income	16.65
Burdensome requirements	30.76
Unaware of source	5.23
High interest rate for loans	52.11
Others	17.98

the results also imply that banks are more preferable source of loans than other private formal ones.

How will these information help in formulating policies or programs? For one, there is now evidence that HUEM owners are open to getting loans from banks, but relatively shy away from other private money lenders or pawnshops. If the objective is to provide financial support to them, this information is very useful. Table 4.5 also presents valuable data, such as if the HUEM owners are to be encouraged to borrow from banks, information dissemination concerning the availability of banks as a source of loans should not be a priority. People are already adequately aware of the fact. The significant avenues to pursue are related to requirements in loan applications and the level of interest rates. A program design, therefore, can concentrate on these two items.

The survey results also provide other interesting information about perceptions of HUEM. For example, based from the opinion of HUEM operators, the average monthly income in wholesale and retail trade (AMD463,000), mining and quarrying (AMD457,000), manufacturing (AMD404,000), and construction (AMD340,000), which exceed correspondingly 5.9, 3.9, 4.8, and 3.7 times of the same industry's average monthly compensation of employees (Table 4.1, Appendix 6). In addition, approximately 24.2% of HUEM owners think that only (at most) 20.0% of their incomes should be reported to state bodies, 25.4% think that it should be about 21%–50%, 28.1% think that more than half to 80.0% of the income should be reported, while 10.8% admitted that at least 81.0% of their income should be reported to the state bodies. The remaining 11.5% think that there is no need to hide anything (Table 4.2, Appendix 6). This may mean that tax burden instigates the small producing units to hide their incomes and not pay taxes.

Overall, pieces of information, such as knowing the characteristics of HUEMs and those of their owners, are valuable for effective socioeconomic policies and programs. The results of the survey are valuable tools for improving the status of informal workers, as well as for developing further the production capacities of HUEMs.

Chapter 5 Institutionalizing Informal Employment and Informal Sector Statistics

This chapter outlines the recommendations toward institutionalization of the statistics on informal employment and informal sector as part of regular statistics compiled by the National Statistical Service of the Republic of Armenia (NSSRA). The support of the fundamental stakeholders, especially the government, is vital for the realization of this endeavor.

Discussions highlight the significance of informal employment and informal sector to Armenia and, consequently, the relevance of producing the related statistics. Assuming that all the essential elements for the institutionalization have been secured, it also presents the process by which the data can be regularly collected, and the possible integration of the informal employment and informal sector among the official statistics released by the NSSRA.

The results of the 2009 expanded Section D of the Integrated Living Conditions Survey (ILCS) and the Informal Sector Survey (ISS) which is also known as the HUEM Survey confirmed the significance of informal employment and informal sector in the economy of Armenia. Data showed that informal employment is widespread in agriculture and in the rural areas. Moreover, results confirmed that informality in labor arrangements and production units play significant roles in households that need additional sources of income. Of the second jobs of workers in Armenia, totaling 39,500 thousands, 89.9% are engaged in informal employment.

Taking into account that Armenia's economy is still in transition toward a market-oriented economy, it is obvious that designing effective economic policies for the labor, or even the total economy, would need relevant estimates of informal employment and the informal sector. Furthermore, these statistics should be updated regularly, to monitor the developments in the informal economy and make the necessary adjustments in the policies, if needed. Understanding the importance of reliable estimates for informal employment and informal economy for Armenia, and taking into account known difficulties in collecting regular information about informal activities in the economy, NSSRA tried to produce the needed statistics by referring to the different sources used in compiling data for the nonobserved economy. Unfortunately, not all data sources for informal activities are available regularly, mainly because of the lack of relevant financial resources and support to organize the needed surveys.

The succeeding discussions summarize the various sources used to generate informal sector statistics in Armenia.

Three rounds of sample surveys, conducted in November 1997–January 1999, are considered to be the early data sources of estimates for informal employment and informal economy in Armenia. These were

- Sample survey of 2,500 small enterprises (with up to 10 employees), which was carried out in November–December 1997;
- Labor Force Survey of 5,000 urban households in December 1997; and
- Sample survey of employers and self-employed in December 1998–January 1999, which covered 2,046 registered entrepreneurs and 1,800 employers and self-employed.

These rounds of surveys helped in understanding the peculiarities of informal activities, as well as data collection procedures, by providing an opportunity for estimates of the informal sector to be generated. In recent years, the main survey used as the basis of most statistics is the Armenian ILCS; it also includes, in one of its modules, some questions from the Labor Force Survey (LFS). In Armenia, the LFS was previously conducted separately from the ILCS, but due to the lack of resources, some of its questions were transferred into the ILCS, specifically, in Section D, which is entitled employment.

While informal sector statistics have been generated by the NSSRA for several years, the quality of those estimates may decline if data sources are not available regularly. The rapid economic development in Armenia may have a significant influence on the informal sector and without a steady source of statistics, the changes in the informal sector may not be monitored effectively.

Since 2001, the NSSRA has included informal employment estimates among the annual employment statistics based on ILCS data. In 2008, NSSRA conducted a one-off survey on the labor force and informal employment in Armenia, in which the recommendations and the new methodology from the International Labour Organization were applied. The estimates of value added from informal activities are generally also based on the results these one-off surveys. Such surveys were conducted last for separate types of activities such as health, transportation, and construction. Weak points of using these surveys for estimating the informal economy are the inconsistent year intervals in which they were conducted, as well as the fact that these surveys were not designed to collect information on informal activities.

In 2009, the NSSRA carried out the mixed survey approach in estimating informal employment and the informal sector. An expanded Section D (of the ILCS) was conducted in Phase 1 of the method, while the ISS or the household unincorporated enterprises with at least some market production (HUEM) survey comprised phase 2. The approach has obvious advantages compared to other data sources that have been used by the NSSRA to generate informal sector statistics. Aside from the fact that the surveys were aimed to collect data on informal employment and informal sector activities, the survey design enabled the collection of data for the whole year. This design gave an opportunity for the data gathered to incorporate the seasonal production in different activities. Moreover, more detailed statistics, by region and type of activity, were collected. The experience also improved the skills of labor and national accounts statistics staff of the NSSRA.

The mixed survey can be used as a basis for the regular collection of data on informal employment

and informal sector. The methodology and procedure learned from the conduct of the survey should be introduced in the generation of regular statistics, taking into account some improvements based on practice in Armenia. Particularly, the estimation methodology used in computing the contribution of the informal sector to gross domestic product (GDP) will be applied in the estimation of the regular national accounts statistics. The methodology will be presented to all national accounts statistics staff of the NSSRA; the staff should also be regularly trained in informal sector estimation procedures.

The regular conduct of the mixed survey is the best move toward producing quality statistics on the informal sector. However, due to the limited financial (and other resources) allocation for statistics in Armenia, this is quite difficult to accomplish. Thus, the following survey implementation strategies related to the generation of informal sector statistics take into account the reality faced by the Armenia statistical system, that is, the limitations in resources. Still, the strategies cited will need additional resources above the amount allocated to NSSRA, for that purpose, in recent years.

The NSSRA intends to annually conduct the expanded LFS, introduced in the 2009 ILCS Section D, for the regular estimation of informal employment, as well as for monitoring the development patterns concerning the informal economy. The HUEM survey, which was used to estimate the size and structure of informal activities and the value added produced by those activities, should also be conducted every 3 years. However, for the next HUEM survey, it will be useful to conduct another round in 2011 because the peculiarities from the 2009 survey results may have been affected by the global financial crisis, masking the typical conditions that transpired in the informal sector during the previous years.

NSSRA will apply some changes to the survey operations based on the experiences from 2009 survey operations.

 Expanded LFS questionnaire will be reviewed since some of the questions are not relevant to Armenia (or these questions are totally related and answers can be retrieved depending on other questions).³¹

³¹ For details, see Chapter 7: Recommendations.

4.

- 2. Improve the enumerators and supervisors training, especially on the concerns and questions related to defining particular types of economic activities. Consequently, improvements in the questionnaire may also be needed.
- 3. The ISS questionnaire, which is expected to be administered once in 3 years, should also be reviewed. Based on experience and results of the 2009 survey, difficulties were experienced in administering the questionnaire, particularly in the section related to capital expenditures. Hence, revisions in the questionnaires must be revised to address the issues encountered, with considerations based on the 2008 System of National Accounts.
- The conduct of the 2009 survey showed that it is difficult for enumerators who specialize in living conditions-type surveys to carry out questionnaires related to national accounts. Therefore, it is better to have a separate set of enumerators trained for enterprise-type of questionnaires. The administration of the ILCS questionnaire involves several visits to households; these national accounts-trained enumerators may join the ILCS enumerators during their last visit to household and conduct the interview if the household qualifies to be a respondent in the HUEM survey.

Chapter 6 Summary and Conclusions

6.1 Summary of the Main Results

Estimates from the Informal Sector Survey (ISS) showed that, in 2009, the share of the informal sector to total gross domestic product (GDP) of Armenia was 11.2%. Highest informal sector gross value added (GVA) shares, by industry, were recorded in agriculture, hunting, forestry, fishing (22.4%); other service activities (16.6%); construction (15.4%); and wholesale and retail trade (14.8%).

The total informal economy in Armenia was dominated in 2009 by agriculture (36.2% of total informal sector GVA in the informal sector), construction (26.6%), and trade (18.6%). The contribution of the construction and manufacturing sectors to the total informal economy has declined, compared to the 2008 Armenian national accounts data. Informal sector production in these two industries was more affected by the crisis compared to that of their counterparts in the formal sector. The share of construction in the total informal GVA fell from 50.4% in 2008 to 26.6% in 2009, causing agriculture to take the lead in Armenia's informal sector production in 2009. While comparison of these statistics produce relevant insights in the performance of the informal economy, further investigation is needed to confirm the conclusions due to the different methodologies applied in the 2008 and 2009 surveys.

The ISS 2009 results made it possible to have estimates of the informal sector with regional breakdown (on *marz* level). Yerevan contributed 38.8% to the total informal sector GVA, followed by Ararat (12.1%), Shirak (9.1%), Armavir (9.1%), and Syunik (8.8%). Meanwhile, contribution of the urban area was higher than that of the rural area, at 60.1% and 39.9%, respectively.

Labor productivity, measured by the ratio of GDP to total employment (jobs), in the formal** sector exceeded that of the informal sector by 4.8 times in 2009. The highest labor productivity figures, within informal sector, were posted in health and social

work (AMD19,718,000); real estate, renting, and business activities (AMD20,229,000); and education industries (AMD11,039,000). On the other hand, the lowest labor productivity figures were recorded in agriculture, hunting, and forestry (AMD610,000); other community, social, and personal service activities (AMD991,000); and manufacturing industries (AMD2,169,000).

Comparison of the industry labor productivity between the formal** and informal sectors showed that while in some industries, productivity is higher in the formal** sector (e.g., in construction, 3.0 times; in transport, storage, and communication, 3.1 times), other industries (e.g., education, 11.1 times; health and social work, 11.2 times) registered higher labor productivity in the informal sector.

The preceding discussions suggest that the informal sector accounts for a significant portion of the economy of Armenia. Likewise, the informal enterprises perform a relevant role by supplying a notable portion in employment, at 37.9% of the total, and about three-fourths of the informal employment.

Informal employment (consisting of primary and secondary jobs) comprised 52.1% of total employment and was estimated at 621,700 jobs (including the agriculture sector). Meanwhile, informal employment was estimated at 20.0% of the total non-agriculture employment. The greatest prevalence of informal employment in the non-agriculture sectors was in construction (34.2%), followed by wholesale and retail trade and repairs (26.9%) and manufacturing industries (11.8%).

Formal enterprises or production units provide the greatest employment at 52.4% of the total number of jobs, followed by informal enterprises (37.9%) and households (9.8%). Noteworthy, 42.0% of the jobs in the informal sector were identified as own-account workers in farms. In Armenia, enterprises of own-account workers in farms are classified under the informal sector due to the characteristics of the production units, specifically the absence of the

institutional-organizational and legal status in this kind of enterprise.

In Armenia, the highest share of employment was recorded in agriculture (40.9%). Meanwhile, the highest incidence of informality was recorded also in agriculture (98.6%).

In terms of income, earnings were higher among those engaged in formal employment (AMD77,665) than among those informally employed (AMD48,919).

Formal enterprises also supplied informal employment, though only at a minimal level, at 8.9% of the total jobs in this type of production unit. Informal workers mainly got employment from informal enterprises (72.6%); households also provided informal jobs at a notable rate (18.8%).

Overall, employment in the private sector was concentrated in micro-sized (less than five workers) establishments, at 72.0%, implying that the enterprises that provided most of the private sector's jobs in Armenia are actually small scale. Among the total jobs in micro-sized establishments, the percentage of those employed in informal enterprises was high (71.0%). Simultaneously, of all the informal jobs, 91.1% were carried out in establishments with less than five workers.

6.2 Importance of Measuring Informal Employment and the Informal Sector

The statistics and analysis on informal employment and the informal sector presented in this report are important support for evidence-based policy making that can help improve the economic and social development of Armenia.

Informal sector measurement approaches provide a significant contribution toward exhaustive estimations of the national economy, including economic and employment indicators. In developing countries, such as Armenia, where informal sector activities are significant, there is an urgent need for policy makers to have comprehensive and detailed information on the informal sector and informal employment in the country. Workers under informal employment are more vulnerable and need more help from the government and policy makers so that they would be able to fully support their families, as well as get protection against unforeseen circumstances. It is necessary for policy makers to fully understand the plight of the informal workers so that they could enact or revise laws or review regulations as needed to promote workercentered economic policies.

Measuring the contribution of the informal sector to the total economy is fast gaining interest as a statistical concern. The reliable estimate of GDP for every country by internationally accepted methodology should include also good estimate of "non-observed economy," the main part of which in many developing countries is the informal economy.

This constituted the importance of periodical data collection on the informal sector and informal employment, using the cost-effective survey approach applied in this project.

6.3 Other Issues

While the 2009 expanded LFS and ISS conducted under the Asian Development Bank's regional technical assistance on Measuring the Informal Sector gave NSSRA opportunities to generate the necessary information on informal sector and informal employment, and also improve the staff's methodological skills in this sphere of statistics, the survey results should still be treated with caution.

This was the first survey on informal activities during last decade in Armenia, which focused on the informal sector and informal employment issues simultaneously. Furthermore, the conduct of mixed survey showed many advantages, especially in terms of the survey methodology and effective use of resources. However, the lack of experience in conducting these types of surveys has proven to be a difficulty for the efficient implementation of data collection. It revealed the need for more training for interviewers, especially with regard to administering the questionnaire on the informal sector or the HUEM owners, which contains comprehensive questions on national accounts issues.

Another issue encountered is related to the estimation process, specifically on data imputations, due to the lack of data collected from the survey. The types of activities in which extensive imputations were applied were fishing, real estate, and business services. A probable reason for the insufficient coverage of activities may be the lack of experience of interviewers on defining particular types of activities. Another
reason can be the small number of surveyed units due to resource limitations and influence of economic crisis.

The survey was conducted during whole of 2009, which was not a typical year from the socioeconomic development's point of view for Armenia. It was a year during which the country experienced a significant economic decline as after effects of the global financial-economic crisis. On the one hand, the results of the survey may provide very useful information for analyzing the economic situation during an economic crisis; in addition, the estimates from the survey cannot be used as a reliable basis of the long-term economic performance of the informal sector in Armenia. Given this, the need for another similar survey that should be conducted in the next 2 years becomes an urgent priority.

Chapter 7 Recommendations

The conduct of the Informal Sector Survey (ISS) 2009 has enabled the National Statistical Service of the Republic of Armenia (NSSRA) to gain more knowledge on the different aspects of survey operations and analyses toward producing reliable informal sector statistics. It provided valuable experiences on designing the survey instruments, field operations, data processing, and estimation procedures that are relevant to estimating the informal employment and the contribution of informal sector to total economy. At each stage of the process, possible improvements were identified. In turn, these may be used to enhance the efficiency of conducting future surveys, which will be outlined to generate informal sector and employment statistics.

The identified areas for improvement revealed that while direct estimation of informal employment and gross value added (GVA) of the informal sector may not be a simple task, it is feasible through further improvements in the survey operation process. Thus, the main recommendation is to integrate this tool with other regularly compiled official statistics. This is expected to continuously improve the estimation, which can provide evidence-based statistics to guide economic planners on outlining socioeconomic policies that will be more sensitive to the needs of the informal economy in Armenia.

As mentioned in Chapter 5, NSSRA intends to permanently include the additional questions introduced in the 2009 Integrated Living Conditions Survey (ILCS) Section D for estimation of informal employment, into the ILCS questionnaire. Similarly, NSSRA also plans to conduct the household unincorporated enterprises with at least some market production (HUEM) survey; and the data collection tool used for estimating the size, structure, and value added of different types of economic activities in the informal sector regularly. Taking into account the limited resources available to NSSRA, the HUEM survey may be conducted once every 3 years. The following discussions enumerate the specific recommendations toward improving the survey operation process:

On recommendations for improving the questionnaires

The administration of the revised Section D of the ILCS 2009 showed that the additional queries in the questionnaire, such as bookkeeping and legal status, were effective in classifying formal and informal employment. All items included in the decision matrices used in classifying the nature of employment and type of establishment are, therefore, recommended to be retained in Section D of the ILCS or in future LFS questionnaires. However, some of the additional questions were not relevant to Armenia's legal and economic situation. Hence, it is recommended to review the questionnaire thoroughly to be able to minimize the burden among respondents. Meanwhile, the confusion and difficulty in understanding some questions along with their corresponding possible answers (e.g., place of work), as experienced by both the enumerators and respondents, emphasized the need to revisit the enumerator's manual of the questionnaire. Specifically, the definitions of the answer choices should be clarified, accompanied with specific examples and applications. On the other hand, the experiences in conducting the second phase of the survey revealed that the ISS questionnaire was welldesigned such that the questions meet the general data requirements of national accounts. Still, it can be simplified and improved further.

Some recommendations on question from Section D

 Question 7 with annual periodicity could be discarded as this question creates confusion and is often misunderstood by the respondents. Moreover, the information collected from Question 7 can also be provided by Question 10. Question 7 can be used with a 3 or 5 year periodicity to monitor the developments of changes in workplaces. However, the question should still be reviewed and the answer choices clarified to avoid confusion.

- Taking into account the respondent's difficulty in understanding the questions, Questions 12–14 could be discarded since Question 11 provides the same information.
- Question 34 could also be discarded because it is not relevant to Armenia's current situation.
- Question 43 could also be discarded as it repeats information collected from question 45.

Some recommendations on ISS questionnaire

- Answers to questions C5 and C6 showed that the respondents had difficulty estimating the amount of changes in inventories. The amount of inventories in the beginning and end of a given period should be asked instead.
- The questionnaire did not provide information on agricultural output in progress, which needs to be estimated for national accounts. It should be discussed if it is possible to have some questions that can be used for the estimation of agricultural output in progress.
- The Armenian version of the ISS questionnaire lacks some of the modifications included in the Indonesian and Bangladesh questionnaires, i.e., "If you were to rent the work space, how much will you pay for it?" and "How much do you receive as interest payment for the money you lent?" These questions should be included in the Armenian questionnaire as they can provide information to estimate some aspects of imputed rent and financial intermediation services indirectly measured (FISIM).
- Section E (on capital assets) should be revised as the respondents did not have a clear

understanding of each item. The section should focus on capital assets that were purchased within the reference period.

Section B (on employment and compensation) should be reviewed, especially for respondents with agricultural production. This created confusion because while the questionnaires adopted the 6-month reference period for agriculture, Section B asked information to be expressed on a monthly basis, which restricts the straightforward estimation of value added of agriculture using the income approach.

On recommendations for improving the survey operations

Enumerators' and supervisors' training should also focus on the peculiarities of informal employment and the informal sector in comparison to the general profile of the labor market. In particular, they should be trained to properly identify the different types of economic activities in the informal sector. Sometimes, it is very difficult to differentiate between agricultural and non-agricultural activities; for instance, when respondents produce milk, meat, or when they engaged in trade of agricultural products.

The experiences also showed that it is very difficult for enumerators who specialize in living conditions-type surveys to carry out questionnaires related to national accounts estimation. Thus, it is recommended to have special enumerators trained in national accounts concepts and issues to facilitate the questionnaires related to the informal sector. As the procedure of filling out the ILCS questionnaire usually entails several visits to a household, these specially trained enumerators may join usual enumerators during their last visit to the household if that household's expanded LFS questionnaire shows that they have HUEM activity.

Having a complete representation of all types of activities in the informal sector in the survey is difficult. The ISS 2009 did not have adequate coverage of some activities, such as fishery, real estate, and business services activities, among others. To minimize this type of problem, all HUEMs defined during first stage of survey must be surveyed (instead of applying sampling in rural areas as done during 2009 survey), if resources are sufficient. Otherwise, the survey design can be revisited to improve the stratification of sampling units. Another possible cause of this problem is the difficulty encountered in identifying or evaluating whether the enterprises owned by the respondents are HUEMs. To solve this problem, enumerators and supervisors must be trained on classifying of types of economic activities.

On recommendations for improving the estimation methodology

The formulated methodology for estimating informal employment and contribution of informal sector is expected to become one of the valuable sources of informal sector statistics. Improving the methodology is a continuous process. With the help of experts from international and national organizations (whom the NSSRA has personal contact with), the NSSRA will review the estimation methodology of informal employment and informal sector. The methodology learned through the Regional Technical Assistance (RETA) 6430: Measuring the Informal Sector funded by the Asian Development Bank should also be presented to the NSSRA experts who may be involved in estimating informal employment and other informal sector statistics.

On recommendations related to dissemination

The NSSRA will follow general dissemination policy in the publication of data received from surveys on informal employment and informal sector. These data will be incorporated into regular special publications on employment and national accounts statistics, with additional chapters providing detailed results on the informal economy. The general survey results in metadata form will also be published. In addition, these informal sector statistics will be published in the Statistical Yearbook of Armenia, along with estimates of employment and national accounts indicators. Further, similar to other surveys conducted by the NSSRA, researchers who will be interested to carry out in-depth analyses of the informal economy may also request for a copy of the data from the NSSRA.

Appendix 1 Concepts and Definitions

Basic Concepts (Definitions)

The concepts presented are mainly based on the definitions and principles recommended by the International Labour Organization (ILO), taking into account the peculiarities of their application in Armenia (comprehensive clarification and footnotes are provided).

- Economically active population (labor force)-the employed and unemployed population, aged 15-75 years, during the reference period who forms the labor force.
- Economically inactive population people between ages 15–75 years who are not considered among the labor force.
- 3. Labor resources sum of economically active and inactive population.
- Economic activity rate (Labor force participation rate) – proportion of economically active population to total labor resources.
- 5. Employment rate proportion of employed population to total labor resources.
- 6. Unemployment rate proportion of unemployed to total economically active population.
- 7. Farm as legal status The activities implemented in farms are considered to be informal. The majority of those employed in agriculture in Armenia have no organizational and legal statuses, therefore they are considered informally employed based on the ILO methodology. From the institutional point of view, these employed persons are classified to the informal sector of the economy, stipulated by the absence of institutional–organizational and legal status.

Concepts and Definitions for Informal Employment (Discussions were lifted from the ADB Handbook on Using the Mixed Survey in Measuring the Informal Employment and Informal Sector)

For an internationally comparable definition of informal employment in Armenia, classification of the employed population was primarily based on the Fifteenth (15th) and Seventeenth (17th) International Conference of Labour Statisticians (ICLS) guidelines. The 15th ICLS conceptualized the informal sector as

- (1) The informal sector may be broadly characterized as consisting of units engaged in the production of goods or services with the primary objective of generating employment and incomes to the persons concerned. These units typically operate at a low level of organization, with little or no division between labor and capital as factors of production and on a small scale. Labor relations—where they exist—are based mostly on casual employment, kinship or personal and social relations rather than contractual arrangements with formal guarantees.
- (2) Production units of the informal sector have the characteristic features of household enterprises. The fixed and other assets used do not belong to the production units as such but to their owners. The units as such cannot engage in transactions or enter into contracts with other units, nor incur liabilities, on their own behalf. The owners have to raise the necessary finance at their own risk and are personally liable, without limit, for any debts or obligations incurred in the production process. Expenditure for production is often indistinguishable from household expenditure. Similarly, capital goods such as buildings or vehicles may be used indistinguishably for business and household purposes.

		Jobs by status in employment									
Production units	Own-account workers Employers		Contributing (unpaid) family workers	Employees		Members of producers', consumers' cooperatives					
by type	Informal	Formal	Informal	Formal	Informal	Informal	Formal	Informal	Formal		
Formal sector enterprises					1	2					
Informal sector enterprises ^a	3		4		5	6	7*	8			
Households ^b	9				**	10					

Figure A1.1 17th ICLS Conceptual Framework on Informal Employment¹

¹ The framework was modified according to its application in Armenia.

* The phenomenon is a typical for labor market: in Armenia, formal employment only exists in formal enterprises.

** This category is not provided by methodology developed by International Labour Organization, but has been included because of prevalence on labor market of Armenia.

^a As defined by the Fifteenth International Conference of Labour Statisticians (excluding households employing paid domestic workers).

^b Households producing goods exclusively for their own final use and households employing paid domestic workers.

Sources: 17th ICLS Final Report and Hussmann, R. 2004a.

(3) Activities performed by production units of the informal sector are not necessarily performed with the deliberate intention of evading the payment of taxes or social security contributions, or infringing labour or other legislations or administrative provisions. Accordingly, the concept of informal sector activities should be distinguished from the concept of activities of the hidden or underground economy.

According to the 17th ICLS final report, "since the adoption of the resolution concerning statistics of employment in the informal sector by the 15th ICLS in 1993, and the inclusion in the System of National Accounts, 1993, of the 15th ICLS informal sector definition, it had been recommended by the Expert Group on Informal Sector Statistics (Delhi Group) and others that the definition and measurement of employment in the informal sector should be complemented with a definition and measurement of informal employment". Hence, the conceptual framework on informal employment developed by the ILO linked the enterprise-based concept of employment in the informal sector with a broader, job-based concept of informal employment (Appendix 1, Figure A1.1). As a result, clear delineations among ii) employment in the informal economy; ii) informal employment; iii) employment in the informal sector; and iv) informal employment outside the informal sector were established.

While the concept of informal sector refers to production units as observation units, the concept

of informal employment refers to jobs as observation units. The framework above also applied, for the purpose of statistics on informal employment, the 15th ICLS resolution that excludes households employing paid domestic workers from informal sector enterprises, and to treat them separately as part of a category named "households". On the other hand, informal employment comprises the total number of informal jobs whether carried out in formal sector enterprises, informal sector enterprises, or households, during a given reference period.

Hence, given the conceptual framework, informal employment includes

- (i) own-account workers and employers employed in their own informal sector enterprises (cells 3 and 4) – The employment situation of ownaccount workers and employers can hardly be separated from the type of enterprise, which they own. The informal nature of their jobs follows thus directly from the characteristics of the enterprise.
- (ii) contributing family workers, irrespective of whether they work in formal or informal sector enterprises (cells 1 and 5³²) – The informal nature of their jobs is due to the fact that contributing

³² Contributing (unpaid) family workers who produced goods for own final consumption into primary job were considered as employed in household, if the produced goods comprised the significant share in the consumption of household.

family workers usually do not have explicit, written contracts of employment, and that usually their employment is not subject to labor legislation, social security regulations, collective agreements, etc.

- (iii) members of informal producers' cooperatives
 (cell 8) The informal nature of their jobs
 follows directly from the characteristics of the
 cooperative of which they are members.
- (iv) employees holding informal jobs in formal sector enterprises, informal sector enterprises, or as paid domestic workers employed by households (cells 2, 6, and 10) - Employees are considered to have informal jobs if their employment relationship is, in law or in practice, not subject to national labor legislation, income taxation, social protection, or entitlement to certain employment benefits (advance notice of dismissal, severance pay, paid annual or sick leave, etc.) for reasons, such as no declaration of the jobs or the employees; casual jobs or jobs of a limited short duration; jobs with hours of work or wages below a specified threshold (e.g., for social security contributions); employment by unincorporated enterprises or by persons in households; jobs where the employee's place of work is outside the premises of the employer's enterprise (e.g., outworkers without employment contract); or jobs, for which labor regulations are not applied, not enforced, or not complied with for any other reason.
- (v) own-account workers engaged in the production of goods exclusively for own final use by their household (cell 9).

The framework also presents the important information of informal employment outside the informal sector, which is comprised by the following types of jobs:

- employees holding informal jobs (as defined in paragraph 3(5) above) in formal sector enterprises (cell 2) or as paid domestic workers employed by households (cell 10);
- (ii) contributing family workers working in formal sector enterprises (cell 1); and

- (iii) own-account workers engaged in the production of goods exclusively for own final use by their household (cell 9), if considered employed according to the resolution concerning statistics of the economically active population, employment, unemployment, and underemployment adopted by the 13th ICLS;
- (iv) contributing family workers engaged in the production of goods exclusively for own final use by their household in primary job, if the produced goods comprised the significant share in the consumption of household.

One significant idea to consider in analyzing the nature of employment is whether informality pertains to persons or jobs. According to the 15th and 17th ICLS, employment in the informal sector is defined as,

"comprising all jobs in informal sector enterprises, or all persons who, during a given reference period, were employed in at least one informal sector enterprise, irrespective of their status in employment and whether it was their main or a secondary job A person can simultaneously have two or more formal and/or informal jobs. Due to the existence of such multiple jobholding, jobs rather than employed persons were taken as the observation units for employment ... informal employment as comprising the total number of informal jobs, whether carried out in formal sector enterprises, informal sector enterprises, or households, during a given reference period" (Hussmann 2004a and 2004b).

Additional concepts have also been introduced by organizations dedicated to endeavors pertaining to the informal economy and informal employment, such as the Women in Informal Employment: Globalizing and Organizing (WIEGO). According to one of the known affiliates of WIEGO, Martha Chen, in her paper entitled, "Rethinking the Informal Economy: Linkages with the Formal Economy and the Formal Regulatory Environment," while the informal economy consists of a range of informal enterprises and informal jobs, it can still be segmented into the following:

1. *Self-employment in informal enterprises:* workers in small unregistered or unincorporated enterprises, including

- employers
- own-account operators: both heads of family enterprises and single person operators
- unpaid family workers
- 2. Wage employment in informal jobs: workers without worker benefits or social protection who work for formal or informal firms, for households or with no fixed employer, including
 - employees of informal enterprises or other informal wage workers, such as
 - casual or day laborers
 - domestic workers
 - unregistered or undeclared workers
 - some temporary or part-time workers
 - industrial outworkers (also called homeworkers)

Research also showed distinct characteristics of the informal economy in terms of income earnings and sex of workers. Chen (2007) depicted this in an "iceberg" segmentation of the informal economy, which illustrates the significant gaps in earnings within the informal economy and general patterns in menwomen employment ratios (shown in Appendix 1, Figure A1.2). Given that the figure represents increasing earnings toward the top, it shows that employers have the highest earnings, followed by their employees and other more "regular" informal wage workers, own-account operators, "casual" informal wage workers, and industrial outworkers. Meanwhile, it also demonstrates that, in general, men are likely to be overrepresented in the top segment while women tend to be overrepresented in the bottom

Figure A1.2 Segmentation of the Informal Economy



Note: The informal economy may also be segmented by race, ethnicity, or region.

Source: Chen 2007.

segments. However, the shares of men and women in the intermediate segments vary across sectors. These concepts ultimately point to the significant gender disparity in earnings within the informal economy, with men having the advantage over women.

The concepts and ideas presented are the chief considerations applied in the estimation and analysis of informal employment in Armenia, using the 2009 expanded Integrated Living Conditions Survey and Informal Sector Survey or Household Unincorporated Enterprises with at least Some Market Production (HUEM) Survey.

Appendix 2 Cost-Effective Sampling Design for the Informal Sector

The Mixed Survey: Overview (Discussions are lifted verbatim from Maligalig, D., 2010.)

On the basis of the definitions of the informal sector that were agreed at the 15th International Conference of Labour Statisticians (ICLS), there are two types of informal sector production units: informal own-account enterprises and enterprises of informal employers. Both these types of informal production units are owned by households, and since the operations of these enterprises are not easily distinguishable from those of the households that own them, a household survey has an advantage in identifying these production units. How can this be done? Respondent households have to be screened for these enterprises following the dichotomy presented in Appendix 2, Figure A2.1. Those household enterprises that are producing at least some goods and services for the market and belonging either in the agricultural or non-agricultural informal sectors will be the target sampling units. These are called household unincorporated enterprises with at least some market production (HUEMs).

The mixed survey approach utilizes a household survey in the first phase to identify the HUEMs, some of which will be sampled for the second phase survey or the HUEM survey. Since the labor force survey's (LFS) ultimate sampling units are the adults in sampled

Household Enterprises							
Producing at least some goods and services for market			some s for	Producing goods and services for own final use			
Non-agi	ricultural	Agric	ultural	Goods	Services		
Formal sector	Informal sector	Formal Informal sector		Agriculture, forestry, fishing	Paid domestic services		
				Other activities	Owner occupied dwelling services		

Household Unincorporated Enterprises with at least some Market Production $(\ensuremath{\mathsf{HUEMs}})$

households and its questions are mostly on labor and employment, LFS is the most appropriate household survey to use for the first phase. Also, LFS is the most frequently conducted household survey and hence, informal employment statistics will be up to date. LFS is expanded by adding questions to identify HUEMs, informal enterprises, informal employment, benefits received, and working conditions of workers.



Modified from Gennari, P., M. Guerrero, and Z. Orhun. 2009.

Figure A2.2 Mixed Survey Approach

The graphical description of the mixed survey approach is shown in Appendix 2, Figure A2.2. Phase 1 or the expanded LFS contains additional guestions that can be classified into three categories, namely, 1) informal employment module, 2) informal sector enterprise module, and 3) HUEM identification module. The informal employment module will determine the extent of informal employment by distinguishing the informal from the formal workers. The data to be collected will be used to analyze the characteristics of the informal workers, available social protection mechanisms, and working conditions. This module, when combined with the informal enterprise module, will further enrich the examination by determining informal employment in the informal sector. The informal sector enterprise module will determine if the enterprise/establishment of a respondent worker is informal or not. This is significant since the concept of informal employment also covers the people working in the formal sector who are informally employed. The HUEM identification module determines the existence of a probable HUEM in the household and identifies the respondent in phase 2 of the survey. Meanwhile, phase 2 concentrates on the enterprise and its production, providing relevant information on the informal sector's contribution to the country's economic output or the gross domestic product.

The HUEMs that were identified in the second phase will be used as the sampling frame for the phase 2 survey. Hence, the cost of listing operations, which could be very large because small production units are difficult to identify, will not be incurred, and the second phase—the HUEM survey—will still maintain a probability sample design.

Sampling Design of Phase 2 in the Mixed Survey

The mixed survey is a variant of double phase sampling in which the second phase survey is usually a subset of the first phase sample and hence, both phases have the same ultimate sampling units. In the case of the mixed survey, however, the sampling units differ with households/individuals in the LFS or phase 1 and HUEMs in the second phase. The LFS is usually designed such that all the relevant geographical areas and household social/income classes are well represented. However, there is no mechanism that has been incorporated in the LFS design that ensures that all sectors of national accounts will be well represented in phase 2. Some sectors may be overrepresented and some, with very few HUEMs. Hence, the strategy might result in less-efficient estimates than those from independent informal sector surveys in which the sampling frame of HUEMs is the result of listing operations conducted solely for that purpose. It is, therefore, important that the phase 2 sample be carefully designed to address this issue.

Another issue that has to be considered in designing the second phase survey is the high turnover of HUEMs. To control for unit non-response (e.g., cannot be located, closed) in the second-phase HUEM survey, the interval between the two phases should be kept short. In fact, survey operations can be designed such that the two phases can be done almost simultaneously. This would not only reduce the ineligible HUEMs and those that cannot be located but would also save some travel costs for the enumerators and the supervisors. This, of course, is straightforward if all the HUEMs that are identified in the LFS will also be enumerated in the HUEM survey. Otherwise, reliable auxiliary information from previous survey is needed. For example, if the sample primary sampling units (PSUs) in the LFS are the same or very similar in previous surveys, the distribution of "own-accounts" and self-employed individuals in the survey can be a good auxiliary variable that can be used as a measure of size or stratification variable in subsampling PSUs.

To implement the simultaneous field operations, there are several options in designing the second phase: (i) a subsample of the PSUs of the household sample survey can be taken, in which all the informal sector units will be enumerated; (ii) a subsample of the HUEMs that were identified will be interviewed for the second phase survey; and (iii) all HUEMs that have been identified will be interviewed. Decision on which is the most appropriate variation depends on the following conditions: (i) availability of auxiliary information from previous survey results, (ii) budget limitations, and (iii) skill level of enumerators and field supervisors.

A subsample of PSUs may be drawn prior to the survey if relevant auxiliary information is available. For example, if the distribution of "own-account" or self-employed individuals by sector (of national accounts) are available for each domain, then PSUs can be selected accordingly. Subsampling HUEMs for the second phase would usually require another field operation because to subsample, a list frame is needed and, hence, results of the first phase must first be processed. Furthermore, since the HUEMs are likely not distributed evenly across geographical areas, balancing the workload of field operation staff will be more challenging. Subsampling HUEMs in simultaneous phase 1 and 2 operations can be implemented only if the enumerators and field supervisors are adept in screening the HUEMs and are able to apply the correct sampling fractions. The third option is the easiest to implement but would require a large budget since the sample size is not controlled at the onset. It could turn out that the sample size will be very large and may require longer enumeration period and more human resources to complete. Also, the number of questionnaires that have to be printed will be quite large. And there is no mechanism for making the workload among enumerators equitable.

In the case of Armenia, a fresh set of PSUs is selected for each survey round so that previous survey rounds cannot provide good information about industry classification of PSUs for the next survey round. Hence, there is no available auxiliary variable

Table A2.1PSU Distribution for Phases 1and 2 of the Informal Sector Survey: Armenia

Marz (Province)	Settlement	No. of PSUs in Phase 1: ILCS	No. of PSUs in Phase 2
Yerevan	Urban	168	168
Aragatsotn	Other urban	12	12
	Rural	48	8
	Urban	12	12
Ararat	Other urban	12	12
	Rural	48	8
	Urban	36	36
Armavir	Other urban	12	12
	Rural	48	8
	Urban	36	36
Gegharkunik	Other urban	12	12
	Rural	48	8
	Urban	24	24
Lori	Other urban	24	24
	Rural	48	8
	Urban	24	24
Kotayk	Other urban	12	12
	Rural	48	8
	Urban	36	36
Shirak	Other urban	12	12
	Rural	48	8
	Urban	36	36
Syunik	Other urban	12	12
	Rural	24	4
	Urban	24	24
Vayots Dzor	Other urban	24	24
	Rural	24	4
Tavush	Other urban	12	12
	Rural	48	8
	Urban	12	12
Total		984	624

ILCS = Integrated Living Conditions Survey; PSU = primary sampling unit.

that can be used in applying the dominant/sparse sector rule. Only the design variables are the auxiliary variables that are common to all survey rounds. These are the *marz* (province) and urban/rural classification. For this country, PSUs were subsampled according to the urban/rural stratification. It was assumed that PSUs in the rural areas will have mostly agriculture HUEMs and since, agriculture HUEMs are the most prevalent in these countries, only PSUs in the rural areas were subsampled. The distributions of sample PSUs across domains for Armenia are shown in Appendix 2, Table A2.1.

The survey weight for the phase 2 survey is the product of the survey weights in phase 1 and the inverse of the selection probability of the sampled PSU. The survey weights of respondents in phase 1 are well known since phase 1 is usually the expanded LFS or, in the case of Armenia, the Integrated Living Conditions Survey (ILCS). For a HUEM in either the urban or other urban areas, its survey weight will be equal to the survey weight of the respondent household to which it belongs in the first phase (ILCS) since the selection probability of all sample PSUs in urban or other urban areas for phase 2 is 1. The selection probability of a PSU in a rural area is 1/6 and, hence, the survey weight for phase 2 of a HUEM in the rural areas in Armenia is 6 times the survey weight of the households that owned it in ILCS.

Note that the initial survey weight of all HUEMs in a specific PSU will be uniform regardless of the current sectors of the HUEMs. For example, if a HUEM is in the finance sector but is found in a PSU that has been classified under rural area, that HUEM will have a survey weight of 6 for phase 2.

2009 ILCS Section D and the Informal Sector Survey Form

Armenia Section D of the 2009 ILCS was modified to incorporate queries related to formal and informal employment, as well as items concerning the characteristics of enterprises. Hence, this section of the questionnaire, which deals with labor and employment, was "expanded" to gather sufficient information for identifying informal employment and the informal sector. This is considered the first phase of the mixed survey approach. Meanwhile, the ISS Form or the HUEM survey is considered the phase 2.

Section D, ILCS (Phase 1) Questionnaire	This is the questionnaire which was used to record information about the household members who are 15–75 years old. In this form, the employed and unemployed were identified and, among the employed population, the following information were gathered: Employment Status; Terms of Employment; Benefits, such as social security contribution, paid leave, maternity/paternity leave, paid sick leave, and termination of employment; Place of Work; Industry of Enterprise; Legal Organization of Enterprise; Employment Size of Enterprise; Registration of Enterprise; Bookkeeping and Accounting Practices of Enterprise; and Market Production of Enterprise.
ISS Form or HUEM Survey (Phase 2) Questionnaire	This questionnaire records information about HUEMs, such as Identification and General Information; Organization and Status of Business; Employment and Compensation; Production and Sale; Expenditures on Raw Material and Stocks; Capital Expenditure; and Credit Information. The respondents for this form are either employers or own- account workers who are owners of the HUEM.

The objectives of the expanded Section D (Phase 1) Questionnaire are to

- Identify and construct a sampling frame of household unincorporated enterprises with at least some market production (HUEMs) among the enterprises in which employed persons work;
- Provide data for estimating employment in informal sector enterprises; and
- Provide data for estimating total informal employment.

In this document, the questionnaire items relating to each of these objectives are grouped into two modules—a module on the primary and second jobs, where queries relating to employment statuses, and enterprises, such as registration, bookkeeping practices, and employment size, are presented. The second module identifies the HUEMs and contains the four vital criteria for evaluation.

The primary purpose of the ISS Form (HUEM) Questionnaire is to generate data that can be a direct measure of informal production activities. The results of the HUEM Survey will provide the basis for estimating the <u>benchmark</u> gross value added (GVA) for the informal sector, and thus, measure its contribution to the gross domestic product (GDP) of the country. The HUEM Survey is meant to provide the data specifically for the informal sector.

The ISS Form 2 has seven (7) sections:

- A. Organization of Business
- B. Employment and Compensation
- C. Production, Inventory, and Sale

- D. Expenditures on Raw Materials and Stock
- E. Capital Expenditures
- F. Banks, Micro-Finance Services, and Other Support Structure
- G. Problems and Prospects

Screening of HUEM Survey Respondents

The mixed survey approach administered in Armenia utilized the Section D of ILCS 2009 in the first phase to screen the respondents for the second phase or the HUEM survey. The following questionnaire items from Section D were used to identify the potential HUEMs, whose owners were interviewed in the next phase: 1) employment status, 2) legal status, 3) marketed production, and 4) business records or accounts.

Meanwhile, the conditions presented in Table A2.2 were applied to determine whether or not the enterprise is a potential HUEM.

Those respondents that satisfied these conditions were evaluated as either owning or working in a potential HUEM and, therefore, were interviewed for the HUEM survey. This assessment was conducted for all the respondents and job numbers. It was necessary that all jobs—whether primary or secondary and regardless if it is the same respondent or notwere screened for the HUEM survey. For example, an employed person may be a formal employee, working as a regular bus driver in a company (his main job), but may also be working as a carpet maker (his second job). Thus, he can be considered as an own-account worker in this other job. If he receives payment for the carpets he sells, and the legal status of his business is single proprietorship with no business records or accounts, then his business is a potential HUEM.

Employment Status		Legal Status		Marketed Production		Business Records or Accounts
Employer		Individual business				No written accounts
Own-account worker		Partnership				Informal records for personal use
in farms	&	Farm	&	Yes	&	
Other own-account		Others				Simplified accounting format required for tax
worker		Do not know				payment

Table A2.2 HUEM Decision Matrix

HUEM = household unincorporated enterprise with at least some market production.

These considerations were applied in the HUEM surveys conducted; thus, a person with the described characteristics was a respondent in this phase.

It should be noted that, as a rule, the respondent interviewed for the HUEM survey was the owner of

the enterprise. This is a strict condition implemented because the respondent must have extensive knowledge of the revenues and expenditures, as well as the production process of the enterprise, to be able to answer the HUEM questionnaire.

Appendix 3 Sampling Errors

		Linearized		
Employment Status	Proportion	Standard Error	95% Confid	ence Interval
Employee with a written contract (long-term)	0.3937	0.0103	0.3735	0.4139
Employee with a written contract (short-term)	0.0664	0.0044	0.0579	0.0750
Employee with verbal agreement	0.0927	0.0055	0.0818	0.1035
Employer	0.0053	0.0010	0.0034	0.0073
Own-account workers in farm	0.2183	0.0065	0.2056	0.2311
Other own-account workers	0.0446	0.0041	0.0366	0.0527
Unpaid worker/ family member	0.1786	0.0087	0.1616	0.1956
Member of the production cooperative	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0001
Others	0.0002	0.0002	-0.0002	0.0007

Table A3.1 Distribution of Jobs by Employment Status

Table A3.2 Number of Jobs by Employment Status

		Linearized		
Employment Status	Total	Standard Error	95% Confid	ence Interval
Employee with a written contract (long-term)	469,870	11,601	447,102	492,637
Employee with a written contract (short-term)	79,298	5,030	69,427	89,169
Employee with verbal agreement	110,577	6,707	97,416	123,739
Employer	6,384	1,152	4,123	8,646
Own-account workers in farm	260,593	14,259	232,610	288,575
Other own-account workers	53,262	5,138	43,178	63,346
Unpaid worker/ family member	213,160	15,151	183,426	242,894
Member of the production cooperative	44	26	-7	96
Others	284	259	-225	792

Table A3.3 Distribution of Jobs by Industry

		Linearized			
Industry	Proportion	Standard Error	95% Confidence Interval		
Agriculture, hunting, and forestry	0.4104	0.0131	0.3847	0.4361	
Fishing	0.0002	0.0001	-0.0001	0.0004	
Mining and quarrying	0.0081	0.0013	0.0054	0.0107	
Manufacturing	0.0583	0.0037	0.0511	0.0655	
Electricity, gas, and water supply	0.0295	0.0025	0.0246	0.0344	
Construction	0.0694	0.0044	0.0609	0.0780	
Wholesale and retail trade; repairs	0.0817	0.0053	0.0713	0.0920	
Hotels and restaurants	0.0109	0.0015	0.0080	0.0138	
Transport, storage, and communications	0.0548	0.0038	0.0474	0.0622	
Financial intermediation	0.0109	0.0015	0.0079	0.0140	
Real estate, renting, and business activities	0.0075	0.0013	0.0050	0.0100	
Public administration and defense	0.0649	0.0035	0.0580	0.0718	
Education	0.0909	0.0043	0.0825	0.0993	
Health and social work	0.0518	0.0035	0.0449	0.0587	
Other community, social, and personal services	0.0450	0.0037	0.0377	0.0523	
Private households employing domestic employees	0.0037	0.0008	0.0021	0.0053	
Extraterritorial organizations	0.0019	0.0006	0.0007	0.0031	

Industry	Total	Linearized Standard Error	95% Confid	ence Interval
Agriculture, hunting, and forestry	489,901	28,382	434,201	545,601
Fishing	224	151	-72	520
Mining and quarrying	9,652	1,599	6,513	12,790
Manufacturing	69,589	4,296	61,158	78,019
Electricity, gas, and water supply	35,208	3,013	29,295	41,122
Construction	82,892	5,410	72,274	93,510
Wholesale and retail trade; repairs	97,486	6,055	85,603	109,368
Hotels and restaurants	13,053	1,738	9,643	16,464
Transport, storage, and communications	65,419	4,318	56,945	73,893
Financial intermediation	13,058	1,830	9,466	16,650
Real estate, renting, and business activities	8,913	1,502	5,965	11,860
Public administration and defense	77,519	4,435	68,815	86,223
Education	108,510	5,471	97,773	119,247
Health and social work	61,850	4,038	53,926	69,774
Other community, social, and personal services	53,693	4,409	45,040	62,347
Private households employing domestic employees	4,436	951	2,571	6,302
Extraterritorial organizations	2,291	733	852	3,729

Table A3.4 Number of Jobs by Industry

Table A3.5Proportion of Informal Jobs by Marz

		Linearized	0E% Confidence	
Marz	Proportion	Error	95% Confidence Interval	
Yerevan	0.1930	0.0167	0.1602	0.2257
Aragatsotn	0.7422	0.0247	0.6937	0.7907
Ararat	0.7269	0.0224	0.6829	0.7709
Armavir	0.7517	0.0293	0.6941	0.8093
Gegharkunik	0.7090	0.0247	0.6606	0.7575
Lori	0.5995	0.0365	0.5278	0.6712
Kotayk	0.5319	0.0278	0.4774	0.5864
Shirak	0.5662	0.0365	0.4946	0.6377
Syunik	0.5025	0.0540	0.3966	0.6084
Vayots Dzor	0.5989	0.0372	0.5260	0.6718
Tavush	0.7226	0.0229	0.6777	0.7675

Table A3.6 Number of Informal Jobs by Marz

Marz	Total	Linearized Standard Error	95% Confidence Interval	
Yerevan	65,459	5,994	53,697	77,222
Aragatsotn	48,823	7,615	33,879	63,768
Ararat	92,284	11,598	69,523	115,046
Armavir	85,624	14,991	56,204	115,044
Gegharkunik	66,228	10,969	44,702	87,754
Lori	64,192	10,076	44,417	83,967
Kotayk	53,188	6,405	40,619	65,757
Shirak	48,947	8,820	31,637	66,257
Syunik	34,244	8,320	17,917	50,572
Vayots Dzor	14,684	2,517	9,744	19,624
Tavush	49,128	7,658	34,099	64,157

Table A3.7 Proportion of Workers Who Receive Benefits

Benefits	Proportion	Linearized Standard Error	95% Cor Inte	nfidence erval
Does your employer pay contributions to the legislated pension fund for you?	0.7547	0.0114	0.7324	0.7771
Do you benefit from paid annual leave/holiday leave or from compensation instead of it?	0.6159	0.0123	0.5917	0.6401
In case of incapacity to work due to health reasons, would you benefit from paid sick leave?	0.6135	0.0120	0.5900	0.6370
In case of birth of a child, would you be given the opportunity to benefit from maternity leave?	0.2388	0.0085	0.2221	0.2556
Unless there is due cause, could your employment be terminated by your employer without advance notice?	0.1364	0.0084	0.1199	0.1528

Table A3.8 Number of Workers Who Receive Benefits

Benefits	Total	Linearized Standard Error	95% Co Inte	nfidence rval
Does your employer pay contributions to the legislated pension fund for you?	495,383	12,314	471,215	519,552
Do you benefit from paid annual leave/holiday leave or from compensation instead of it?	404,252	11,649	381,390	427,115
In case of incapacity to work due to health reasons, would you benefit from paid sick leave?	402,682	11,627	379,862	425,502
In case of birth of a child, would you be given the opportunity to benefit from maternity leave?	156,755	6,630	143,742	169,767
Unless there is due cause, could your employment be terminated by your employer without advance notice?	89,510	5,914	77,902	101,118

Appendix 4 Measuring Informal Employment and Informal Enterprises

(Discussions were lifted from CHAPTER 3 of the ADB Handbook on Using the Mixed Survey on Measuring Informal Employment and the Informal Sector)

Informal Employment

Classifying informal employment using the Informal Sector Survey (ISS) data entailed determining the characteristics of the dataset itself and then applying the International Conference of Labour Statisticians (ICLS) concepts and definitions in consideration of these characteristics. The significance of this type of dataset analysis was acquired from Maligalig et al.'s (2008) results in identifying informal employment in Bangladesh using the 2005–2006 Labor Force Survey (LFS). The methodology developed, that is crosstabulating variables to determine the properties of the dataset, as well as identify the relationships among them, is also an appropriate process to apply in the expanded Section D of the ICLS of Armenia. Through the series of cross tabulations, the survey questions were examined, the responses validated, and reliable variables to apply in the informal employment decision matrix were identified. The combination of questions used for the cross tabulation analysis is shown in Appendix 4, Table A4.1.

The cross tabulations described the type of dataset and the potential variables to consider for the informal employment decision matrix. However, it should be first noted that the dataset of the Armenia 2009 Integrated Living Conditions Survey (ILCS) Section D is divided into two types of variables: one pertains to the primary job, while the other to the second or other jobs. Thus, by person analysis, the employed population is equal to 12,180 (unweighted) while by job analysis, the number of observations reached 12,679. Since the employment status categories of Armenia already incorporate the concept of employment contract, the variable is no

Table A4.1Combination of Questions from the 2009 Section D of ILCS Used for the CrossTabulation Analysis

Question	Description		Question	Description
Q.8	Employment status	versus	Q.9	Type of enterprise
Q.8	Employment status	versus	Q.10	Legal status of enterprise
Q.8	Employment status	versus	Q.43	Bookkeeping practice
Q.8	Employment status	versus	Q.7	Place of work
Q.8	Employment status	versus	Q.34	Type of payslip
Q.8	Employment status	versus	Q.27	Market enterprise (sell goods or services)
Q.8	Employment status	versus	Q.45	Registration of enterprise
Q.7	Place of work	versus	Q.9	Type of enterprise
Q.7	Place of work	versus	Q.10	Legal status of enterprise
Q.7	Place of work	versus	Q.45	Registration of enterprise
Q.43	Bookkeeping practice	versus	Q.45	Registration of enterprise
Q.43	Bookkeeping practice	versus	Q.10	Legal status of enterprise
Q.10	Legal status of enterprise	versus	Q.45	Registration of enterprise
Q.10	Legal status of enterprise	versus	Q.34	Type of payslip

ILCS = Integrated Living Conditions Survey.

longer a separate item in the questionnaire. Moreover, given that the employee statuses explicitly identify the type of contract or agreement they are engaged in, it is concluded that there is no employee in Armenia without any kind of contract, written, or verbal.

The significance of the methodology described in Appendix 4, Table A4.1 is the determination of the characteristics and properties of the dataset. To illustrate, cross tabulation of the employment status and legal status generally showed consistent relationships between the different answer choices. But experience from the Indonesia ISS showed that it is important to completely understand the definitions of answer items, especially if they manifest some inconsistencies with the usual known concepts. Thus, this experience should be applied in analyzing the dataset of Armenia. In this case, there are a number of own-account workers who identified their businesses to be joint-stock companies or corporations. Hence, the use and definition of joint-stock company or corporation in Armenia must be clarified to determine whether this situation is really an inconsistency in the data or is actually an acceptable case. The same argument is applied to those own-account observations who identified the registered cooperative as the legal status of their production unit.

There are also instances when combinations of three or four variables were cross-tabulated to further validate the inconsistencies and understand their source. For example, to learn more about these own-account workers (working in companies and registered cooperatives), the employment size of their enterprises and their workplaces were crosstabulated. Results suggest two types of situations. Either the corporation/company answer choice was misinterpreted by respondents since most of them say that the employment size of the establishment is only less than five, or there is a different definition and concept (than the usual) for corporation or company in Armenia. With regard to the workplace, it is unfortunate that the factory choice was lumped with the office, workshop, and kiosk items, since this cannot be used to verify whether the identified employment size is consistent with the place of work. On the other hand, cross tabulation of employment status and type of enterprise suggests a clean dataset. The tables also illustrate that all employments with the government is covered by written contracts, whether the arrangement is short or long term. In addition, no employer or own-account worker identified any government agency/organization or nongovernment organization as his/her type of enterprise, as should be the case.

The relationship between bookkeeping and registration of enterprises was also identified through the cross tabulation of variables. All the enterprises with complete bookkeeping-a characteristic associated with formal establishments-are all registered. The same is noted among those with simplified legal accounts. Thus, given the strict implementation of registration in Armenia, this relationship is quite significant, suggesting that a combination of bookkeeping and registration will most likely be among the conditions implemented for identifying formal and informal employment/enterprises among the self-employed. Along this line of thought, the observations that were registered and have either complete bookkeeping or simplified legal accounting practices were further examined to determine if they would manifest inconsistencies with the other variables, such as type of enterprise and legal status. The examination showed that the said observations illustrate characteristics consistent with the concept of formal enterprises.

The whole process of determining the properties of the dataset has led to the assessment that the reliable variables to use in classifying the informality of employment for own-account and employers are the employment status, registration, and bookkeeping practice of the enterprise, with the priority on the following answer choices: 1) no written accounts and 2) informal records. On the other hand, for employees, the employment status was deemed to be a sufficient condition to apply. Meanwhile, the variables evaluated to be good determinants of informal employment are the employment status and legal status (among members of cooperatives), and the employment status and type of enterprise (among other types of workers).

Informal Enterprises

Classification of enterprises requires the application of the ICLS conceptual framework, which identified three types of production units, namely, formal enterprises, informal enterprises, and households. Determining the workers that are employed in households poses a difficulty since no single variable or answer choice from the questionnaire may be used. Typically, this variable is available in the employment status query, like in the Philippines, through the answer choice of "Worked in private households". While Armenia can identify the households using the legal status variable answer choice "Private household employing domestic

Nature of Employment		Employment Status			Legal Status			Type of Enterprise
	1	Employee with long-term written contract						
	2	Employee with short-term written contract						
Formal employment	8	Members of cooperatives	&	2	Registered cooperative			
						1	State-owned	
	90	Others				&	2	Municipals
							3	Nongovernment organizations
	3 Employee with verbal agreement							
	7	Unpaid family worker						
				4	Individual business			
Informal				5	Partnership			
employment	90	Others	&	& 7 Farm		1		
				90	Others			
				98	Don't know			

Table A4.2aDecision Matrix for Determining Formal and Informal Employment: Employees,Unpaid Family Workers, and Members of Cooperatives and Others

staff", this is not sufficient in classifying the other ownaccount workers.

One of the variables critical in identifying the households in Armenia is the query "Does the enterprise you own sell its goods or services?" since households are defined in the framework to be producing exclusively for its own consumption. With the experience in Indonesia, wherein confusion on how to answer the guery occurred resulting in doubtful data, this item was validated repeatedly by the National Statistical Service of the Republic of Armenia (NSSRA). While there were, indeed, some data observations revised due to misinterpretation of the item, these cases were just minimal to affect the reliability of the variable. Moreover, the NSSRA staff was able to validate and correct the data. This exercise, however, revealed one of the customs in Armenia, that is, households (own-account workers in particular) producing for own consumption sometimes hire paid workers. Generally, the workers are paid in kind, like the produce of the farm production.

The cross tabulations also suggested caution in using the payslip variable, and to take into consideration the practice in Armenia (or the lack of it) if it will be applied as one of the conditions. Basically, the provision of payslips is not yet an established norm in Armenia's employment market. In fact, the NSSRA staff themselves only receive simple payslips instead of detailed ones. Hence, while payslips are provided to some employees, the fact that it is not part of the system in Armenia suggests that this variable cannot be reflective of the bookkeeping practices of the establishments to which the employees work at.

The same methodology in determining the decision matrices for formal and informal employment was applied for classification of production units. Results of the cross tabulations were examined and analyzed using the labor concepts, specifically the ILCS ideas. With these, the following assumptions are applied in formulating the informal enterprise decision matrix:

- 1. State-owned, municipals, and nongovernment organizations are automatically considered formal establishments. Since these are available in the enterprise query, this variable will be included among the conditions.
- 2. Given the strict implementation of registration in Armenia, registered cooperatives are considered formal.
- Using the ICLS framework on informal employment definition of households, respondents with the legal status "Private household employing domestic staff" are classified as household production unit.

- 4. Also using the ICLS framework, those producing for own consumption are identified as household production units. Thus, those own-account and employers confirmed to be "not selling" their goods and services are considered households.
- 5. Some own-account workers in Armenia hire some paid workers even if the production is for own consumption. Payment of the workers is typically in kind. In the same manner, some unpaid family workers help in the production activities for own consumption. Given that if the production of the enterprise is for own consumption the unit is classified as household, there will be some cases in Armenia wherein

the production unit of an unpaid family worker will be the household. This is not in accordance with the ICLS framework, which states that unpaid family workers may only exist in formal or informal enterprises. Hence, specific mention of the practice in Armenia should be provided with the estimates.

6. Since the provision of payslips is not a common practice in Armenia, e.g., NSSRA staff only receives simple payslips, this condition will not be applied.

The enterprise decision matrices are illustrated in Appendix 4, Table A4.3a, Table A4.3b, and Table A4.3c.

Table A4.2b	Decision Matrix for Determining Formal and Informal Employment: Own-Account
Workers and	Employers

Nature of Employment		Employment Status			Registration		Вс	ookkeeping
	4	Employer					1	Complete bookkeeping
Formal employment	5	Own-account workers in farm	&	1	Yes	&	2	Simplified legal accounts
	6	Other own-account workers					90	Others
	4	Employer		2	In the process of being registered		2	Informal records
	-	Own-account workers		3	No		5	Informatiecorus
Informal	5	in farm		4	Don't want to answer	0.	4	No writton accounts
employment		Other own account		5	Don't know		4	
	6	Other own-account workers		6	Activity has been implemented in farm		90	Others

Table A4.3aDecision Matrix for Classifying Production Units: Employees, Members ofCooperatives, and Others

Nature of									Se	II Products		
Enterprise		Employment Status	Legal Status				Type of Enterprise and Serv					
	1	Employee with long- term written contract Employee with short-										
E a mar a l	2	term written contract										
Formal	5	Employee with verbal		1	Joint-stock company/ corp		1	State-owned				
enterprises	2	contract	0.	2	Registered cooperative		2	Municipals				
	90	Others		3	Condominium		3	Nongovernment				
								organizations				
	8	Member of cooperative	&	2	Registered cooperative							
				4	Individual business				1	Yes,		
		Employee with verbal	&	5	Partnership				Ľ	regularly		
	3	agreement		7	Farm			&	Yes, from			
				90	90 Others			2	time to			
Informal				98	Don't know					time		
enterprises				4	Individual business			Privately owned				
				5	Partnership		4	enterprise				
	90	Others	&	7	Farm	&		enterprise				
				90	Others		-	Drivata amployor				
				98	Don't know		5	Private employer				
Households	3	Employee with verbal agreement	&	6	Private household employing domestic staff							

Nature of		Employment									ell Products	
Employment		Status	Bookkeeping			Registration					nd Services	
			1 Complete bookkeeping									
	4	Employer	×	2	Simplified legal accounts	8	1	Yes				
Formal			-	90	Otners Complete le cel·luceria e		-			1	Vee assult to	
enterprise	5	5 Own-account workers in farm		2	Simplified legal accounts	&	1	Vas			Yes, from time	
	6	Other own-account workers		90	Others					2	to time	
				2	Informal records		2	In the process of being registered			``````````````````````````````````````	
		Employer					3	No				
	1		8	1	No written accounts	8,	4	Don't want to answer				
	-		10			G	5	Don't know				
Informal				90	Others		6	Activity has been implemented in farm				
enterprise	_	Own-account					2	In the process of being registered				
	5	workers in farm		3	Informal records		3	No		1	Yes, regularly	
			8	1	No writton accounts	8	4	Don't want to answer	8			
	6	Other own-account		-			5	Don't know		2	Yes, from time	
	0	workers		90	Others		6	Activity has been implemented in			to time	
			-				2	In the process of being registered	-	-		
	5	Own-account		3	Informal records		2		1	3	No	
	5	workers in Farm					4	Don't want to answer	1			
Household			&	4	No written accounts	&	5	Don't know				
	6	Other own-account					-	Activity has been implemented in	1	4	Don't know	
		workers		90	Others		6	farm				

Table A4.3bDecision Matrix for Classifying Production Units: Own-Account Workersand Employers

Table A4.3cDecision Matrix for ClassifyingProduction Units: Unpaid Family Workers

Nature of Enterprise		Legal Status	Se	lls I	Products and Services		
Formal	1	Joint-stock company/ corporation					
enterprises	2	Registered cooperative					
	3	Condominium					
	4	Individual business		1	Voc. rogularly		
	5	Partnership			res, regularly		
Informal enterprises	7	Farm	&				
enterprises	90	Others		2	Yes, from time to time		
	98	Don't know					
	4	Individual business		2	No		
	5	Partnership		2			
Households	7	7 Farm					
	90	Others		4	Don't know		
	98	Don't know					

Appendix 5 Estimating the Contribution of the Informal Sector to GDP

(Discussions were lifted from CHAPTER 4 of the *ADB* Handbook on Using the Mixed Survey on Measuring Informal Employment and the Informal Sector)

This section provides an overview discussion of the methodology for estimating the informal sector gross value added (GVA). For detailed discussions, the readers are referred to A Handbook on Using the Mixed Survey for Measuring the Informal Employment and the Informal Sector developed by the Asian Development Bank through the Regional Technical Assistance (RETA) 6430: Measuring the Informal Sector. Details are available in Chapter 4 of the Handbook. While the general principles behind the production and income approaches used in the system of national accounts to estimate GVA still apply in the context of the informal sector, modifications must be applied to some specific processes to be able to effectively capture the economic output of this sector. These adjustments are brought about by a combination of the following: i) the innate characteristics of the informal sector, ii) production patterns and properties of informal enterprises, iii) inefficiencies in the Informal Sector Survey (ISS) Form questionnaires, and iv) lessons learned during the ISS Form 2 survey operations. Due to these varying factors, some adjustments are needed to tie the national accounts concepts with the data collected from the household unincorporated enterprises with at least some market production (HUEM) survey.

5.1 Household Unincorporated Enterprises with at Least Some Market Production

The ISS Form questionnaire was administered to HUEMs, which the regular data collection system of national statistical offices do not cover. These households or units are characterized as having low levels of organization and technology. Moreover, they have an unclear distinction between labor and capital, or between household and production operations, thus are expected to have informal books of accounts for personal use or none at all. They are highly mobile, seasonal, lacking of recognizable features for identification, and are usually reluctant to share information. Moreover, the turnover of these production units is quite fast (Maligalig and Guerrero 2008).

Charmes (2009) cites that HUEMs can be split up into informal and formal subsectors such that the informal subsector can be extracted following the definition³³ of informal sector adopted by each country. In the case of the ISS, the HUEMs served as the starting point for data collection on informal sector enterprises. HUEMs are identified from information gathered in ISS Form 1, following the conditions presented in Appendix 2, Table A2.2: HUEM Decision Matrix. This is similar to the approach adopted in the United Nations' Interregional Cooperation on the Measurement of Informal Sector and Informal Employment. Generally, the concept of HUEMs' coverage is noted to be broader and more internationally comparable for purposes of data collection. Following the operational definition of informal sector enterprises outlined in the 15th International Conference of Labour Statisticians (ICLS) resolution, informal sector enterprises are a subset of HUEMs that can be distinguished from "formal" HUEMs by adopting the criteria of registration and employment size. For detailed discussions, readers may refer to the International Labour Organization's draft Manual on Surveys of Informal Employment and Informal Sector (Chapter 6).

Due to these unique characteristics of the informal sector, specifically the HUEMs', the general

³³ Strictly speaking, if we are to follow the System of National Accounts (SNA) 2008, the coverage of HUEM should not include subsistence households whose primary objective of production is for own-consumption, but may have incidental sales during a specific accounting period.

methodology for estimating the national accounts needs to be adjusted. Moreover, additional assumptions on the different components of GVA may be introduced in consideration of the HUEMs' short and small-scale production cycles, linkages between household and enterprise in terms of labor and capital, HUEM survey questionnaire design, as well as the quality of data collected from the survey. These concerns will be elaborated in the succeeding discussions.

5.2 ISS Form 2 or HUEM Survey Questionnaire: Specific Description

In general, the ISS Form facilitates data collection of the basic components of GVA, with some changes among the three countries covered by the study. For instance, there are some data that are collected in one country but not in the others, prompting the need for imputations which will be discussed later. Table A5 compares the data collected for each of the three countries under the RETA 6430, to which Armenia is a part of.

5.3 GVA Estimation: Production Approach

5.3.1 General Guidelines and Assumptions

As a snapshot, estimating the GVA of the HUEMs assumes the following:

- For simplicity, the major economic activity shall prevail for all HUEMs covered in the survey, that is, primary and secondary outputs are all recorded under the industry of the primary activity.
- Armenia's ISS questionnaire collected both beginning and ending inventories, hence, the change in inventories can be readily estimated.
- Own consumption is assumed constant for all levels of production and business cycle. While own consumption may be adjusted by

households, depending on the production performance (e.g., goods consumed may be lessened when production is at the minimum), changes are assumed to be small as the needs of the households do not vary according to the output of the HUEM.

- Value of own-produced capital assets is already annualized and can be added directly to the obtained annual value of output.
- Given that the production cycle of HUEMs is short, especially those in the non-agriculture sector, it can be assumed that inventories of raw materials are very small and may be approximated to be zero. In other cases, information derived from Input–Output tables and other administrative data may be useful to impute changes in input inventories.
- The inclusion of imputed services, such as services of owner-occupied dwellings, in the estimation of the total informal sector GVA cannot be performed on Armenia as the questionnaire was not modified to accommodate the needed information, unlike in the questionnaires of Bangladesh and Indonesia. Therefore, an alternative methodology is presented for Armenia.
- While fluctuations of output and intermediate input during an entire accounting period tend to point to the same direction, one component may move faster than the other. Hence, this general notion is incorporated in computing for annual GVA. In particular, different approaches are adopted for each component of output and intermediate inputs.

5.3.2 Output

Informal sector enterprises have production and consumption activities that generally overlap. In addition, studies show that enterprises in the informal sector cannot maintain large stock of goods that do not have a ready market. Hence, survival of the informal sector is anchored on the rapid turnover of goods and services.

National Accounts Item	Description	Armenia
Income approach – compensation and operating surplus	 Gathers information on the incomes paid from the production and other components of GVA under the income approach 	Section B, Employment and Compensation (Questions B.1. – B.3.)
Production approach — output	 Information include sales, revenues, inventories, and own consumption of the enterprise from production, either in agriculture or non-agriculture enterprises 	Section C, Production, Inventory and Sale (Questions C.1. – C.9.)
Production approach – intermediate input	 Data gathered are on expenditures on inputs to production incurred by the enterprise, either in agriculture or non-agriculture enterprises 	Section D, Expenditures on Raw Materials and Stock (Questions D.1. – D.3.)
Other variables – gross fixed capital formation	 Consists of items on the types and costs of fixed capital purchases / sold by the enterprise 	Section E, Capital Expenditures (E.1.)
Annualization of GVA estimates	 Records the sales trend of the business that can be utilized to approximate the annual level of production or verify the estimated degree of business activities 	Section C (Question C8)
Production approach – Inventories	Availability of beginning and ending inventories of output	Beginning and ending inventories
Production approach – FISIM	Availability of interest paid and received	Not available
Production approach – services of owner- occupied dwellings	Availability of imputed rent	Not available

Table A5 Contents of the ISS Form 2: Armenia, Bangladesh, and Indonesia

FISIM = financial intermediation services indirectly measured, GVA = gross value added, ISS = informal sector survey.

Given that the ISS Form covers 6 months of agricultural production and that this industry is highly seasonal, it is likely that the survey would have covered outputs that are considered to be *work in progress*. Moreover, the HUEM survey was designed to collect information on the primary components of output, namely, sales, inventories, and own consumption. While all ISS Form of the three countries inquire for these items, they still vary on certain aspects, i.e., inventory (see Appendix 5, Table A5).

5.3.3 Intermediate Inputs

In general, most informal sector enterprises are engaged in labor-intensive production process. Barwa (1995) characterized the mode of operation in the informal sector, which employs a variety of equipment consisting mostly of simple tools that are either second hand or self-constructed. Further, informal sector enterprises largely depend on cheap raw materials that are locally produced and sold as inputs for their production of goods and services.

Conceptually, intermediate inputs³⁴ (or intermediate consumption) consist of the value of the goods and services consumed as inputs by a process of production, excluding fixed assets whose consumption is recorded as consumption of fixed capital (United Nations, 2006). The goods and services may be either transformed or used up by the production process during an accounting period. Some inputs are transformed into new products (e.g., coconut husks are transformed into buff or coconut brush, wood into charcoal, sugarcane into refined sugar). Other inputs, such as electricity and other services, are complete used up. It also includes rentals of equipment or buildings and also fees, commissions, royalties, among others, which are payable under licensing arrangements. Further,

³⁴ Expenditures by enterprise on valuables consisting of work of arts, jewelries, among others, are not considered as intermediate inputs. These do not include costs incurred by the gradual using up of fixed assets owned by the enterprise, treated as consumption of fixed capital in the SNA.

Box 5.1 Estimating Value of Output from the HUEM Survey

Items critical to the estimation of the total output, such as records of sales, revenues, inventories, and own consumption of the household unincorporated enterprises with at least some market production (HUEMs), are available in Section C, Production, Inventory and Sale, of the ISS Form 2.

Section C provides the basic data to compute for the informal sector HUEM output (Equation 1). It is assumed that prior to estimation, the dataset has already been assessed and edited for item and unit non-response, sum of parts not equal to total, etc. Therefore, the totals for items C.2., C.3., C.4., C.5., C.6, and C.7. are assumed to be reliable numbers to work on.

Output at basic or producer's prices

Output	= Total value of products sold after transformation	C.2	Equation 1
	+ Total value of products sold without transformation	C.3	
	+ Own-account consumption	C.7	
	+ Own-account capital formation	E	
	- Cost of products sold for resale (trade)	D.2	
	+ Value of services offered	C.4	
	+ Changes in inventories (output)	C 5 C 6	

It must be noted that the values of own-produced capital assets, as recorded in Section E, will be added to output after obtaining annual estimates of output.

Note: Valuation of gross output, either basic of producer's prices, depends on whether taxes on products is included.

goods and services used by ancillary activities, such as purchasing, sales, accounting, transportation, storage, and maintenance, are included.

The following sections discuss each component of intermediate consumption in the context of estimating the GVA from the HUEM survey.

5.4 Income Approach

While the HUEM survey aimed to collect detailed information on the different components needed to estimate GVA under a production approach framework, the questionnaire also collects data on income components to facilitate rough approximation of HUEMs' mixed income. In particular, wages and salaries, social insurance, bonuses and allowances, and taxes on product incurred by the HUEMs are also asked. Conceptually, operating surplus serves as a balancing item to harmonize production and income accounts. Joshi et al. (2009) emphasized that accurate measurement of profits from microenterprises is crucial for understanding the success of a variety of policy and programmatic interventions. It is operationally useful in providing a complete picture of the market conditions confronting the HUEMs. While the computation of operating surplus is not a prerequisite to be able to compute the

Box 5.2 Estimating Cost of Intermediate Inputs from the HUEM Survey

Items concerning the intermediate inputs are available in Section D, Expenditures on Raw Materials and Stock, of the HUEM survey questionnaire. Not all items under Section D can be considered as intermediate inputs. Thus, the intermediate inputs have to be drawn individually from D.3.

For value of raw materials used, the data given for D.1 is assumed to be the value of raw materials used (D.1) for manufacturing; electricity, gas, and water; agriculture; mining; and construction. On the other hand, D.2 is assumed to be the value of purchases of goods for resale during the period.

Intermediate inputs at purchasers' prices Equation 2

- = Value of raw materials used
- + Fuel, gasoline, and lubricants
- + Water
- + Electricity
- + Rental payments
- + Transport services
- + Communication expenses
- + Non-industrial services
- + Repair and maintenance of facilities and equipment
- + Other industrial services
- + Insurance
- + Packaging
- +Other costs

contribution of informal sector to total economy since the former will be computed residually from the GVA, its analysis would contribute to the existing literature on the measurement issues in the informal sector.

5.4.1 Operating Surplus or Mixed Income

For our purpose, the income approach adds up all incomes paid in the process of production. In general, the income measure of gross domestic product (GDP) is computed as the sum of compensation of employees, indirect taxes net of subsidies (i.e., taxes on production and imports), and operating surplus. Arguably, the application of concepts, such as indirect taxes and subsidies, is limited in the case of informal sector enterprises for reasons mentioned earlier.

By definition, operating surplus is a measure of the surplus accruing from processes of production before interest charges, rents, and other property incomes are deducted. Intuitively, it provides a quantitative measure of the HUEMs' profits or losses, which is invariant to the extent to which assets are financed (e.g., whether land is owned or rented by the enterprise).³⁵ As a balancing item, a HUEM's operating surplus can be computed by subtracting compensation from the GVA computed from the production approach. Specifically, this is usually coined as mixed income in the context of unincorporated enterprises where owners and other workers within the enterprise do not usually receive any form of salary. Further, operating surplus or mixed income can be computed net of consumption of fixed capital (i.e., depreciation). As mentioned earlier, depreciation of assets is computed by dividing the purchaser's price of the fixed asset by its remaining useful life.

5.5 Supplementing ISS Data With Other Relevant Indicators

The identified shortcomings in the different aspects of the ISS operation revealed that while direct estimation

Box 5.3 Estimating Operating Surplus from the HUEM Survey

Items concerning the operating surplus are provided from different sections. The first component is the gross value added computed using the production approach (i.e., output less intermediate inputs). Section D.3 provides the compensation and taxes on product. Depreciation of fixed assets can be computed from Section E, Capital Expenditures.

Operating Surplus	Equation 3
= Output	Equation 1
 Intermediate inputs 	Equation 2
 Wages and salaries 	D.3.1
 Social insurance 	D.3.2
 Bonuses and allowances 	D.3.3
 Tax on product 	D.3.16
 Consumption of fixed capital 	E

of GVA of the informal sector posts a strenuous task, it is very feasible through further improvements in the data collection. However, due to these limitations, the use of ISS 2 or HUEM survey data alone to generate reliable estimates of the contribution of the informal sector to total economy may not be sufficient.

5.5.1 Adjustments for Bias

The key assumption behind the use of the "neighborhood approach" is that within a given neighborhood, there exists a group of records that can provide reliable data sufficient to correct inconsistencies observed from other records within the same neighborhood. However, some problems tend to affect the entire neighborhood system; in which case, the use of the said approach is not optimal.

For simplicity, let us consider two forms of bias. If the sample is well-represented but the reported information from each sampled unit tend to be uniformly affected by a bias, it is said to be multiplicative in form. Here, we can use procedures analogous to reweighting to correct the bias.

Suppose that α is the parameter of interest, and we wish to estimate it using $\hat{\alpha}$ computed from the survey. In addition, suppose also that based on prior information, there is sufficient reason to believe that a systematic bias, which is multiplicative in form, had been induced in the survey process:

 $\ell * E(\hat{\alpha} \mid \ell) = \alpha$,

³⁵ However, according to SNA, the operating surplus / mixed income is not invariant to the extent to which the fixed assets used in production are owned or rented. In particular, rental payments are usually recorded under purchases of services, which is a component of intermediate consumption.

where ℓ is a measure of bias, $\sum_{i}^{a_i * \omega_i}$, a_i denotes the observed survey data and ω_i is its corresponding survey weight.

For $\ell > 1$, it means that we are systematically underestimating α if we use the survey data alone without further adjustments to estimate the parameter of interest. On the other hand, there is a systematic overestimation when $\ell < 1$.

The key question is how to derive a "better" estimator for α . To do so, we need to estimate ℓ , a parameter that may be estimated using supplementary data other than what the survey provides. A process analogous to reweighting adjustment may be adopted to be able to derive a "better" estimator for α when the bias is multiplicative in form. Through such adjustments, the structural distribution of the reported ISS data is preserved but, at the same time, it also addresses the bias.

Suppose that we have evaluated $\hat{\ell}$ to be an "adequate" estimator for ℓ . In turn, a better estimator for α is $\hat{\alpha}$ such that

$$\hat{\alpha}' = \ell^* \hat{\alpha}$$

$$= \hat{\ell}^* \sum_i a_i^* \omega_i$$

$$= \sum_i a_i^* \omega_i', \text{ where } \omega_i' = \hat{\ell}^* \omega_i$$

To apply this in the case of Armenia, suppose the goal is to estimate the true GVA of the informal economy for a fixed sector *i*. Here, we will assume that labor productivity in the non-observed economy (NOE) is greater than the productivity in the informal sector. We choose the NOE since the National Statistical Service of the Republic of Armenia regularly estimates the contribution of NOE to total economy.

Let,

 $\alpha_{\rm \rm {\it IS}}~$ – true gross value added of the informal economy in the ith sector

 $\hat{lpha}_{\rm \scriptscriptstyle ISS}$ – preliminary estimated gross value added of the informal economy in the ith sector using ISS data

 LP_{Total} – true labor productivity in total economy of the ith sector

 LP_{Total} – estimated labor productivity in total economy

of the ith sector using national accounts data and total employment from Section D

 LP_{NOE} – true labor productivity in non-observed economy of the ith sector

 LP_{NOE} – estimated labor productivity in non-observed economy of the ith sector approximated by dividing GVA_{NOE} by total informal employment from Section D of the Integrated Living Conditions Survey. Note that total employment in NOE is expected to be much larger than total informal employment from Section D.

$$LP_{NOE}^{2009} \approx \frac{GVA_{Total}^{2009} * \frac{GVA_{NOE}^{2008}}{GVA_{Total}^{2008}}}{InformalEmployment_{2009}}$$

 LP_{IS} – true labor productivity in the informal economy of the ith sector

 $L\hat{P}_{ISS}$ – estimated labor productivity in the informal economy of the ith sector using ISS only

Here we can treat the source of the bias to be

such that $\ell = \frac{LP_{\rm IS}}{L\hat{P}_{\rm ISS}}$. The next step is to derive $\hat{\ell}.$

Suppose we can assume that
$$\frac{LP_{Total}}{LP_{NOE}} \approx \frac{LP_{NOE}}{LP_{IS}}$$

This assumption is intuitive if $\frac{LP_{Total}}{LP_{NOE}} > 1$ (i.e., $LP_{Total} > LP_{NOE} > LP_{IS}$)

and when the share of NOE to total economy is almost the same as with the share of informal sector to NOE.

$$\begin{array}{l} \dashrightarrow LP_{IS} \approx \frac{\left(LP_{NOE}\right)^{2}}{LP_{Total^{2}}} \\ \dashrightarrow \ell \approx \frac{\left(LP_{NOE}\right)^{2}}{\left(LP_{Total}\right)\left(L\hat{P}_{ISS}\right)} \\ \dashrightarrow \hat{\ell} = \frac{\left(L\hat{P}_{NOE}\right)^{2}}{\left(L\hat{P}_{Total}\right)\left(L\hat{P}_{ISS}\right)} \end{array}$$

It follows that a better estimator for $lpha_{\rm {\it IS}}$ is $\hat{lpha'}_{\rm {\rm ISS}\ +\ other}$ where,

$$\hat{\alpha}'_{ISS+other} = \hat{\ell} * \hat{\alpha}_{ISS}$$

$$\hat{\alpha'}_{ISS+other} = \frac{(L\hat{P}_{NOE})^2}{(L\hat{P}_{Total})(L\hat{P}_{ISS})} * \hat{\alpha}_{ISS}$$

Otherwise, if $\frac{LP_{Total}}{LP_{NOE}}$ < 1, it is still intuitive to

assume that $\frac{LP_{Total}}{LP_{NOE}} = \frac{LP_{IS}}{LP_{Total}}$. In this case,

$$\hat{\alpha}'_{ISS+other} = \frac{(L\hat{P}_{NOE})^2}{(L\hat{P}_{Total})(L\hat{P}_{ISS})} * \hat{\alpha}_{ISS}$$

The second form of bias is the additive form. This is mainly applicable when the reported information from the sampled units are not affected by the bias individually; but collectively, these units do not provide an adequate representation of the underlying population. Following similar notations, we can denote this, such that

$$\ell + E(\hat{\alpha}) = \alpha$$
,

Here, $\ell > 0$ implies that we are systematically underestimating α if we use the survey data alone without further adjustments to estimate the parameter of interest. On the other hand, there is a systematic overestimation when $\ell < 0$.

Again, suppose we have evaluated $\hat{\ell}$ to be an "adequate" estimator for ℓ . It implies that a better estimator for α is $\hat{\alpha}$ where,

$$\hat{\alpha}' = \hat{\ell} + \hat{\alpha} = \hat{\ell} + \sum_{i} a_{i} * \omega$$

On the other hand, some sectors in Armenia are not well-represented in the ISS. We may contextualize this as underestimation of the contribution of the informal sector using an additive form of bias, such that $\ell + E(\hat{\alpha}) = \alpha$ where $\ell' > 0$. To estimate ℓ' , we can use other data sources.

Sectors	ISS Sample Size
Fishing	0
Hotels and restaurants	0
Real estate and business activities	1
Health and social work	2
Education	7

ISS = Informal sector survey.

In particular, to estimate the contribution of informal sector to total GVA of fishing sector, household expenditure data from the ILCS may be used. In particular, expenditures incurred by households to buy fresh fish in the streets, markets, and other places may be used to impute output of informal economy, after adjusting for trade margin.

Armenia's questionnaire does not collect data on services of owner-occupied dwellings or imputed rent. Following the System of National Accounts (SNA) rule, the services of owner-occupied dwellings can be considered as assets produced for own-account and hence are a component of gross output. In turn, imputed rent in Armenia was estimated using information from the ILCS. In particular, Section C of the ILCS collects data on the floor area (in square meter) of each respondent's household dwelling, including the type of ownership. If rented, the amount of monthly rent is also asked from the survey respondents. From this set of information, one can estimate the average monthly rent per square meter. On the other hand, the ISS respondents are asked about the type of premises in which their business activities are carried out. Since the two surveys are linked, one can estimate the average floor area of the dwellings of informal sector operators who conduct business activity at home. The contribution of imputed rent in the informal sector is approximated by counting the number of ISS respondents who carry out business activity at home and multiplying it by the average monthly rent per square meter (with an assumed floor area). However, this procedure did not result in negligible estimates. Consequently, a simpler procedure was adopted to "improve" the estimates for the real estate sector. In particular, labor productivity data was examined, taking into account employment data in 2008 (for 2009 employment in sector K is too low -8000 employees instead of 18,500 in 2008 and no non-formal employment in 2009).

For education, informal tutorial services are imputed based on the number of university entrances, subject matters, and cost of subject. The last survey for education was conducted in 2001. According to this survey, 85.0% of university entrants hired tutors for on average 2.1 subjects each for \$800 (this is for the last 2 years). Further, based on ILCS data on household debts and savings, it seems that the contribution of financial intermediation services indirectly measured (FISIM) to the informal sector is nil.

Appendix 6 Statistical Tables

	Frequ	uency	Perce	ntage	
Characteristic	Men	Women	Men	Women	Total
Total population (de jure)	1,572,897	1,704,770	48.0	52.0	3,277,667
(de facto)	1,448,332	1,668,616	46.5	53.5	3,116,948
Labor resources/ Working age population (de jure)	1,208,472	1,340,845	47.4	52.6	2,549,317
(de facto)	1,088,050	1,309,583	45.4	54.6	2,397,633
Economically active	750,643	668,131	52.9	47.1	1,418,774
15–24 years	104,277	80,355	56.5	43.5	184,632
25–29 years	100,310	64,378	60.9	39.1	164,688
30–62 years	492,281	472,683	51.0	49.0	964,965
63–75 years	53,774	50,715	51.5	48.5	104,489
Unemployed	133,307	132,629	50.1	49.9	265,935
Employed	617,336	535,502	53.5	46.5	1,152,838
Employed in agriculture	209,949	244,892	46.2	53.8	454,841
Formal employment	4,337	2,731	61.4	38.6	7,068
Informal employment	205,612	242,162	45.9	54.1	447,710
Formal enterprise	244	210	53.7	46.3	454
Informal enterprise	168,959	184,359	47.8	52.2	353,318
Household	36,482	57,616	38.8	61.2	94,098
Employed in non-agriculture	407387	290,610	58.4	41.6	697,997
Formal employment	306,185	253,788	54.7	45.3	559,973
Informal employment	101,202	36,822	73.3	26.7	138,025
Formal enterprise	34,766	18,058	65.8	34.2	52,824
Informal enterprise	55,969	15,067	78.8	21.2	71,036
Household	10,467	3,697	73.9	26.1	14,164
Economically inactive*	337,407	641,452	34.5	65.5	978,859
15–24 years	180,993	215,342	45.7	54.3	396,336
25–29 years	16,556	63,477	20.7	79.3	80,032
30–62 years	78,606	255,757	23.5	76.5	334,363
63–75 years	61,252	106,876	36.4	63.6	168,128

Table 2.1.1 Population and Labor Force Characteristics by Sex

* Economically inactive population refers to those 15–75 years old who are neither employed nor unemployed.

Notes: Data shown pertain to the primary job only (by person analysis). Urban area includes Yerevan. Working age population refers to those 15–75 years old.

	Area							
	Frequ	uency		Perce	ntage			
Characteristic	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural			
Total population (de jure)	2,127,450	1,150,216	3,277,667	64.9	35.1			
(de facto)	2,034,074	1,082,874	3,116,948	65.3	34.7			
Labor resources / Working age population (de jure)	1,668,617	880,700	2,549,317	65.5	34.5			
(de facto)	1,579,102	818,531	2,397,633	65.9	34.1			
Economically active	839,559	579,215	1,418,774	59.2	40.8			
15–24 years	113,848	70,784	184,632	61.7	38.3			
25–29 years	107,873	56,815	164,688	65.5	34.5			
30–62 years	577,016	387,949	964,965	59.8	40.2			
63–75 years	40,822	63,667	104,489	39.1	60.9			
Unemployed	229,300	36,636	265,935	86.2	13.8			
Employed	610,260	542,579	1,152,838	52.9	47.1			
Employed in agriculture	46,954	407,888	454,841	10.3	89.7			
Formal employment	3,527	3,541	7,068	49.9	50.1			
Informal employment	43,427	404,347	447,710	9.7	90.3			
Formal enterprise	334	120	454	73.5	26.5			
Informal enterprise	13,645	339,673	353,318	3.9	96.1			
Household	29,521	64,577	94,098	31.4	68.6			
Employed in non-agriculture	563,306	134,691	697,997	80.7	19.3			
Formal employment	461,994	97,979	559,972	82.5	17.5			
Informal employment	101,312	36,712	138,025	73.4	26.6			
Formal enterprise	47,682	5,142	52,824	90.3	9.7			
Informal enterprise	44,090	26,946	71,036	62.1	37.9			
Household	9,540	4,624	14,164	67.4	32.6			
Economically inactive*	739,543	239,316	978,859	75.6	24.4			
15–24 years	255,432	140,904	396,336	64.4	35.6			
25–29 years	60,553	19,479	80,032	75.7	24.3			
30–62 years	287,497	46,866	334,363	86.0	14.0			
63–75 years	136,061	32,068	168,128	80.9	19.1			

Table 2.1.2 Population and Labor Force Characteristics by Urban/Rural

* Economically inactive population refers to those 15–75 years old who are neither employed nor unemployed.

Notes: Data shown pertain to the primary job only (by person analysis). Urban area includes Yerevan. Working age population refers to those 15–75 years old.

		Nature of Employment									
Production	Prima	ry Job	Secor	nd Job	Total						
Unit	Formal	Informal	Formal	Informal	Formal	Informal	Total				
Formal	567,040	53,278	3,631	362	570,671	53,640	624,311				
Informal	0	424,354	0	26,997	0	451,351	451,351				
Household	0	108,166	0	8,501	0	116,667	116,667				
Total	567,040	585,798	3,631	35,860	570,671	621,659	1,192,329				

Table 2.2.1 Total Number of Jobs by Type of Production Unit, and Nature of Employment

Table 2.2.2 Total Number of Jobs by Urban/Rural, and Nature of Employment

	Nature of Employment								
	Prima	ry Job	Secon	d Job	Total				
Area	Formal	Informal	Formal Informal		Formal	Informal	Total		
Yerevan	271,480	64,298	2,298	1,161	273,779	65,459	339,238		
Urban	194,040	80,441	636	5,841	194,676	86,282	280,958		
Rural	101,520	441,059	696	28,858	102,216	469,917	572,133		
Total	567,040	585,798	3,631	35,860	570,671	621,658	1,192,329		

Table 2.3.1 Employment by Type of Production Unit and Employment Status

		Production Unit							
		Frequ	uency		Percentage				
Employment Status	Formal	Informal	Household	Total	Formal	Informal	Household		
Employee	600,810	42,514	16,420	659,745	91	6	2		
Employer	5,938	416	_	6,355	93	7	-		
Own-account worker	15,236	226,694	71,953	313,884	5	72	23		
Unpaid family worker	1,998	181,726	28,293	212,017	1	86	13		
Member of cooperative	44	-	-	44	100	-	-		
Others	284	-	-	284	100	-	-		
Total	624,311	451,351	116,667	1,192,329	52	38	10		

Table 2.3.2	Employment b	y Employment	Status and Urban/Rural
-------------	--------------	--------------	------------------------

		Urbanity/Area								
		Frequ	iency			Percentage				
Employment Status	Yerevan	Urban	Rural	Total	Yerevan	Urban	Rural			
Employee	307,426	222,597	129,721	659,745	47	34	20			
Employer	4,405	1,235	715	6,355	69	19	11			
Own-account worker	25,261	43,949	244,674	313,884	8	14	78			
Unpaid family worker	2,120	13,177	196,721	212,017	1	6	93			
Member of cooperative	44	-	-	44	100	-	-			
Others	284	-	-	284	100	-	-			
Total	339,540	280,958	571,831	1,192,329	28	24	48			

		Nature of E				
Type of	For	mal	То	Total		
Production Unit	Men	Women	Men Women		Men	Women
Formal enterprises	313,128	257,543	35,084	18,556	348,212	276,099
Informal enterprises	0	0	240,009	211,342	240,009	211,342
Households	0	0	51,297	65,370	51,297	65,370
Total	313,128	257,543	326,390	295,268	639,518	552,811

Table 2.4.1 Employment by Type of Production Unit, Nature of Employment, and Sex

Table 2.4.2 Employment by Urban/Rural, Nature of Employment, and Sex

		Nature of E				
	For	Formal Informal			То	tal
Area	Men	Women	Men	Men Women		Women
Yerevan	148,707	125,072	44,264	21,195	192,971	146,267
Urban	108,426	86,250	50,065	36,217	158,491	122,467
Rural	55,995	46,221	232,061	237,856	288,055	284,077
Total	313,128	257,543	326,390	295,268	639,518	552,811

Table 2.5.1 Employment by Industry, Nature of Employment, and Sex

	Nature of Employment							
		Formal Informal						
Industry	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total		
Agriculture, hunting, and forestry	4,189	2,718	6,907	223,555	257,189	480,744		
Fishing	148	12	160	64	0	64		
Mining and quarrying	7,380	2,123	9,503	149	0	149		
Manufacturing	41,490	13,151	54,642	8,582	7,287	15,869		
Electricity, gas, and water supply	29,472	4,708	34,180	374	310	684		
Construction	33,637	1,180	34,817	47,564	511	48,075		
Wholesale and retail trade, repairs, etc.	33,277	26,679	59,956	21,415	16,460	37,875		
Hotels and restaurants	3,340	4,684	8,024	1,477	3,553	5,029		
Transport, storage, and communications	41,517	9,824	51,341	13,451	627	14,079		
Financial intermediation	6,161	6,897	13,058	0	0	0		
Real estate, renting, and business activities	4,659	4,079	8,738	638	175	813		
Public administration and defense, social security	52,514	25,005	77,519	0	0	0		
Education	20,706	86,489	107,195	220	1,095	1,315		
Health and social work	10,414	51,151	61,565	50	235	285		
Other community, social, and personal services	22,949	17,828	40,777	7,846	5,034	12,880		
Private households with employed persons	0	0	0	1,005	2,792	3,798		
Extraterritorial organizations	1,275	1,015	2,291	0	0	0		
Total	313,128	257,543	570,671	326,390	295,268	621,658		

		Nature of Employment						
		Formal		Informal				
Industry	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total		
Agriculture, hunting, and forestry	3,385	3,523	6,907	48,907	431,837	480,744		
Fishing	142	18	160	45	19	64		
Mining and quarrying	7,702	1,801	9,503	36	112	149		
Manufacturing	48,389	6,253	54,642	10,794	5,076	15,869		
Electricity, gas, and water supply	26,064	8,115	34,180	630	54	684		
Construction	28,911	5,905	34,817	29,882	18,193	48,075		
Wholesale and retail trade, repairs, etc.	55,850	4,106	59,956	31,714	6,161	37,875		
Hotels and restaurants	7,399	625	8,024	4,772	257	5,029		
Transport, storage, and communications	46,646	4,695	51,341	10,985	3,094	14,079		
Financial intermediation	12,133	925	13,058	0	0	0		
Real estate, renting, and business activities	8,451	287	8,738	660	154	813		
Public administration and defense, social security	56,261	21,258	77,519	0	0	0		
Education	74,998	32,196	107,195	1,315	0	1,315		
Health and social work	53,900	7,665	61,565	285	0	285		
Other community, social, and personal services	35,945	4,832	40,777	8,612	4,268	12,880		
Private households with employed persons	0	0	0	3,105	693	3,798		
Extraterritorial organizations	2,279	12	2,291	0	0	0		
Total	468,455	102,216	570,671	151,741	469,917	621,658		

Table 2.5.2	Employment b	y Industry	/, Nature of Em	ployment, a	nd Urban/Rural
-------------	--------------	------------	-----------------	-------------	----------------

Note: Urban area includes Yerevan.

Table 2.5.3 Employment by Industry and Nature of Employment

	Nature of E	mployment	Urbanity/Area		
Industry	Formal	Informal	Urban	Rural	
Agriculture, hunting, and forestry	1.4	98.6	10.7	89.3	
Fishing	71.5	28.5	83.4	16.6	
Mining and quarrying	98.5	1.5	80.2	19.8	
Manufacturing	77.5	22.5	83.9	16.1	
Electricity, gas, and water supply	98.0	2.0	76.6	23.4	
Construction	42.0	58.0	70.9	29.1	
Wholesale and retail trade, repairs, etc.	61.3	38.7	89.5	10.5	
Hotels and restaurants	61.5	38.5	93.2	6.8	
Transport, storage, and communications	78.5	21.5	88.1	11.9	
Financial intermediation	100.0	0.0	92.9	7.1	
Real estate, renting, and business activities	91.5	8.5	95.4	4.6	
Public administration and defense, social security	100.0	0.0	72.6	27.4	
Education	98.8	1.2	70.3	29.7	
Health and social work	99.5	0.5	87.6	12.4	
Other community, social, and personal services	76.0	24.0	83.0	17.0	
Private households with employed persons	36.7	63.3	81.8	18.2	
Extraterritorial organizations	100.0	0.0	99.5	0.5	
Total	47.9	52.1	52.0	48.0	

Note: Urban area includes Yerevan.

Table 2.6.1Average Number of HoursWorked by Employment Status, Natureof Employment, and Activity

	Nature of Employment						
Production	Prima	ry Job	Second Job				
Unit	Formal Informal		Formal	Informal			
Employee	44	46	31	15			
Own-account worker	53	23	15	13			
Employer	48	68	*				
Unpaid family worker	_	20	_	13			
Average	44	26	29	13			

- = no observation.

* Only one observation classified as employer in the second job category. Note: Number of hours worked during the survey week.

Table 2.6.2Average Number of HoursWorked by Employment Status,and Urban/Rural

	Urbanity/Area							
Employment	Pr	imary Jo	b	Se	Second Job			
Status	Yerevan	Urban	Rural	Yerevan	Urban	Rural		
Employee	48	42	40	29	29	22		
Own-account worker	40	25	23	19	8	14		
Employer	52	45	37		*			
Unpaid family worker	25	17	20	_	11	13		
Average	47	39	26	26	11	14		

- = no observation.

* Only one observation classified as employer in the second job category. Note: Number of hours worked during the survey week.

Table 2.7.1 Employment by Employment Status, Nature of Employment, and Sex

		Nature of E					
	For	mal	Info	rmal	Total		
Production Unit	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	
Employee	297,305	251,863	78,827	31,750	376,131	283,614	
Employer	5,445	494	416	0	5,861	494	
Own-account worker	10,080	5,157	173,465	125,183	183,545	130,340	
Unpaid family worker	0	0	73,682	138,335	73,682	138,335	
Member of cooperative	15	30	0	0	15	30	
Others	284	0	0	0	284	0	
Total	313,128	257,543	326,390	295,268	639,518	552,812	

Table 2.7.2	Employmen	t by Emplo	vment Status	, Production	Unit, and Sex

	Production Unit							
	Formal E	nterprises	Informal E	Interprises	Households			
Employment Status	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women		
Employee	331,222	269,589	33,053	9,462	11,858	4,563		
Employer	5,445	494	416	0	0	0		
Own-account worker	10,079	5,157	144,193	82,501	29,272	42,681		
Unpaid family worker	1,168	830	62,347	119,379	10,167	18,127		
Member of cooperative	15	30	0	0	0	0		
Others	284	0	0	0	0	0		
Total	348,212	276,099	240,009	211,342	51,297	65,370		

	Average Earnings (AMD)					
Employment Status	Formal Employment	Informal Employment				
Employee	75,342	64,647				
Own-account worker	109,195	42,182				
Employer	223,431	165,055				
Average earnings	77,665	48,919				

Table 2.8.1Average Wage and Earnings byEmployment Status and Nature of Employment

 Table 2.8.2
 Average Wage and Earnings by Employment Status, Nature of Employment, and Sex

		Average Ear	nings (AMD)				
Employment	Formal Employment		Informal Employment		Average	Average	
Status	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Earnings
Employee	89,614	58,327	73,849	42,390	86,450	56,572	73,612
Own-account worker	116,132	95,066	55,046	24,719	58,966	27,793	45,908
Employer	227,697	181,327	165,055	_	222,765	181,327	219,227
Average Earnings	92,665	59,279	61,605	28,658	79,790	48,499	66,511

- = no observation/no data available.

Table 2.8.3 Average Wage and Earnings by Employment Status, Nature of Employment,and Urban/Rural

	Average Earnings (AMD)								
Employment	Form	nal Employi	ment	Informal Employment					
Status	Yerevan	Urban	Rural	Yerevan	Urban	Rural	Yerevan	Urban	Rural
Employee	83,154	69,075	66,457	72,377	60,048	58,741	81,653	67,653	64,736
Own-account worker	136,946	97,982	92,317	81,270	30,859	40,514	93,421	43,681	41,345
Employer	249,310	203,205	91,909	154,735	*	-	240,661	205,011	91,909
Average earnings	86,426	70,868	67,456	75,447	47,062	42,690	84,434	65,007	50,167

- = no observation/no data available.

* Only one observation classified as employer engaged in informal employment working in the urban area answered the income query. It was assessed to be insufficient for comparison with other average incomes.
| | Formal E | nterprises | | | |
|----------------------------|------------|------------------------|-------------------------|------------|-----------|
| Tupo of Entorprise | Formal | Informal
Employment | Informal
Enterprises | Households | Total |
| Type of Enterprise | Employment | Employment | Enterprises | nousenoius | IUtai |
| State-owned | 301,086 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 301,086 |
| Municipal | 21,152 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 21,152 |
| NGO | 10,450 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 10,450 |
| Privately owned enterprise | 227,585 | 53,015 | 451,074 | 106,854 | 838,528 |
| Private employer | 0 | 0 | 278 | 9,813 | 10,090 |
| Total | 570,671 | 53,640 | 451,351 | 116,667 | 1,192,329 |

Table 2.9 Employment by Type of Enterprise, Type of Production Unit, and Nature of Employment

NG0 = nongovernment organization.

Table 2.10.1Employment by Employment Size of Establishment, Type of Production Unit,and Nature of Employment

	Formal Er	nterprises			
Employment Size	Formal	Informal Employment	Informal Enterprises	Housebolds	Total
Employment Size	Employment	Employment	Enterprises	nousenoius	IUtai
Less than 5	48,298	17,381	432,706	111,326	609,711
6–15	30,600	9,338	12,089	937	52,964
16–30	58,572	15,701	3,157	861	78,291
31–49	19,264	4,785	414	7	24,470
50–99	17,817	2,667	0	20	20,504
100 and more	22,679	2,343	217	226	25,465
Don't know	34,300	1,424	2,745	3,313	41,782
Total	231,530	53,639	451,328	116,690	853,187

Note: Total will not equal the total employment since not all respondents answered the query.

Table 2.10.2Employment by Employment Size of Establishment, Type of Production Unit,and Nature of Employment (%)

	Type of Production Unit								
	Formal Ente	erprises (%)							
Freedown and Cine	Formal	Informal	Total Formal	Informal					
Employment Size	Employment	Employment	Enterprises (%)	Enterprises (%)	Housenolas (%)				
Less than 5	7.9	2.9	10.8	71.0	18.3				
6–15	57.8	17.6	75.4	22.8	1.8				
16–30	74.8	20.1	94.9	4.0	1.1				
31–49	78.7	19.6	98.3	1.7	0.0				
50–99	86.9	13.0	99.9	0.0	0.1				
100 and more	89.1	9.2	98.3	0.9	0.9				
Don't know	82.1	3.4	85.5	6.6	7.9				
Total	27.1	6.3	33.4	52.9	13.7				

		Area								
Employment		Formal En	nployment			Informal Employment				
Size	Yerevan	Urban	Rural	Total	Yerevan	Urban	Rural	Total		
Less than 5	22,159	18,667	7,473	48,299	36,745	70,119	454,549	561,413		
6–15	19,351	7,831	3,417	30,599	4,586	6,449	11,328	22,363		
16–30	36,720	17,839	4,013	58,572	10,364	7,077	2,278	19,719		
31–49	14,311	3,534	1,419	19,264	4,774	411	22	5,207		
50–99	11,957	4,083	1,777	17,817	2,143	291	254	2,688		
100 and more	14,092	7,277	1,310	22,679	2,424	135	226	2,785		
Don't know	11,202	14,683	8,414	34,299	4,423	1,800	1,259	7,482		
Total	129,792	73,914	27,823	231,529	65,459	86,282	469,916	621,657		

Table 2.10.3Employment by Employment Size of Establishment, Nature of Employment,
and Urban/Rural

Note: Total will not equal the total job employment since not all respondents answered the query.

Table 2.11.1	Employment by	v Legal Organization,	Nature of Emp	loyment, and Sex

		Nature of E					
	For	mal	Info	rmal	То	Total	
Legal Organization	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	
Joint-stock corporation	161,530	66,377	33,561	18,170	195,091	84,547	
Registered cooperative	1,100	749	1,523	385	2,623	1,135	
Condominium	533	0	0	0	533	0	
Individual business	0	0	47,546	14,144	47,546	14,144	
Partnership	0	0	11,147	2,359	11,147	2,359	
Private household	0	0	6,269	3,770	6,269	3,770	
Farm	227	0	220,488	255,293	220,715	255,293	
Others	0	172	674	71	674	243	
Don't know	699	142	5,183	1,076	5,882	1,218	
Total	164,089	67,439	326,390	295,268	490,479	362,708	

Note: Total will not equal the total job employment due to the skipping pattern applied in the legal status query.

		Nature of E					
	For	mal	Info	rmal	То	Total	
Legal Organization	Urban	Rural	Urban	Rural	Urban	Rural	
Joint-stock corporation	201,039	26,867	46,799	4,932	247,838	31,799	
Registered cooperative	1,347	502	1,549	359	2,896	861	
Condominium	533	0	0	0	533	0	
Individual business	0	0	39,958	21,731	39,958	21,731	
Partnership	0	0	5,549	7,957	5,549	7,957	
Private household	0	0	4,899	5,139	4,899	5,139	
Farm	0	227	48,160	427,620	48,160	427,848	
Others	172	0	499	245	671	245	
Don't know	615	226	4,327	1,932	4,942	2,158	
Total	203,706	27,823	151,741	469,917	355,447	497,740	

Table 2.11.2 Employment by Legal Organization, Nature of Employment, and Urban/Rural

Notes: Total will not equal the total employment due to the skipping pattern applied in the legal status query. Urban area includes Yerevan.

	Nature of Employment								
	Frequ	uency		Pero	cent				
Place of Work	Formal	Informal	Total	Formal	Informal				
Home (with and without special workplace)	82	10,646	10,728	0.76	99.24				
Factory, office, workshop	566,692	55,788	622,480	91.04	8.96				
Farm or agricultural plot	1,944	479,970	481,913	0.40	99.60				
Home or workplace of client	0	17,649	17,649	0.00	100.00				
Construction site	0	17,702	17,702	0.00	100.00				
Market, bazaar stall, trade fair	1,363	9,632	10,995	12.39	87.61				
Street pavement or highway with fixed post	0	2,480	2,480	0.00	100.00				
Employer's home	0	11,496	11,496	0.00	100.00				
Transport vehicle	29	8,259	8,289	0.36	99.64				
No fixed location, mobile	0	6,955	6,955	0.00	100.00				
Others	561	1,082	1,643	34.14	65.86				
Total	570,671	621,659	1,192,329	47.86	52.14				

Table 2.12.1 Employment by Place of Work and Nature of Employment

	Informal Employment								
		Frequ	uency			Percent			
Place of Work	Yerevan	Urban	Rural	Total	Yerevan	Urban	Rural		
Home (with and without special workplace)	6,059	2,233	2,354	10,646	56.9	21.0	22.1		
Factory, office, workshop	28,456	19,754	7,578	55,788	51.0	35.4	13.6		
Home or workplace of client	6,649	4,775	6,225	17,649	37.7	27.1	35.3		
Construction site	2,773	5,740	9,188	17,702	15.7	32.4	51.9		
Market, bazaar stall, trade fair	5,549	2,828	1,256	9,632	57.6	29.4	13.0		
Street pavement or highway with fixed post	1,650	774	57	2,480	66.5	31.2	2.3		
Employer's home	3,142	2,787	5,566	11,496	27.3	24.2	48.4		
Transport vehicle	2,903	2,651	2,706	8,259	35.1	32.1	32.8		
No fixed location, mobile	2,318	1,135	3,502	6,955	33.3	16.3	50.4		
Others	301	36	745	1,082	27.8	3.4	68.9		
Total	59,799	42,712	39,178	141,689	42.2	30.1	27.7		

Table 2.12.2	Informal Employment by Place of Work (Excluding Farm and Agricultural Plots)
and Urban/Ru	ural

Table 2.13.1 Employment by Age Group and Urban/Rural

	Frequency				Percent		
Age Group	Yerevan	Urban	Rural	Total	Yerevan	Urban	Rural
15–19	1,513	1,136	11,804	14,453	10.5	7.9	81.7
20–24	32,602	21,735	41,132	95,469	34.1	22.8	43.1
25–29	43,702	31,670	49,718	125,090	34.9	25.3	39.7
30–34	38,700	32,039	44,055	114,793	33.7	27.9	38.4
35–39	36,726	27,554	56,205	120,484	30.5	22.9	46.6
40–44	36,609	29,322	74,330	140,260	26.1	20.9	53.0
45–49	41,092	41,957	92,749	175,798	23.4	23.9	52.8
50–54	43,057	41,767	75,552	160,375	26.8	26.0	47.1
55–59	29,572	29,781	45,831	105,184	28.1	28.3	43.6
60–64	19,608	13,295	24,747	57,651	34.0	23.1	42.9
65–69	8,886	6,452	22,673	38,011	23.4	17.0	59.6
70 and over	7,172	4,251	33,338	44,760	16.0	9.5	74.5
Total	339,238	280,958	572,133	1,192,329	28.5	23.6	48.0

Aae	Frequency			Percent		
Group	Formal	Informal	Total	Formal	Informal	
15–19	1,672	12,781	14,453	11.6	88.4	
20–24	49,345	46,124	95,469	51.7	48.3	
25–29	70,029	55,062	125,090	56.0	44.0	
30–34	65,397	49,397	114,793	57.0	43.0	
35–39	61,629	58,855	120,484	51.2	48.8	
40–44	61,445	78,815	140,260	43.8	56.2	
45–49	77,573	98,225	175,798	44.1	55.9	
50–54	80,864	79,512	160,375	50.4	49.6	
55–59	54,175	51,009	105,185	51.5	48.5	
60–64	31,322	26,328	57,651	54.3	45.7	
65–69	10,428	27,582	38,011	27.4	72.6	
70 and over	6,791	37,969	44,760	15.2	84.8	

Table 2.13.2Employment by Age Groupand Nature of Employment

Table 2.13.3Informal Employment by AgeGroup and Type of Production Unit

		Informal I	Employment	
Age Group	Formal Enterprises	Informal Enterprises	Households	Total
15–19	761	9,945	2,075	12,781
20–24	6,142	34,733	5,249	46,124
25–29	7,676	41,328	6,057	55,062
30–34	5,843	34,984	8,569	49,397
35–39	5,870	41,599	11,385	58,855
40-44	7,021	59,024	12,770	78,815
45–49	7,139	69,996	21,089	98,225
50–54	6,623	58,487	14,402	79,512
55–59	4,593	35,299	11,117	51,009
60–64	1,428	19,574	5,326	26,328
65–69	544	19,953	7,086	27,582
70 and over	0	26,428	11,541	37,969

 Table 2.14.1
 Employment by Level of Education, Employment Status, and Sex

		Employment Status												
Level of	Empl	loyee	Own-a Wo	ccount rker	Emp	ا Employer		Member ofUnpaid FamilyCooperativeWorkerand Others		Member of Cooperative and Others		Member of Cooperative and Others		tal
Education	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women		
Illiterate	0	287	935	694	0	0	125	394	0	0	1,060	1,376		
Uncompleted primary	68	249	378	823	0	0	534	336	0	0	981	1,409		
Primary	1,636	363	6,752	3,839	0	0	2,428	4,889	0	18	10,816	9,109		
General secondary	23,369	5,628	19,797	12,018	78	0	11,071	12,740	0	0	54,315	30,386		
Secondary	134,440	60,008	90,457	67,754	1,561	412	47,015	84,311	258	12	273,731	212,496		
Preliminary vocational	14,238	6,519	8,134	4,094	0	0	1,081	3,672	0	0	23,452	14,285		
Vocational	84,663	84,807	37,745	32,268	1,340	82	6,218	26,887	15	0	129,981	144,044		
Non-complete higher	5,470	3,593	358	119	8	0	655	353	0	0	6,490	4,066		
Higher	109,248	121,071	18,922	8,730	2,415	0	4,306	4,743	26	0	134,917	134,544		
Postgraduate	3,000	1,088	66	0	460	0	249	9	0	0	3,775	1,097		
Total	376,132	283,613	183,545	130,340	5,861	494	73,682	138,335	299	30	639,518	552,811		

					Employm	ent Status	;					
Level of	Emp	loyee	Own-a Wo	ccount rker	Emp	loyer	Unpaic Wo	l Family rker	Member of Cooperative and Others		d Total	
Education	Formal	Informal	Formal	Informal	Formal	Informal	Formal	Informal	Formal	Informal	Formal	Informal
Illiterate	242	45	0	1,629	0	0	0	519	0	0	242	2,193
Uncompleted primary	87	230	0	1,202	0	0	0	871	0	0	87	2,303
Primary	466	1,533	0	10,591	0	0	0	7,318	18	0	484	19,442
General secondary	17,400	11,597	828	31,065	78	0	0	23,811	0	0	18,306	66,474
Secondary	136,057	58,391	5,494	152,717	1,628	345	0	131,326	269	0	143,447	342,780
Preliminary vocational	14,227	6,530	650	11,578	1,395	26	0	4,753	0	0	16,272	22,887
Vocational	145,220	24,250	4,137	65,876	8	0	0	33,105	15	0	149,380	123,231
Non-complete higher	8,247	816	53	424	2,370	45	0	1,008	0	0	10,670	2,293
Higher	223,135	7,184	4,153	23,499	460	0	0	9,049	26	0	227,773	39,732
Postgraduate	4,088	0	0	66	460	0	0	258	0	0	4,547	324
Total	549,168	110,577	15,236	298,648	5,938	416	0	212,017	328	0	570,671	621,658

Table 2.14.2Employment by Level of Education, Employment Status,and Nature of Employment

Table 2.14.3	Informal Em	ployment by Le	vel of Education	and Employment Status

	Informal employment												
			Frequency						Percent				
Level of Education	Employee	Own- account Worker	Employer	Unpaid Family Worker	Member of Cooperative and Others	Total	Employee	Self- Employed	Employer	Unpaid Family Worker	Member of Cooperative and Others		
Illiterate	45	1,629	0	519	0	2,193	2.1	74.3	0.0	23.7	0.0		
Uncompleted primary	230	1,202	0	871	0	2,303	10.0	52.2	0.0	37.8	0.0		
Primary	1,533	10,591	0	7,318	0	19,442	7.9	54.5	0.0	37.6	0.0		
General secondary	11,597	31,065	0	23,811	0	66,474	17.4	46.7	0.0	35.8	0.0		
Secondary	58,391	152,717	345	131,326	0	342,780	17.0	44.6	0.1	38.3	0.0		
Preliminary vocational	6,530	11,578	0	4,753	0	22,861	28.6	50.6	0.0	20.8	0.0		
Vocational	24,250	65,876	26	33,105	0	123,257	19.7	53.4	0.0	26.9	0.0		
Non- complete higher	816	424	0	1,008	0	2,248	36.3	18.8	0.0	44.8	0.0		
Higher	7,184	23,499	45	9,049	0	39,777	18.1	59.1	0.1	22.7	0.0		
Postgraduate	0	66	0	258	0	324	0.0	20.5	0.0	79.5	0.0		
Total	110,577	298,648	416	212,017	0	621,658	17.8	48.0	0.1	34.1	0.0		

		Primary	Job (%)		Second Job (%)				
Nature of Employment	Pension Fund	Paid Leave	Sick Leave	Maternity/ Paternity Leave	Pension Fund	Paid Leave	Sick Leave	Maternity/ Paternity Leave	
Formal	90.7	74.0	73.7	64.3	73.2	38.3	46.8	13.4	
Informal	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	
Total	75.5	61.6	61.4	64.3	56.1	29.4	35.9	7.7	

Table 2.15.1	Employ	ees Receiving	Benefits by	Vinture of Er	nplo	yment	and J	ob	Holding	þ
										-

Table 2.15.2 Frequency Distribution of Employees by Type of Benefits Received and Job Holding

				Primary Jol	0		Second Job				
Type of Benefit	Nature of Employment	Yes	No	Don't Know	Not Applicable	Total	Yes	No	Don't Know	Not Applicable	Total
	Formal	156,521	18,305	37,440	333,504	545,769	339	438	89	2,534	3,399
Maternity	Informal	0	25,107	5,548	78,891	109,546	0	251	0	781	1,031
leave	Total	156,521	43,412	42,987	412,395	655,315	339	688	89	3,314	4,430
	Formal	494,849	22,177	28,743	0	545,769	2,487	295	617	0	3,399
	Informal	0	82,326	27,220	0	109,546	0	1,031	0	0	1,031
Pension	Total	494,849	104,502	55,963	0	655,315	2,487	1,326	617	0	4,430
	Formal	403,952	111,153	30,663	0	545,769	1,303	1,813	283	0	3,399
	Informal	0	103,519	6,027	0	109,546	0	1,031	0	0	1,031
Paid leave	Total	403,952	214,673	36,690	0	655,315	1,303	2,844	283	0	4,430
	Formal	402,374	92,020	51,375	0	545,769	1,591	1,439	370	0	3,399
	Informal	0	92,675	16,870	0	109,546	0	1,031	0	0	1,031
Sick leave	Total	402,374	184,696	68,245	0	655,315	1,591	2,470	370	0	4,430

Table 2.16 Employment by Employment Status, Type of Production Unit, and Sex(Excluding Agriculture)

	Production Unit									
	Forn	nal Enterp	rises	Infor	mal Enterp	orises	Households			
Employment Status	Men Women Total			Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total	
Employee	327,039	266,690	593,729	28,425	6,091	34,517	10,037	3,266	13,303	
Own-account worker	9,801	5,145	14,946	26,763	9,038	35,801	610	0	610	
Employer	5,325	494	5,818	371	0	371	0	0	0	
Unpaid family worker	1,168	830	1,998	1,566	906	2,472	159	431	590	
Members of cooperative and others	299	0	299	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Total	343,631	273,158	616,789	57,125	16,036	73,161	10,806	3,697	14,503	

		Nature of Employment									
	-	thousanc	I	%							
Marz	Formal	Informal	Formal	Informal							
Yerevan	273.8	65.5	339.2	80.7	19.3						
Aragatsotn	17.0	49.0	66.0	25.7	74.3						
Ararat	34.7	92.3	127.0	27.3	72.7						
Armavir	28.3	85.6	113.9	24.8	75.2						
Gegharkunik	27.2	66.1	93.3	29.1	70.9						
Lori	42.9	64.2	107.1	40.1	59.9						
Kotayk	46.8	53.2	100.0	46.8	53.2						
Shirak	37.5	48.9	86.5	43.4	56.6						
Syunik	33.9	33.7	67.6	50.1	49.9						
Vajoc Dzor	9.8	14.7	24.5	40.1	59.9						
Tavush	18.9	48.4	67.2	28.1	71.9						
Total	570.7	621.7	1,192.3	47.9	52.1						

Table 2.17.1Total Number of Jobs by Marzand Nature of Employment

Table 2.17.2	Total	Number	of Jobs	in Non-
Agricultural	Sector	by Marz	and Nat	ture
of Employme	ent			

		Nature of Employment									
		thousand	I	%							
Marz	Formal	Informal	Formal	Informa							
Yerevan	272.7	59.8	332.5	82.0	18.0						
Aragatsotn	16.4	6.4	22.8	72.1	27.9						
Ararat	34.1	13.2	47.3	72.1	27.9						
Armavir	27.7	13.0	40.8	68.0	32.0						
Gegharkunik	26.7	5.5	32.2	82.8	17.2						
Lori	42.3	9.7	52.1	81.3	18.7						
Kotajq	45.6	14.4	60.1	76.0	24.0						
Shirak	36.5	4.2	40.6	89.8	10.2						
Syunik	33.7	5.0	38.6	87.2	12.8						
Vajoc Dzor	9.5	1.0	10.5	90.9	9.1						
Tavush	18.5	8.7	27.2	68.2	31.8						
Total	563.8	140.8	704.6	80.0	20.0						

Table 2.17.3Total Number of Jobs by Marz, Type of Production Unit, and Nature
of Employment

		Тур	e of Production (Jnit		
	F	ormal Enterprise	!S	Informal		
Marz	Formal	Informal	Total	Enterprises	Households	Total
Yerevan	273.8	29.6	303.3	27.5	8.4	339.2
Aragatsotn	17.0	0.3	17.2	40.0	8.8	66.0
Ararat	34.7	3.7	38.4	75.4	13.1	127.0
Armavir	28.3	3.0	31.3	77.2	5.5	113.9
Gegharkunik	27.2	1.2	28.4	48.8	16.1	93.3
Lori	42.9	4.2	47.1	47.9	12.1	107.1
Kotajq	46.8	6.5	53.4	22.8	23.9	100.0
Shirak	37.5	0.5	38.0	43.3	5.2	86.5
Syunik	33.9	1.3	35.2	23.6	8.8	67.6
Vajoc Dzor	9.8	0.7	10.6	10.5	3.4	24.5
Tavush	18.9	2.6	21.5	34.3	11.4	67.2
Total	570.7	53.6	624.3	451.4	116.7	1,192.4

		Gross Val	ue Added			
	Frequency (A	AMD million)	Per	cent		
Industry	Formal**	Informal	Formal**	Informal		
Agriculture, hunting and forestry, fishing	399,557	115,026	77.7	22.4		
Mining and quarrying	55,051	0	100.0	0.0		
Manufacturing	259,491	13,577	95.0	5.0		
Electricity, gas, and water supply	99,100	0	100.0	0.0		
Construction	463,174	84,500	84.6	15.4		
Wholesale and retail trade, repairs, etc.	338,962	58,971	85.2	14.8		
Hotels and restaurants	17,124	0	100.0	0.0		
Transport, storage, and communications	238,008	9,152	96.3	3.7		
Financial intermediation	126,948	0	100.0	0.0		
Real estate, renting, and business activities	139,480	13,351	91.3	8.7		
Public administration and defense, social security	109,254	0	100.0	0.0		
Education	106,807	7,981	93.1	7.0		
Health and social work	108,211	5,620	95.1	4.9		
Other community, social, and personal services	47,629	9,491	83.4	16.6		
Private households with employed persons	878	0	100.0	0.0		
Total	2,509,674	317,669	88.8	11.2		

Table 3.1 Gross Value Added in Formal and Informal Sectors by Industry

Note: Formal** = formal sector + households.

Table 3.2Formal and Informal Sectors'Contributions to GDP by Marz

		Contribution to GDP													
	Frequ (AMD r	iency million)	Perce	ntage											
Marz	Formal**	Informal	Formal	Informal											
Yerevan City	n.a	123,330	n.a	38.8											
Aragatsotn	n.a	10,951	n.a	3.4											
Ararat	n.a	38,380	n.a	12.1											
Armavir	n.a	29,018	n.a	9.1											
Gegharkunik	n.a	8,592	n.a	2.7											
Lori	n.a	12,972	n.a	4.1											
Kotayk	n.a	15,445	n.a	4.9											
Shirak	n.a	29,009	n.a	9.1											
Syunik	n.a	27,998	n.a	8.8											
Vayots Dzor	n.a	6,629	n.a	2.1											
Tavush	n.a	15,346	n.a	4.8											
Urban	n.a	190,936	n.a	60.1											
Rural	n.a	126,733	n.a 39.9												
Total	2,509,674	317,669	88.8	11.2											

Table 3.3Formal and Informal Sectors'Contributions to GDP by Agriculture andNon-Agriculture Sector Segregation

		Contributi	tion to GDP									
	Frequ (AMD r	iency nillion)	Perce	ntage								
	Formal**	Informal	Formal	Informal								
Agriculture	399,557	115,026	77.7	22.4								
Non- agriculture	2,110,117	202,643	91.2	8.8								
Total	2,509,674	317,669	88.8	11.2								

GDP = gross domestic product.

Note: Formal** = formal sector + households.

Notes: Formal** = formal sector + households; GDP = gross domestic product; n.a. = not available.

	Labor	Productivity (AMD thou	isand)
Industry	Formal** Sector	Informal Sector	Whole Economy
Agriculture, hunting and forestry, fishing	3,645	304	1,055
Mining and quarrying	5,784	0	5,704
Manufacturing	4,039	2,169	3,873
Electricity, gas, and water supply	2,849	0	2,842
Construction	8,613	2,902	6,607
Wholesale and retail trade, repairs, etc.	4,269	3,199	4,068
Hotels and restaurants	1,412	0	1,312
Transport, storage, and communications	4,065	1,332	3,778
Financial intermediation	9,722	0	9,722
Real estate, renting, and business activities	15,688	20,229	16,002
Public administration and defense, social security	1,409	0	1,409
Education	991	11,039	1,058
Health and social work	1,758	19,718	1,840
Other community, social, and personal services	1,081	991	1,065
Private households with employed persons	231	0	231
Total	3,397	704	2,376

 Table 3.4
 Labor Productivity in Formal and Informal Sectors by Industry

Note: Formal^{**} = formal sector + households

Table 4.1	Average Real Income of Small
Producing	Units by Industry (AMD thousand)

Industry	Average Monthly Income of Owner	Average Monthly Compensation of Employees
Mining and quarrying	456.7	118.7
Manufacturing	404.5	83.6
Construction	340.2	90.8
Wholesale trade	463.5	78.8
Retail trade	193.7	46.7
Transportation	247.6	90.5
Education	179.1	67.6
Health	303.1	62.1
Other services	156.1	37.7

Table 4.2Proportion of Real IncomePerceived by HUEM Owners That ShouldBe Reported to State Bodies

Margins	Proportion (%)
Up to 20%	24.18
21%-50%	25.38
51%-80%	28.08
81% and more	10.81
Totally (no need to hide anything)	11.54

Appendix 7

Section D, Integrated Living Conditions Survey 2009 Questionnaire: Armenian Version

ԱՅՑԵԼՈՒԹՅՈՒՆ 1

Բաժին Ա ՏՆԱՅԻՆ ՏՆՏԵՍՈՒԹՅԱՆ ԱՆԴԱՄՆԵՐԻ ՅՈՒՅԱԿԸ

Ա.1. Ես կցանկանայի կազմել Ձեր տնային տնտեսության բոլոր՝ ինչպես ներկա, այնպես էլ բացակա անդամների ցուցակը։ Տնային տնտեսություն ասելով ես նկատի ունեմ այն անձանց. ովթեր սովորաբար բնակվում են միասին, վարում են միասնական տնտեսություն և ունեն միասնական բյուջե։ Առաջին հերթին ես կցանկանայի գրանցել տնային տնտեսության գլխավոր անդամին, ապա նրա կնոջը (ամուսնուն), նրանց երեխաներին և տնային տնտեսության մնազած անդամներին (հյուրերին մի թվարկեր)։

	Ինչպիսիո՞ կրթասկան մակարդակ ունեք (6 տաբեկանից) (6 տաբեկանից) 1. անգրագետ 2. ոչ լրիվ տարրական 3. տարրական 4. իրևակար լոկհատուր 5. միջնակարգործական) 7. միջիս մասնագրտական 8. թերի բարձրագույն 9. բարձրագույն 10. հետբուհական		6													
	Բացակալու-թյան հիմնական պատձառը 1. ուսում 2. բուծում 3. աշխատան 4. ամուտնություն 9. այլ 1. այլ 7. այլ		8													
	էթե հետազոտ- Երել ամեսլա ամալին ընթացքում տմային տմային ամոլում կան բացակա բացակա աղով ևշել I ևշել I		7													
	Ծննդավայրը 1. Երևան 2. թաղաթ Հայաստանում 3. գյուղ 3. գյուղ 4. Ռուսաստան 5. ԱՂՆ-ն Կանադա 6. Եվրոպայի որևէ ինիր 7. ԱՄՆ-ն Կանադա 8. Այլ		6													1
./#nh-Imho	Ամուսնական Ամոսիը (16 տարեկանից) 		5													
ا -اب مرادا.	որյան իսբ և ւեթիվը	վվատ	4													
	ամ աս Ծն	ովրա	3													
n-I-InnnmImm o	Կապը տնային տնտեսության գլխավորի հետ 1. գլխավորը 3. տղան/այինը 4. փեատն/հարաը 5. թոոը 4. փեատն/հարաը 5. մայրը / հայրը/ գոքանչը/ աները սկետարը սկետարը ազգակցակուները ազգակցակուները ազգակցակուները		2													
R	Սեոը Լարա- կան Լլան		1													
rumh 1	Անունը															
U_{nJn}	-ւմը հ/հ հ/հ			1	2	3	4	5	9	7	~	6	10	11	12	

U335LDF@3DFU 2

Դաժին Դ. ՋԲԱՂՎԱԾՈՒԹՅՈՒՆ

ՀԻՄՆԱԿԱՆ ԵՎ ԼՐԱՑՈՒՑԻՉ (ԵՐԿՐՈՐԴ) ՋԲԱՂՎԱԾՈՒԹՅՈՒՆ լրացվում է 15-75 (ներառյալ) տարեկան անձանց համար

Հիմնական համարվում է այն աշխատանքը, գործունեությունը, որտեղ հարցվողը վերջին 7 օրվա ընթացքում աշխատել է առավել քանակի ժամեր կամ ստացել է առավելագույն եկամուտ:

2եր աշխատանքը հիմնականում իրակսնացվում է. Անջարժ տարածքում Հարցերի ստան Հարցերի ստան Հարցերի տանից գուրս տարածք Հարցերի ստան Հարցերի ստանից կոչնա արտուրադրանտ կրուսին այն արտուրադրանտ կրուսին այն 4. ֆերմն կամ անհատական հողասորան, սունագրի, ստանից համար հուսու չերմնակութի, պասվիդասուի սում, աշիստուսիայ 6. շին, հրապարավ 7. շուկա. սոնավառնա, գրուացի 7. շուկա. սոնավառնա, գրուսին արույն սուն գործերում օգնություն 0. սրանապորտայիս միջոց 11. չկա մշտական սոեղ (դոններուո, փողոց՝ շարցնական	7					
2եր երկրորդ աշխատակք ուկենալու դրդապատճառը . հիմավան աշխատանքը չի ապահովում բավարար եկամուտ առօրյա կարիցները հոգալու հառնար 2. լացացիչ դրասի կարթ ունեւ հատուկ պոտոնջանդւցները բավարարելու հառնար (ձևակիոդոդոցուն, բավարարելու հառնար (ձևակիոդոդոցուն, բավարարելու հառնար (ձևակիոդոդոցրոնն տարումբների գրում եմ աշխատել ավել ժամեր կամ լրիվ աշխատանթը չի համնագրուղես աշխատանքը չի համնագրուդում ասգականին,	6					
2եր աշիստստա վայրի տևտեսական գործունեութ- յան տեսակը Նշել կոդն ըստ Հաղգագրու- Նշել կոդն ըստ Հավերված 1-ում բերված տևտեսական գործունեութ- յան տեսակների եթե սյ. 4-1->7 եթե սյ. 4-2-ծ6	5					
Աշխատակ- բի հ/հ <i>Հարցագրու-</i> <i>գավարդեւ</i> աստրանի ունի ավարտի մեկից ավելի աշխատանը, աստրով։ ատանձին ատողով։ <i>Հիմեական</i> <i>ևջել՝ չ</i> երգրորդը ՙ2	4					
Նշեւթ, իսևդրես՛, բացակայության իիւմւական պատճառը 1. հերթական, լրացուցիչ արձական պատճառով 2. հիզևմորություն, վատվածբ, հիզևմոլի իևոսք 3. հարկադիդ պարապուրո՝ 4. հղիության, հետծնորդուն արձակուրո 5. միջև 3 տարկան երեխայի խևամբի համար արձակուդում 6. աշխատումբը գյուղացիական անտեսությունում) աշխատունը գյուղացիական դրաընթացների հետ կապված արձակուրո՝ 8. հաճախորդի, պատվիրուտուի, սառակայարի բացակայու թյուն1 9. այլ (Եշես)	3					
Ուևեցե՞լեք աշխատակը կաս(սեփակարել եք վերջիև 7 օրվա ընթացթում 1. այո 2. ոչ → աղյ. 3	2					
<i>runl I</i> Վերջին 7 օրվա ընթացքում Դութ ունեցե՞ լեջ որևիցե աշխատունք կամ աշխատունք կում ընդական գործ), հույնիսկ, եթե Դուբ աշխատել եք ընդուղացիական ունտիսությունում, իսզմակերպությունում) դրոսնակերպությունում) դրոսնակերպությունում) ուսուսի ինեղեն վարձատրությամբ 2. ոչ 2. ոչ	1					
Utyphr. Use unbundl hdn						

2

Բաժին Դ. ԶԲԱՂՎԱԾՈՒԹՅՈՒՆ

ՀԻՄՆԱԿԱՆ ԵՎ ԼՐԱՑՈՒՑԻՉ (ԵՐԿՐՈՐԴ) ՋԲԱՂՎԱԾՈՒԹՅՈՒՆ լրազվում է 15-75 (ներառյալ) տարեկան անձանզ համար

					_	_	_	_	_	_	 	
	յդրեմ, աշխատողների տանակն ըստ սեոի երառյալ Դուք)			եղին	13 14							
	U24p, Julu pųup (ti)			ընդամենը	12							
	Մովորաբար քան մարդ է աշխատու Ձևր	(ախատասխ (ախատասխ	րում (ներաոցալ Դուք) 1. մինչև 5 (ներատյալ) 2. 6-15 2. 10-30→ 15 4. 31-49→ 15 5. 50-99→ 15 5. 100 և ավելի→15		11							
ilmnmr fannan amhailmia	տավայրի ացիական տնտեսությունում)	իրավական կարգավիձակը	1. ԲՔԸ, ՓԲԸ, ՍՊԸ, ԼՏԸ, ՍՁ 2. գրանցված կրոսվերատիվ 3. համատիրություն 4. անհատական գործունեություն 5. գործըկկուություն 6. մասնարից ՏՏ՝ վարձու աշխա-տուժի ներգրուվ-մամբ (ապասավոր, այգեպան, դայակ և այլն) 7. գրուղ. տնտեսություն 90. այլ (նշել) 98. չգիտեւմ		10							
mminn) // / r hmmhmm	Ձեր աշխա ներաղալ աշխատանքը գյուղ	սեփականության ձևը	1. uhumluub \rightarrow 16-19 2. hundugheynlib \rightarrow 16-19 3. hununpudpulub \rightarrow 16-19 iyoquali hununpund, nigyaput, digwaquali huqufuuluhunupun ibeluguugang-yanpand, 16-19 4. duuduadap quadudi, puquapund (hudu' gman, witookumapa quadudi, puquapund (hudu' gman, uitookumapa quaduadi, na hys Si dunfa; na huduap quapan tu unji) (ugu theog tuppan the to 25 t ufnufu qiapata ughuammluh γ $y, S = 1, 2, 3$)		6							ŝ
(i) mpn (indpn far	Թվարկվածներից ո՞րն առավել լավ կբնութագրի Ջեր զբաղվածու- թյան կարգավիճակը		 վարձու աշխատող՝ երկարաժամկետ 2 վարձու աշխատող՝ կարձաժամկետ գրավոր պայմանագրով 2 վարձու աշխատող՝ բանագրո 3 վարձու աշխատող՝ բանագրո համաձադրունում համաձադրունում 6 ինքագրաղված՝ գրդիջունութրամբ մտեսութրունում 8 ինքագրաղված՝ այլ գրդիունութրամբ 1, ատուցիկորմ, սպատղական կոուցերասիկի ան 90. այլ 		8							
umh 1 (2	н 2 4	1 8	ա ա ն ի ի/հ ի/հ (ևշել 1, 2)		4							
Unjm	S/S wînŋun[] h/h											

Բաժին Դ. ՋԲԱՂՎԱԾՈՒԹՅՈՒՆ

ՀԻՄՆԱԿԱՆ ԵՎ ԼՐԱՅՈՒՖԻՉ (ԵՐԿՐՈՐԴ) ԶԲԱՂՎԱԾՈՒԹՅՈՒՆ լթացվում է 15-75 (ներառյալ) տարեկան անձանց համար

	Եթե հևարավոր լիևեր, կվարո- դանայի ք ատ ժամեր, բակ այժմ այժմ 1. այո 2. ոչ			25						
	Իկչու՞ եք աշխատել ոչ լրիվ աշխատանբային օր 1. չեմ ցոմվացել լրիվ օր աշխատել–>26 աշխատելը–>26 աշխատանբային օրով աշխատույն աշխատուն աշխատուն աշխատուն աշխատուն աշխատուն աշխատուն աշխատուն աշխատուն աշխատուն աշխատուն աշխատուն աշխատուն աշխատուն աշխատուն աշխատուն աշխատուն աստուն անուցուն աշխատուն աստուն աշխատուն աստուն անտուն անտուն աստուն անտուն անտուն անտուն անտուն անտուն անտուն աստուն անտուն անտուն աստուն անտուն անտուն անտուն անտուն անտուն անտուն աստուն անտուն ուն անտուն անտուն անտուն անտուն անտուն անտուն անտուն անտուն անտուն անտուն անտուն անտուն ուս անտուն անտուն անտուն անտուն անտուն անտուն անտուն ուս անտուն անտուն ուս անտուն ուս անտուն անտուն ս անտուն անտուն անտուն անտուն անտուն ուս ս անտուն անտուն ուս անտուն անտուն ոս ս ս ս ս ս ս ս ս ս ս ս ս ս ս ս ս ս ս			24						
	2եր աշխատակրում Դուբ աշխատել եք ¹ լ. լրիվ աշխատան- թային օր→25 2. ռչ լրիվ աշխատան- քային օր² 3. արտաժամյա→26			23						
5	Ո՞րև է մշտական աջխատանք չունե¬ ևալու հիմնական պատճառը այսոճառը 2. չեմ կարոսցել գոհել մշտական աշխատանք 4. այլ			22						
	2եր աշխատանքը եղել է. 1. մշտակաե⇒23 վոր 3. սեզոնակա- 4 պատահական, 4 պատահական,			21						
	Այդ աշխատակ բը համա- կամ և Հար որալմ է Ձեր որակա- վորմանը վորակա- վորումից ցածր է 3. ոչ, իմ որակափրումիչ բարձր է			20						
	ացե՞լ եք դրառնսկան և	բնեղեն	եթե այո` նշել դրամով	19						
5	ում ստ ամուտ՝		1. uŋn 2. nչ	18						
1	ն ամսվա ընթացյ տավարձ կվամ եկ բնեղեն տեսքով ավոր է 2 պատալ	դակարան	եթե այո` ն <i>շ</i> ել դրամով	17						
(1)	Վերջի աշխա (կատ) (հնար	-	1. ujn 2. nչ	16						
upnı fuulpulpul	2եր կազմակեր- պության/ Հեր կողվից (աա/ ցրուղ, ստևութ- ուկը) արտադրաջ- ապրանքիրը, ծառովու պ են և (կամ) փոխանակվում և այո, վշտապես ա ծամանակ ա 2. այո, ժամանակ ա 2. տյո, ժունակ	nniniti-7 -z.		15						
uuh 1 (2	Ա 2 խ ա ն ի հ/հ (Նշել լ, 2)			4						
Ulgn	S/S h/h h/h									

¹ Պատասխանում են նաև արձակուրդում գտնվող անձինք։ ² Բացի օրենսդրությամբ նախատեսված դեպքերի (կրձատ աշխատանքային օր մինչև 18 տարեկան աշխատողների, երեխային կերակրելու համար լրացուցիչ ընդմիջումից օգտվող կանանց համար և այլն)։

Բաժին Դ. ԶԲԱՂՎԱԾՈՒԹՅՈՒՆ

U335LDF@3DFU 2

ՀԻՄՆԱԿԱՆ ԵՎ ԼՐԱՅՈՒՅԻՉ (ԵՐԿՐՈՐԴ) ՋԲԱՂՎԱԾՈՒԹՅՈՒՆ լրացվում է 15-75 (ներառյալ) տարեկան անձանց համար

	_	
í	2	
	5	
	5	2
	ŝ	Ś
	2	2
	1	2
	-	2
	ŗ	2
`	7	1
	Ę	1
	E	2
	È	1
ς,	2	2
	2	
Î		
•	5	
	Ş	2
	ŝ	
	ĉ	1
	;	5
Þ	2	2

		ու՞մ եք աղվածք	, Qn	մարի եռեհատ-	նոնավոր է	huninun	·	ηn	նվրևս	ոց. դահովագ		agijuo		nļdanļm	dmpmq		48 (Ly16)	• î S/S							
		Դուք ստան ք մարմածի	1. mjn, Ipmgdu	գանձված գու վեռաբեռա տ	վությամբ, կա	ալիանարդու	dampdud, ung	ապահուների.	փ վատութվան	կատարկած ս վճարների, աս	Im n n n n n n	Z. wyn, wjwpqt &lund	3. n ₂	Zunpgungn.	ifdymunmi/2m hui/anndmuhui/	unnutid þlu.	kթk ui.4= 1 →	tipt uj. 4= 2 →	34						
	ipt uj. 8 = 1, 2, 3)	Արանց Ձեզ նախազգուշաց¬	նելու կամ	տեղեկացնելու գործատուն	կարո՞ղ է ազատել	Ձեզ աշխատանքից				1. ujn 2. nv	2. ոչ 3. դժվարանում եմ	պատասխանել							33						
	ու աշխատողներին (ն	Երեխա ծնվելու դեպքում Դուք	humutu p	հետծննդյան նպաստ						1. ujn	2. ոչ 3. դժվարանում եմ	պատասխանել 4 հետութերե	די קוזןינעניענעןי 2י,						32						
	նվար են միայն վարձ	Հիվանդության պատճառով	m2]umumuph	չևերկայանալու դեսյքում Ձեզ	կիատկացվի՞	ժակակակարո ութություն	տոտիդ դտնվոսի			1. ujn 2. ns	3. ŋժվարանում եմ	պատասխանել							31						
	Հարցերը տ	Ձեզ հատկացվու՞մ է վձարովի	րակ կուրդ կամ	չօգտագործված արձակուրդի	դակարավև ցարվե	փոխատուցում			1. uŋn 2 nc	3. դժվարանում եմ	պատասխանել								30						
		Ձեր գործատուի կողմից Ձեզ	huufun	կատարվու մ են սոցիալական	վձարներ					1. mjn 2. nչ	3. դժվարանում եմ	Դորադերան							29						
	ե՞նչ պատձառով եք	փնտրել լրացուցիչ կամ նոր աշխատանք	1. կազմակերպության	ապապող լուօարսաս կաս աշխատատեղերի	կրձատվան 2. աշխատանթային	պայմանոգրի ժամկետի	ավարտի 3. մասնազիտության	(դոդվորակոսն)	անհավապատասխանույ»- յունը ներկա աշխատանքին	4. աշխատանքի անբավարար	պայմանների 5. առողջական վիճակի	6. ցածր վարձատրության	lím ·/	Հարցազրուցավար <u>ին</u> տոտունչտուը աշերառունտե	huntup umutikhti.	trpt uj. $8=1, 2, 3 \rightarrow 29$, trat uj. $8=4.5.6 \rightarrow 35$	tpht uj. 8=7, 8, 90→	S/S հաջորդ անդամին	28						
ynı lı)	Վերջին 4 շաբաթվա	ընթացքում այլ աշխատանք փնտրե՞լ	t.p			1. այո, փնտրել եմ	շվնունիչ	աշխատանք Դ ոսը շերորեւ եւք	ու այու դուսը ու մեկ այլ աշխատանք	3. n2	_		Zunavannawhunhli	druisyndindrui	<u>աշխատանքի համար</u>	tepta uj. 8= 1, 2, 3 → 29,	tıpli uj. 8= 4, 5, 6 → 35	եթե սյ. 8= /, 8, 90→ Տ/Տ հաջորդ անդամին	27						
uppnt hudpnp	loztep,	խնդրեմ, վերջին	շաբաթվա ոնթացում	dgununudh	աշխատած ժումեռե	քանակը,	գաղ								_ungungmi_	Cpk un. 1	uj. 2= 1, mohimmið	ժամերը ևշել՝0:	26						
C) 1 hmn	n	2 hi	. 8	s	п.,	= f	* 4	h/h			(tu2tul 1, 2)								4						
tnjm.	S/S	h/h h/h																							

Բաժին Դ. ԶԲԱՂՎԱԾՈՒԹՅՈՒՆ

ԻՆՔՆԱՋԲԱՂՎԱԾՈՒԹՅՈՒՆ լրացվում է 15-75 (ներաոյալ) տարեկան **գործատուների** և ինքնագրաղվածների համար

ntimhnign
nthulpul
nıfnulpnığ
nılımlmı
nıtımlın
nıfnul
nıfım
nılın
nıl
ū
5
3
0
\sim
1
-
2
3
5
7
n
2
E

	Ձեր կազմակերպութ-	յունն իր հաշիվները, ները,	գրասցուսսելոբ ս հաշվետվութուննե⊤ոո	պատրաստում է.	1. ամբողջական հաշվապահական գրանցամատյան հաշվեկշիտ)	2. պարզեցված օրինական հաշիվներ՝ հարկերի վճառնուհ հաղնու	պահանջվող ձևով 3. ոչ ֆորմալ գրանցումներ՝ Նեուհն շատուռութերն	աղւբյու օգտագողթատո համար	4. գրավոր հաշիվներ չեն	պահվում 90. ալլ (ևշել)	43					
		ընտանիքի	- ըստշտ	դալ∽գ.ող	աշխատող անդամ						42					
	Jurd	վարձու	աշլսատուլ Խունուլիստ	բասակոր համաձայնու-	gjuufp						41					
	rel trím	վարձու	luunun maluun	-ամայլալս Ապեսել	գրով (հրամանով)						40					
		սեփակա-	վուտուս								39					
	Քանի՞ մարդ է	undnpupup	աշխատուս «պո	(ներառյալ Դուք)							38					
	Վերջին 12	ամիսներից	բասը ասըսս եռ որոծել	Incolve An							37					
()	րթա՞ն ժամանակ	եք զբաղվում այդ	Յուսներություն		1. մինչև 6 աւքիս 2. 7-12 ամիս 3. 1-3 տարի	4.3 տարուց ավելի					36					
วมาโลนปรายโ	Աշխատանքի	h/h	(տես աղյ. 1	uj. 4-hg (kg 11))	<u>. 1 010 1 1</u> ualpupgilm2	եթե Տ/Տ տվյալ անդամն ունի մեկից ավելի	գործ, ապա յու- րա¬քանչյուրի մասին տեղե¬կու-	թյունը գրանցել	առանձին ՝	:huluun	4					
umh 1 (2mf	S/S hupuu-	գործատու)	անդամի հ/հ								35					
Unjmu	z															

9

Բաժին Դ. ԶԲԱՂՎԱԾՈՒԹՅՈՒՆ

<u>იკილიესითიგიუ</u>

լրացվում է 15-75 (ներառյալ) տարեկան գործատուների և ինքնագբաղվածների համար

Վերջին 7 օրվա ընթացրում Ձևր հիմնական աշխատանքի հետ մեկտեղ ունեցև՞լ ևք մեկ այլ լրացուցիչ աշխատարեր կամ եկսանուրեր կու հետագոտվող շաբաթում բացակայել ևը ∠այցագրուցավորին 1. այո→ աղ. 1 պ. 4 (էջ 11) 2. ոչ → S/S հաջորդ աևդամին	48					
2եր ստացած եկաւնտի (ներառյալ՝ բնեղեն) մուտավորապես բանի՞ տոկոսն է ծախսվում ոնային տնտեսության ընթացիկ ծախսերի վրա, նշել %-ով Հարցագրուցավարին. եթե աղ. 1 պ. 4 (էջ 11) =1 →48 եթե աղ. 1 պ. 4 (էջ 11) =2 → Տ/Տ հաջորդ անդամին	47					
Գործը նախաձևռնևլիս ո՞րև է եղել Ձեր իիմնական դժվարությունը բերում 2. գիտելիքների պակաս 3. գործունեության գրանցում 4. իստվական դրուջո անկատորություն 6. տրակալ աշխատոներ ձեռը բերում 6. օրակալ աշխատոներ ձեռը բերում 4. ստարաջի ձեռք բերում, վարձակալություն	46					
Ձեր աշխատավայրի գործուևնությունը սիետական մարմինների կողվից իրավաբա-մորեն գրանցվա ծ է . այո 1. այո 2. գրանցան գործընթացում է 3. ոչ 4. չեմ ցանկանում պատասխանել 5. ջգիտեմ 6. գործունեությունն իրականացրում է սուսեսությունում	45					
Վերջին 12 ամիսների ընթացքում Դուբ փորձև՞լ ևջ վարկ վերցնել . այո. փորձել եմ և վերցրել եմ . սուցել 3. ոչ	44					
. Ц 2 ри ии и п h/h h/h h/h u u-4-þg)	4					
SK5 phpfum- qpruntjuuð (qnnpau- unm) hufh hufh	35					
z						

Բաժին Դ. ԶԲԱՂՎԱԾՈՒԹՅՈՒՆ

ուՋբԱղՎԱԾ ԵՎ ԳՈՐԾԱՏՈՒ ԱՆԴԱՄՆԵՐԻ ՊԱՏԱՍԽԱՆՆԵՐԻ ՀԻՄԱՆ ՎՈ	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	3 4 5						8
ուսո վուն	tyek unij. 1 uj. 42 (tg 15) ti 2bi (č, unjlumjtu' X	4						
ወገቢ ኮժ ወሀኑ	եթե աղ. 1 պ. 15 = 1, 2 (էջ 13) ևջել Ծ, այլապես՝ X	3						8
8՝ S/S ԻՆՔՆԱՉԲԱԴ	եթե աղյ. 1 սյ. 10 (էջ 12) = 4, 5, 7, 90, 98 ևշել Ծ, այլապես՝ X	2						
ՎՈՆՍդ ՎЛՍЛԴՉ)	Նթե այլ. 1 սյ. 8 = 4, 5, 6 (Էջ 12) կշել 0՝	1						
በኮሆ ቲ 2ሀ	Ա 2 իս ա ն ի h/h h/h unu-1 иј. 4-ից)	4						
ት ይህገ ገ	աղվահ ջակկառը (առաղմարի միս	35						
IInin	z							

Բաժին Դ. ՉՋԲԱՂՎԱԾՈՒԹՅՈՒՆ

Ľ
E
n
'n
2
Ē
Ę
2
n
ď
ű
3
F
E
Ë,
Ľ
n
2
μ
E
ŝ
Ē
ñ
0
3
ű
В
Εļ
E.
n
5
P
m
-
3
um
Epund
(ukpum
5 (lukpum
-75 (futhum
5-75 (luhnun
- 15-75 (htpun
l t 15-75 (luhnun
ий է 15-75 (htpum
Jnud է 15-75 (utpun
gynud է 15-75 (uhnun
ugynu t 15-75 (uhnun
լրացվում է 15-75 (ներառ
յրացվում է 15-75 (ներառ

	(j) , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,						
	այլեր եթ արել տանբ գտնելու կամ իան գործ սկսելու ու ավոր է 2 պատասխա ակամ հատարություն եմ զբաղկածության ավորմամ մասնափի ավորվում մասնակեր արտարություններ ոստանբ եմ փնտրել իս մասիչ ես կոսիջապես ասուկն ես մասիջապես ասուկն ես մասիջապես ասուկն ես մասիջապես ասուկն ես մասիջապես	8					
	Γ ⁵ ևչ քր աշխա հատքա (<i>hhu</i> դ 1. դիսն 1. դիսն 1. դիսն 4. կան հայստ 4. կան հայ 5. աշխն 5. աշխն 5. դիսն 7. այլ (()	7					
7 77	Ինչու՞ վերջին 4 շաբաթվա ընթացքում (ներայուպ հետագոտվող 7 օրերը) աշխատոսնը չեք փնտրել աշխատունը չեք փնտրել 1. արդին գտել հմ աշխատոնը և կովսեմ աշխատոնքում 2. դիմել եմ աշխատոնքում մերապոտում վերապոտում է վերջին աշխատովայրից ապատում եմ հրավերի 5. բնտունել աշխատովուրից ապատում եմ հրավերի պատճառով 5. բնտունել աշխատուլթյին պատճառով 7. չունեմ աշխատուլթյին պատճառով 7. չունեմ աշխատուլթյին սրում (նշել) →16 10. այ (նշել) →16 10. այ (նշել) →16 10. այ (նշել) → 14	9					
1 1 1 1	thpphu 4 2mpupulut pheugpnud 1 ophpung hետագրոսվող 7 ophpn) փարիել է ըչ սկսել կամ փորձել է ը սկսել սերկական գործ 1. այո. փորձել եմ սկսել աշխատակը – 7, 8 2. այո. փորձել եմ սկսել մեփական գործ – 9,10. 3. w9	5					
73	Որթա՞և ժամանակ է, որ չեք աշխատում 1. մինչև 1 ամիս 3. 2. 3. ամիս 4. 6. 12 ամիս 5. 1- 2 տորի 6. 2.4 տորի և ավելի 7. 4 տորի և ավելի	7					
	Աշխատուսները դադարեցնելու հիմնական պատճառը . աշխատանթից ազատումը կամ ավարտը . Համանակարության լուծարունը . մամանակարություն . Համաստարերը պամ ավարտը . հիվանդությունը կամ հաշմադրակունթյունը . Հայարսադի զինծառայության անցնելը 6. ուսումը պարասդութը . Հայարսադի զինծառայության անցնելը 8. ընտանկան հահզատումը կամ հացնելը 9. հարկային պարապութը ՝ հարկային պարապութը հայնադիր կարադունը կամ անուսիսին ձգնաժանով սատուն կամ	3					
10	Երբևէ ուևնցէ՞լ եթ վձարովի աշխաստանբ կառք նկամտաբեր գբաղմունը 1. այո 2. ռչ → 5	2					
$ul_{l}3$	Նշեթ վերջիև 7 օրվա ընթացքում Ձեր չաշխատելու պատճառը (ցերկային) ուսոցմամը) վարող 3. կիսաթույսպուտու (տարիջային, առոջական, արտոնյալ պայնտներով) 4. չեմ ունեցել աշխատանք 5. այլ (Եշել)	1					
Цпричи	utanuf Mh						

Բաժին Դ. ԶԲԱՂՎԱԾՈՒԹՅՈՒՆ

լրացվում է 15-75 (ներառյալ) տարեկան **աշխատանք չունեցող անդամների** համար

	ինդրեմ, ագիտական ցումը սկսելու ը և տարեթիվը ոժին Ե ոժին Ե	19					
	Նշեբ, մասնս ուսու ամիս ∠արցա Հարցա ամիս	18					
	Վերջին մեկ անցե՞ լեք որևէ տեսակի մասնագի- տական ուսուցման ուսուցման ուսուցման արարիթաց գբաղվածութ- յան պետական մատայության միջոցով	17					
	Գրանցված եթ արաղվածու- թյան պետական ծատայութ- յունուն 2. ոչ	16					
	Եթե այո, ապա ի՞մչ կամ հմտություններ կցանկանաբ ձեռք բերել լրացուցիչ կդթություն, սոր մասնագիտություն 3. արհեստ 3. արհեստ հմտություններ 90. այլ (Եշել)	15					
	Աշխատաշուկա- յում առավել միցումապի վինելու համար կարիք ունե՞ք վերապատրաստ- ման 1. այո 2. ոչ →16	14					
	Որթա՞ս ժամանակ եք աշխատակք փործում սկսել սեփական գործ Աշփոչև 1 ամիա 3.3.6 ամիա 3.3.6 ամիա 5.1.2 տարի 6.2.4 տարի և ավել 7.4 տարի և ավել	13					
	Գրանցվա`ծ եք զբաղվածության պետոսկան ծառայությունում Հ. ոչ 2. ոչ	12					
(Համապատասխան աշխատանքի առջաջարկի դեպքում, հետազոտվող շաբաթում պատրա՞ստ եք անմիջապես անցնել աշխատանքի Ա.աթ→13 Հ.ոչ	11					
nntumhntphnt	ծևարկել գործ սկսելու սարավոր է 2 ան) ան) ան տարածբ, եր, կար կար կար կետական լիազոր երին՝	10					
1ml 3 (2m]	Ի՞կչ էք ձեռ սերիական ավարալի (իկ պատասիալ սերբեսով արգրեսել եր հրահաս սահասի սերսելով սերսելով սերսելով սերսելով սերսելով սերսելով սերսելով սերսելով սերսելով սերսես սեր սեր	6					
Unjmu	svs uthrjuuth h/h						

10

Հավելված 1

ՏՆՏԵՍԱԿԱՆ ԳՈՐԾՈՒՆԵՈՒԹՅԱՆ ՏԵՍԱԿՆԵՐԻ ԴԱՍԱԿԱՐԳԻՉ

- 1. Գյուղատնտեսություն, որսորդություն, անտառային տնտեսություն
- 2. Ձկնորսություն, ձկնաբուծություն
- 3. Հանքագործական արդյունաբերություն (արդյունահանում)
- 4. Մշակող արդյունաբերություն
- 5. Էլեկտրաէներգիայի, գազի, ջրի արտադրություն և բաշխում
- 6. Շինարարություն
- Առևտուր` բացի ավիատոմսերի վաճառքից, ավտոմեքենաների, կենցաղային արտադրատեսակների և անձնական օգտագործման իրերի նորոգում
- 8. Հյուրանոցներ և ռեստորաններ
- 9. Տրանսպորտ և կապ (նաև` զբոսաշրջության գործակալությունների գործունեություն)
- 10. Ֆինանսական գործունեություն (նաև` գրավատների) և ապահովագրություն
- 11. Անշարժ գույքի հետ կապված գործառնություններ, վարձակալում և սպառողներին ծառայությունների մատուցում (հաշվող տեխնիկայի հետ կապված գործունեություն, հետազոտություններ և մշակումներ, իրավունքի բնագավառում և աուդիտորական զործունեություն, համատիրությունների գործունեություն,)
- 12. Պետական կառավարում, դատաիրավական համակարգ, բանակ, ոստիկանություն, հրշեջ ծառայություն
- 13. Կրթություն
- 14. Առողջապահություն, սոցիալական ծառայությունների մատուցում (ծերանոցների, մանկատների, խուլ-համրերի, կույրերի և մտավոր, ֆիզիկական թերություններով անձանց համար հաստատությունների գործունեություն)
- 15. Կոմունալ սոցիալական և անհատական ծառայությունների մատուցում (մշակույթ, սպորտ, կոմունալ և այլ ծառայություն, հասարակական կազմակերպությունների գործունեություն)
- Տնային տնտեսությունների վարման ծառայություններ (տնային տնտեսությունում աշխատող վարձու անձինք)
- 17. Օտարերկրյա կազմակերպությունների գործունեություն

Appendix 8 Section D, Integrated Living Conditions Survey 2009 Questionnaire: English Version

VISIT 1.

HOUSEHOLD MEMBERS' ROSTER. Section A.

mean people who usually live together, share the same housekeeping and have the same budget. At first, I would like to write down the A1. I would like to make a complete list of all the members of your household, both present and absent. By saying a household I name of the head of the household, then his spouse, their children and then other members of the household. Do not include the visitors.

el of licted? mary (1- y (8 th y (8 th ional														
What is the leve education comp (from 6 years at over) . illiterate 2. non-complete pri 2. forms) 3. primary (3 rd form 4. general secondar 6. proliminary vocational 8. non-complete hig 9. higher addate 10. post-graduate		6												
What was (is) the main reason for the absence 1.cducation 2.treatment 3.work 4.marriage 5.other family 6.army 7. other		8												
If during the whole survey month some members of the household are absent, then mark the respective line by putting 1.		7												
Place of birth 1. Yerevan 2. town in Armenia 3. village in 4. Russia 5. Other CIS country 6. country 7. USA and Canada 8. Other		6												
Marital status (from 16 years of age) 1.married 3.mowed 4.divroed/ separated 5.colabiting (without being iregistered as		5												
of	year	4												
Date	month	3												
Relationship to head of h/h 1.head 2.spouse 3.son/daughter 4.son in law/ daughter in law 5.grandchild 6.father/mother of head / spouse of head 8.have no relationship to head		2												
Sex 1.male 2.female		1												
Name														
No No h/h mem ber			1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	6	10	11	12

VISIT 2

Section D. EMPLOYMENT (For members aged 15-75)

The main occupation is considered to be the occupation where the respondent spent the most part of time or received the most income during the last 7 days. (Main job or occupation is Job Number 1).

	Where do you mainly undertake your work? Fixed premises • Home of employed person 1. At my home with work space 2. At my home with work space inside/ attached to the home • Outside of the home of employed person 3. Factory, office, work shop, shop, kiosk, etc 4. Farm or individual agricultural/subsidiary plot 5. Home or workplace of client 6. Construction site 7. Market, bazaar stall, trade fair 6. Construction site 7. Market, bazaar stall, trade fair 8. Street paywement or highway with fixed post 9. Employer's home No fixed premises 10. Transport vehicle 11. No fixed location (e.g., door-to- door; street without fixed post) 00. Others <i>exoretio</i>	L Linne commo vor					
	Why did you have another job/activity? I. Main employment does not provide enough income to meet daily needs 2. Need additional money for special purposes 3. Want to work more hours or full- time 4. Main employment does not correspond to my qualification/ specialty 5. Need to help in a relative's household 90. Others, <i>specify</i>	6					
	The main type of economic activity in your workplace or business <i>For interviewer</i> <i>Record the code</i> <i>activities provided</i> <i>in</i> <i>Annex 1</i> <i>Annex 1</i> <i>Annex 1</i> <i>Annex 1</i> <i>Annex 1</i> <i>Annex 1</i> <i>Annex 1</i>	5					
	NUMBER NUMBER For interviewer If the HH member has member has more than one job, please, record each job in a separate row. in a separate row.	4					
0	Please specify the main reason of absence 1. Amual leave, additional vacation, personal leave of absence 2. Illness, injury, care for a sick person 3. Forced administrative vacation ¹ 4. Maternity leave 5. Child-care leave (up to 3 years) ² 6. Specifics of work / seasonality (including work in the farm) ² 7. Education or training vacation ¹ 8. Lack of clients, customers, suppliers, etc. ¹ 9. Other reasons, <i>specify</i>	(m					
	Did you have any work or which you were absent during the last 7 days? 1. Yes 2. No → Table 3	2					
	Did you have any paid work or profitable work or profitable during the last 7 days; even if you worked only for one hour (include the work in a farm, family enterprise)? 1. Yes \rightarrow col. 4 2. No						
Table I	HH ber's ID number (Copy from Sectio n A)						

¹ In case an assurance of a return to the same work \rightarrow 4, otherwise \rightarrow Table 3² if the total duration of absence from a work does not exceed 6 months \rightarrow 4, otherwise \rightarrow Table 3

yourself)	men	14					
e give the exact kers (including	women	13					
work	total	12					
How many persons (including yourself) usually work in your enterprise/ household/ the enterprise where you are employed? 1. less than 5 2. 6 -15 3. 16 - 30 \rightarrow 15 4. 31 - 49 \rightarrow 15 5. 50 - 99 \rightarrow 15 7. do not know		11					
What is the legal status/ organization of the private enterprise where you work? 1. Joint stock company/ corporation, Limited liability 2. Registered cooperative 3. Condominum 4. Individual business 5. Partnership 6. Private household employing domestic staff 7. Farm 90. Others, <i>specify</i> 98. Do not know		10					
What is the type of ownership of the enterprise in which you work? 1. State-owned (fully or partly) enterprise $\rightarrow 16-19$ 2. Municipals $\rightarrow 16-19$ 3. Non profit institutions, NGOs (e.g., development organizations), associations, international agencies $\rightarrow 16-19$ 4. Privately owned enterprise (also farms) 5. Private employer (this point can record only for employees: <i>col.</i> $8=1, 2, 3$)		9					
 What is your employment status? 1. Employee with a written contract for long-term employment 2. Employee with a written contract for short-term employment 3. Employee with verbal agreement 4. Employee with verbal agreement 6. Other with permanent 6. Other own-account workers 7. Unpaid worker family member 8. Member of the production 90. Others, specify 		8					
J B M M M B B R R R (specify 1, 2)		4					
HH mem- ber's ber's number from A)							

Section D. EMPLOYMENT (For members aged 15-75) MAIN AND SECOND JOBS

VISIT 2

 $\boldsymbol{\omega}$

IENT	-75)	JOBS
LOYN	sed 15	OND
EMPI	bers ag	D SEC
on D.	- mem	N AN
Secti	(for	MAI

VISIT 2

	Can you work more than you are working now, if you have the option? 1. Yes 2. No			25					
	Why did you work part-time? 1. Unwilling to take a full-time work →26 2. Unable to take a full-time work 3. Unable to find a full-time work 4. Because of the employer's initiative 5. Depended on the	seasonality		24					
	At your work/ activity you worked: ¹ 1. Full time→25 2. Part time ² 3. Overtime→26			23					
	What is the main reason for not having a permanent job? I. Did not want to hav a permanent job 2. Could not find a permanent job 4. Others, <i>specify</i>			22					
	What kind of job, activity did you have? Permanent→23 2. Temporary 5. Seasonal 4. Occasional or one-time			21					
	Does this work comply with your qualification? 2. No, it is below my qualification 3. No, it is above my qualification			20					
	y payment/ nd payment	kind Payment	s In Drams equivalent	19					
	i receive any monetar in drams and/or in ki he last one month? <i>e 2 answers</i>)	tary Payment In	In Drams [1. yes	17					
	Did you during (<i>possibu</i>	Mone	1. yes 2. no	16					
'inuation)	Does the enterprise you ownt where you work (including work in the farm) work in the farm) seel or barter its goods and/or services? 1. Yes, at least some part of it on a regular basis 2. Yes, at least some part of it from time-to- time 3. No	4. Don't know		15					
(cont	JOH NDMHM	1	(specify 1, 2)	4					
Table 1	HH mem- ber's ID mumber mumber from A) A)								

¹ This question should be answered also by people who are on vacation. ² Not counting the cases envisioned by Law (part-time workday for employees under 18 and women using additional breaks for breastfeeding).

VISIT 2

_				 	 	 	
	Do you get a pay slip? I. Yes, complete with information on withholding tax payments, regular and overtime pay, deductions for social security, emplover's	contribution to social security, insurance, etc. 2. Yes, simple pay slip 3. No 3. No For interviewer: If col. $4= 1 \rightarrow 48$ If col. $4= 2 \rightarrow$ the next h/h member	34				
=1.2.3	Unless there is due cause, could your employment be terminated by your employer without advance notice? 1. Yes 2. No	98. Do not know	33				
sked only if column 8	In case of birth of a child, would you be given the opportunity to benefit from maternity/ paternity leave? 1. Yes 2. No	80. Not applicable 98. Do not know	32				
anestions should be a	In case of incapacity to work due to health reasons, would you benefit from paid sick leave? 1. Yes 2. No	98. Do not know	31				
These	Do you benefit from paid annual leave/holiday leave or from compensation instead of it? 1. Yes 2. No	98. Do not know	30				
	Does your employer pay contributions to the legislated pension fund for you? 1. Yes 2. No	98. Do not know	29				
Why did you look for	additional or new job? 1. Liquidation of the enterprise or reduction of work places 2. End of the contract 3. Inconsistency of the current work with the profession	(qualification) conditions conditions 5. On a state of health 6. low salary 7. Others, <i>specify</i> 7. Others, <i>specify</i> 1f col. 8 = 1, 2, 3 \rightarrow 29, 1f col. 8 = 7, 8, 90 \rightarrow the next h/h member	28				
Did von look for	another job during the last 4 weeks? I. Yes, I looked for an additional job	2. Yes, I looked for a new job 3. No 3. No For interviewer: If col. 8 = 4, 5, 6 \rightarrow 35 If col. 8 = 7, 8, 9 \rightarrow the next h/h member	27				
<i>Inuation)</i>	hours did you actually work during the surveyed week, hours?	For interviewer: If colurm 3 in If colurm 3 in been filled in, worked hours should be marked "0"	26				
(conti	OB NDMBH	(specify 1, 2)	4				
Table I	mem- ber's ID number (Copy from Section A)						

Ś

Section D. EMPLOYMENT

SELF-EMPLOYMENT

(For own-account workers and employers aged 15 -75)

	How does your	enterprise/business maintain its records or accounts? 1. Complete bookkeeping (balance sheet and operating statements) 2. Simplified legal accounts 3. Only through informal records of orders, sales, purchases 4. No written records are kept 90. Others, <i>specify</i>	43					
		Unpaid working members of the household	42					
	ing	Paid workers working under verbal agreement	41					
	Includ	Paid workers with a written contract (order)	40					
		Owner	39					
	How many	people usually work for this enterprise (including yourself) ?	38					
	For how many	months has this enterprise been operating during the past 12 months?	37					
	How long have you	been conducting this activity? 1. Up to 6 months 2. 7-12 months 3. 1-3 years 4. More than 3 years	36					
ntinuation)	JOB NUMBER	(see col. 4 in Table 1) Table 1) If the h/h member has more than one business, please, record each business in a separate row	4					
Table 1 (co.	-uwo H/H	account worker's or employer's ID number (Copy from Section A)	35					

Section D. EMPLOYMENT

VISIT 2

(for Own-account workers and employers aged 15 -75) SELF-EMPLOYMENT

		_	 	 	 	 	
	Did you have any additional job or an income-generating activity in parallel to your main job during the last 7 days even if you were absent? even if you were absent? I. Yes \rightarrow Table 1 col. 4 2. No \rightarrow the next h/h member	48					
	What proportion of your earning/income has spent for current expenses of the household? (please, specify %) For interviewer: If Table 1 col. $4=1 \rightarrow 48$ If Table 1 col. $4=2 \rightarrow$ the next h/h member	47					
	What was the main difficulty in setting up the enterprise? 1. Acquisition of capital / credit 2. Lack of knowledge 3. Registration 4. Imperfection of the legal field 5. Acquisition of new technologies 6. Finding qualified workers 7. Acquisition or rent of a place 8. No difficulties 90. Others, <i>specify</i>	46					
	Is your business registered in any national/state or local government agency? I. Yes 2. Is in the process of being registered 3. No 4. Do not want to answer 5. Do not know 98. The activity has been implemented in farm	45					
	Did you try to get a credit during the past 12 months? 1. Yes, successfully 2. Yes, but failed 3. No	44					
ontinuation)	JOB NUMBER (see col. 4 in Table 1)	4					
Table 1 (c	H/H own- account worker's or employer's ID number (Copy from Section A)	35					

 \sim

Section D. EMPLOYMENT

TO BE FILLED BY THE ENUMERATOR

VISIT 2

	Put a check mark ($$) if the entries in Table 2 Columns 1 to 4 are all "O".	5					
	If entry in Table 1 Column 43 is either code 2, 3, 4 or 90 enter "X". enter "X".	4					
	If the entry in Table 1 Column 15 is either code 1 or 2 enter "O", otherwise, enter "X".	3					
	If the entry in Table 1 Column 10 is either code 4, 5, 7, 90 or 98, enter "O", otherwise enter "X".	2					
	If the entry in Table 1 Column 8 is either code 4, 5, or 6, enter "O".	1					
	JOB NUMBER (see col. 4 in Table 1)	4					
Table 2	H/H own- account worker's or employ- yer's ID yer's ID number (Copy from Section A)	35					

 ∞

D. UNEMPLOYMENT	nembers aged 15-75)
etion	(for
Š	

Table 3

e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e										
you underta possible 2 d to the statu ment service d to the privice mouncemel ar basis announcemel ar basis announcemel i for a job w o of friends, s s s t d irectly to er er er er h 10 to specify	~									
What did get a job (answers)? answers)? employ employ 3. Read an a regula 4. Issued. 4. Issued an on a reg 5. Looked the hell the hell the hell th	7									
 Why haven't you looked for a job during the last 4 weeks (including 7 days of the survey? LI have already found a job and will start to work within 2 weeks and will start to an waiting for a reply a m waiting for a reply a m waiting for a reply a law and suing for a reply training. I have been sent to training for an offer from my last employment place Because of overload in household Because of sickness, injury Hopeless to find a job to to the sum to where or how to boot the start to where or how to boot the start to where or how to boot for a job Don't want to work → 16 Others. <i>specify</i> → 16 For interviewer: If 1.2→11 If 3 - 8→14 	6									
 Did you look for a paid job on try to start your own business (including the 7 days of the survey) during the last 4 weeks? 1. Yes, I looked for a paid job →7, 8 2. Yes, I tried to start my own business → 9, 10 3. No 	5									
For how long have you not been working? I. Up to 1 month 3. 4 to 6 month 4. 7 to 12 month 5. 1 to 2 years 6. 2 to 4 years 7. Over 4 years	4									
The main reason for interrupting the work: of work places 2. Liquidation of the enterprise 3. End of temporary activity 4. Retirement 5. Illness or disability study 6. Education 7. Mandatory military service 8. Family circumstances 9. Forced administrative vacation due to current economic crisis 90. Other reasons, <i>specify</i>	3									
Have you ever had a paid or a profitable work? 1. Yes 2. No→ 5	2									
Please, record the reason why you didn't work during the last 7 days (stationary) 2. Housekeeper 3. Pensioner (by age, health, privileged conditions) 4. No work 90. Others, <i>specify</i>	-									
HH ber's ID number (Copy from Section A)		1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	Ī

6

Section D. UNEMPLOYMENT (for members aged 15-75)

Table 2 10

	till in training or t completed, when did a start the training? onth and year) ase, specify month and r, when you start the ining? section E	nonth year	18 19									
	Have you received If s or currently just receiving you training(s) by state (m employment Ple service during the yea last 1 year? trai 1. Yes 2. No \rightarrow Section E $\rightarrow 9$		17									
	Are you registered with the state employment services? 2. No 2. No 2. No 2. No		16									
	If yes, then what kind of training or skills would you like to have? I. Additional education, new profession 2. Crafts 3. Technical skills 90. Others, <i>specify</i>		15									
	Do you need training to be more competitive in the employment market? 1. Yes →16 2. No		14									
	How long are you looking for a job, trying to start own business? 1. Up to 1 month 3. 4 to 6 month 3. 4 to 6 month 6. 2 to 4 years 7. Over 4 years		13									
	If it was possible to work within the 2 weeks, would you be able and ready to start your work? 1. Yes 2. No		12									
(uou	If it was possible to work during the surveyed week, would you be able and ready to start your work? 1. Yes →13 2. No		11									
ne 5 (continua	steps did you take to start your uusiness? sked for location, tts, equipment smpted to raise s/get credit blied to state orized bodies for nits		10									
I ab	What what own t own t on 1. Loo 1. Loo inpu inpu 3. App auth perm		6									
	HH ber's ber's ID numb from A)			 2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	9.	10.

10

Annex 1. Types of Economic Activity

- 1. Agriculture, hunting, forestry
- 2. Fishing, fish-breeding
- 3. Mining and quarrying
- 4. Manufacturing
- 5. Electricity, gas and water supply
- 6. Construction
- 7. Wholesale and retail trade, repaire of motor vehicles, motorcycles and personal and household goods
- 8. Hotel and restaurants
- 9. Transport and communication
- 10. Financial activity
- 11. Real estate, renting and business activities
- 12. Public administration
- 13. Education
- 14. Health and social work
- 15. Community, social and personal service activities
- 16. Private households with employed persons
- 17. Services related to housekeeping
- 18. Activities of exterritorial organizations and bodies

Appendix 9 Informal Sector Survey 2009 Questionnaire:Armenian Version

Шашлациа (шадшая) зијиција (17) Зибрицијалперио олборпи), а ни hunguagnnegh duðuðulu unugujuð inbfbluunijning böðaulu t hnuuum uðuni inbugni): ЭЗ ЦАЧЦЭРЪ ЧРБЦЧЦФРЦЧЦТ БЦПЦЭЛНВЭЛРТ ЗГ. р.н. 1 - Л.Б. Зишпшилциб t 33 цірбин улицар цеклиций рапрари Д. р.н. 1 - Л.Б. Зишпшилциб t 33 цірбин улицар цеклиций рапрари Д. р.н. 1 - Л.Б. Зишпшилциб t 33 цірбин улицар цеклиций рапрари Д. р.н. 1 - Л.Б. Зишпшилциб t 33 цірбин улицари Д. р.н. 1 - Л.Б. Зишпшилциб t 33 цірбин улицари Д. р.н. 1 - Л.Б. Зишпшилциб t 33 цірбин улицари Д. р.н. 1 - Л.Б. Зишпшилциб t 33 цірбин улицари Д. р.н. 1 - Л.Б. Зишпшилциб t 33 цірбин улицари Д. р.н. 1 - Л.Б. Зишилициб t 3, шраницари Д. р.н. 1 - Л.Б. Зишилициб t 3, шраницари Д. р.н. 1 - Л.Б. Зишилициб t 3, шранициб t 3- царин улицари Д. р.н. 1 - Л.Б. Зишилициб t 3, шранициб тарин улицари Зираширициб t 3, шранициб тарин улицари Д. р.н. 1 - Л.Б. Зишилициб тарин улицари Д. р.н. 1 - Л.Б. Зираширициб тарин улицари Д. р.н. 1 - Л.Б. Зираширициб тариб тарин улицари Зирашири улицари Д. р.н. 1 - Л.Б. Зирашили улицари Д. р.н. 1 - Л.Б. Д. р.н. 1 - Л.Б. Зишири улициб тариб тариб тариб тариб тариб тариб т	+ «Dhinulu
31 U2QU3NU VINGUYUQPUVUU OUNU3NH089NU Si phy 1 - N5 Suunununulud t 33 4/houluugi ultanuluud t 33 4/houluugi ultanuluud t 34 4/houluugi ultanuluud tunnnin 2008p. nblunbäpinh 5-h phil 43-U nm N2 SONUUL 3USVUOR 3USUNATION Süujhü müntunıpjuu N2 SONJUU AUSVUOR 3USUNATION Süujhü müntunıpjuu N2 SONJUU AUSVUOR 3USUNATION Süujhü müntunıpjuu N2 SONJUU AUSVUOR 3USUNATION Süujhü müntunıpjuu N2 1- NS, puudhü huudungi (22 1 - SS, puudhü U, unjinuuuli 1 luud puudhü 7, unjinuuli 2, ujinüuli 1) Niumulüünini Duunuu Duunuu Uunq uuluu uuluulinui duuluulinui duudulinui duudulinui iuluulinui iuluulinui iuluulinui iuluulinui iuluulinui iuluulinui iuluulinui iuluu 11 uug	វ័យ០័យវូប៍ ពក ប្រសិយប៍ បីកុយ
२२ Ц2QU3ԻՆ ՎԻճԱԿЦQPUԿЦՆ ԾԱՌԱՅՈՒԹՅՈՒՆ Ձև phý 1 - ſhš Зшилилиций t ??? վիбшцица ифилифий timphpnph 2008p. nptiunbåpiph 5-h phil 43-UL mm DQ SDNPUUL QUS-VatsU2DSNFPB3OFV Зширдшартрр huuðung Збшурб илбильильрий hbrppauljuð huuðung Sбшурб илбильильрий hbrppauljuð huuðung (2U 1-SS, pud/hő U, unjnrunulj 1 ljunð Льили обшифрппьрушб окибибшциришицифр ушфій ?, шарлициф 2, ирлибициф 1) Пили обшифрппьрушб окибибшциришицифр шибцшбли. ошбцшбли. бишцицијп шибцшбли. бишцицијп шибцшбли. бишцишпл. ошбцшбли. ошбцшбли. бишцишр шибцшбли. ошбцшбли. ошбцшбли. ошбцшбли. ошбцшбли. ошбцшбли. ошбцшбли. ушрд 1шуд 11шуд 11шуд	
24. phil 1-Л5 Зииллилций t 73 liftbuluugi yubnautyud t 1000000, nptuntustie t 10000, nptuntustie t 1000, N2 50nUUL 2US-UIOP 2bSU20nSnH030hU 3ungauptoph huutuppi Süujhä infünbunippilä Nunitä Süujhä infünbunippilä Mutuppilä Mutuppi Mutuppilä	
Эй ріц 1 - Л5 Зишлиций і няріяля 2008е. прилиций і няріяля 2008е. прилиций і наріяля О2 БЛР СИЦ ЗЦЯ ЧДОР ЗЪЗЦАЛЯЛІВАЛІВ Зилядшерперія нийшра Збшурій и бильтирушій шілшийр Калурій пойольтирушій шілшийр Суда 1-85, ришорій Ц, шлуптишці 1 цша ришорій 7, шлуптишці 2, иулт. бшіц 1) Плиптиййширр шайцшблі. Фанцицирр шайцшблі. Фанцицирр шайцшблі. Фанцицирр шайцшблі. Фанцицирр Шаладшерпі. Даладана Паладана Маладана Паладана Паладана </td <td></td>	
N2 \$\Delta PUUL PUSPUTOR PESUBDSDH@BDHU Pungupppph huvung Stiunyhi unfunbrun.pputi htppunyuti huvung Stiunyhi unfunbrun.pputi utinputoph htppunyuti huvung Stiunyhi unfunbrun.pputi utinputoph htppunyuti huvung (2u 1-SS, pundhi U, ungjni utuly 1 yuud munutofuunpni pputi dutoutiputoph pundhi 7, ungjni utuly 2, ujni tuuly 1) Munutofuunpni pjuti dutoutiputoph utuquufini 1 Uung utuquufini 1 Stungungnni gauqungh huvung Iung 111ung 1111ung 111ung 111ung 111ung 111ung 111ung 111ung 111ung 111ung 11	ាករៈឝ្យុយជ៍ ១2ជ័យជំជ្
¬шрдшрвррр hшбшрр Sũшյին տնտեսության huộung Sũшյին տնտեսության wũnwôp htppwuluu huówng (24 1-SS, pudfi U, unjnruwlı 1 lµuð pudfū ¬, unjnruwlı 2, ujnrūwlı 1) Ուսումնширрпւթյան dwówնшиµшhшицшөр µшбір Сайбширіш wűqluūn.ú bull µnguqpni.guluph huðupp ¬unguqpni.guluph huðupp ¬unguqpni.guluph huðupp ¬unguqpni.guluph huðupp ¬unguqpni.guluph huðupp ¬ungu qpni.guluph huðupp ¬ungu ¬ngu qpni.guluph þla	
Sūwjhū inūintuni.pjiuū httppwiljiuū huušuping Sūwjhū inūintuni.pjiuū wūņuuših httppwiljiuū huušuping (2u 1-SS, piuothū U, unijni.uulų 1 ljuuš piuothū ?, unijni.uulų 2, uji.iūulų 1) Niuni.šūiuuhpni.pjiuū drušuulūuljuhuiuniųuot Pūuuljuujin uūųluūni.uš buotiu vunit uūųluūni.uš buotiu uūųluūni.uš buotiu uūųluūni.uš buotiu uūųluūni.uš buotiu jung junguqpni.guulunin huušup jung	
Sūujhū inūintuni.pjulū ulūņuidh htppeuljulū huidiunin (2u 1-SS, puudhū U, unjini.uulį 1 ljuuđ ni.uni.dūuuhpini.pjulū duuduuluuhuunijuloti Muni.dūuuhpini.pjulū duuduuluuhuunijuloti ulūlulūni.d bulgu ulūlulūni.d bulgu ulūlulūni.d bulgu julgu julgu </td <td></td>	
Ուսումնասիրության ժամանակահատվածը	
Ուսումնասիրության ժամանակահատվածը	
Рնшկшцшр	
անվանում ծածկագի, Մարզ անվանում ծածկագիր Յարցազրուցավարի համարը Յարցազրույցի ամսաթիվը I այց I I այց I I այց IV այց V այց	
Մարզ	í 7
անվանում ծածկագիր Յարցազրուցավարի համարը Յարցազրույցի ամսաթիվը I այց I I այց I I այց I I այց V այց V այց	
անվանում ծածկագիր Յարցազրուցավարի համարը Յարցազրույցի ամսաթիվը I այց I I այց I I այց IV այց V այց	
Յարցազրուցավարի համարը Յարցազրույցի ամսաթիվը I այց I I այց I I այց I I այց V այց	
Յարցազրույցի ամսաթիվը I այց I I այց I I այց IV այց V այց	
Ι ωյց ΙΙ ωյց ΙΙΙ ωյց ΙV ωյց V ωյց	
	(6)

Բաժին Ա. Գործու	նեությա	ն (բիզնես	ի) կազմակերպում						
Ա1. Ո՞րն է Ձեր գործունեության (բիզնեսի) հիմնական տեսակը (ապրանքի արտադրություն և /կամ վաձառը , վՃարովի ծառայություն)։ <i>(լռես 1-ՏՏ, էջ 11, սլ.5)</i>									
			\$9\$9						
Ա2. Ե՞րբ է Ձեր գործունեությունը (բիզնեսը) հիմնվել (նշել տարեթիվը)։									
Ա3. Որտե՞ղ եք վարում տվյալ գործունեությունը (բիզնեսը)։ (տես՝ 1-SS, էջ 11. ա.7)									
Մշտական (ֆիքսված) տարածք									
 01 Տանը, առանց հատուկ աշխատատեղի 02 Տանը, հատուկ աշխատատեղով (տան ներսում կամ կից) 03 Տևից դուրս՝ ֆիքսված տարածք գործունեության համար 04 Ֆերմա կամ անհատական գյուղացիական / օժանդակ տնտեսություն 05 Հաճախորդի տանը կամ աշխատավայրում 06 Շինարարական հրապարակում (շինհրապարակ) 07 Շուկայում, տոնավաճառում 08 Փողոցի կամ մայրուղու վրա (ֆիքսված դիրքով) 09 Գործատուի (պատվիրատուի) տանը 									
Ա4. Իրականացնու՞մ եք արդյոք (բացի ձեր հիս գործունեության վայրում։	Ա4. Իրականացնու՞մ եք արդյոք (բացի ձեր հիմնական գործունեությունից) այլ գործունեություն հիմնական գործունեության վայրում։								
1 Ujn, (u2tl)			2 N ₂						
Չլրացնել ⇔ ՏԳՏԴ									
Ա5. Իրականացնու՞մ եք Դուք արդյոք Ձեր հիմն	ական գոյ	ոծունեությ	ունը այլ վայրերում։						
. 1 Ujn			2 Ω _Σ → <i>Ubgubi U 6-hb</i>	·					
Ա5.1. Քանի՞սն են դրանը։									
Ա6. Գրանցվա՞ծ է արդյոք Ձեր գործունեություն	ւը (բիզնեւ	ւը) որևէ ս	դետական մարմնում։						
	USN	U5	Գրանցման գործընթացում է						
Ա6.1 Հարկային մարմնում	1	2	3						
Ա6.2 Պետական ռեգիստրի վարվեում	1	2	3						
մարմիններում		2	5						
Ա7. Ունե՞ք արդյոք Ձեր գործունեության (բիզն	եսի) անու	նով բանկ	ային հաշիվ։						
1 Ujn			2 Nչ						
ԱՑ. Ինչպիսի՞ հաշվապահական հաշվառում ե	ք վարում	Հ Հեր գործո	ունեության համար։						
1 Գրավոր հաշվառում չեմ վարում։ 4 Մանրամասն պաշտոնական հաշվառում 2 Հաշվառում միայն սեփական վերահսկման համար։ 6 Ռաշվապահական հաշվեկջիո)։ 3 Պարզեցված հաշվառում հարկային վՀարումների համար։ 5 Այլ (նշել)									
Ա9. Իրականացնու՞մ եք Դուք արդյոք այլ գործունեություն այլ տարածքում, որը տարբերվում է Ձեր հիմնական գործունեությունից։									
1 Ujn			2 Ոչ 🗲 Մեզնել բաժին Բ-ին						
Ա9.1. Քանի՞սն են դրանը։									

		Рш	ժին Բ.	Չբաղն	լածությ	ուն և վա	րձատրությո	ոն	
Բ1. Քանի՞ մարդ է (ներառյալ Դուք) աշխատել Ձեր բիզնեսում (նշել անգամ նրանց՝ ովքեր մեկ ժամ են աշխատել) <u>գործունեության վերջին ամսվա ընթացթում։</u> Աշխատողների ընդհանուր թիվը Քանիսն են վարձատրվել									
F2.	Բևութս Դութ)։	ւգրեք նրանց , որոնք . մ	շտակա	ն են աշի	սատել Ձ	եր բիզնես	աւմ վերջին ս	ւմսվա ընթա	ւցբում (ներառյալ
No.		Անուն (1)	Ubn (2)	Տարիք (3)	Կարգավ իՃակ (4)	Պայմանա գիր (5)	Ընդհանուր աշխատաժա- մանակ (ժամ) (6)	പ്പോർ മാന്ന്ന് (7)	Աշխատավարձ, հազար դրամ (8)
1									
2									
3						-			
4									
5									
6									
7									
8									
9									
10									
11									
12									
13									
14									
15									
	F 2:1 C	նդամենը ամսվա համս	որ			(հազ	ար դրամ)		
Սերի Կարգավիձակի Պայմանագրի ծածկագրեր Վձարման բազայի ծածկագրեր ծածկագրեր ծածկագրեր 1 – Պայմանագրի,որը կնքված է 0- Բնեղեն,պայմանականորեն 1 – Արտկան 1 – Ղեկավար որոշակի ժամանակով հաշվարկված 2 – Իգական (գործառուս) 2- Պայմանագիր,որը կնքված է անորոշ 1- Ըստ արտադրանքի միավորի 2 – Իգական (գործառու) 2- Պայմանագիր,որը կնքված է անորոշ 1- Ըստ արտադրանքի միավորի 3 – Վարձու աշխատող 3- Բանավոր համաձայնություն 3- Օրական 3- Օրական 4 – Վարձատրությանը 4 – Փորձաշրջանով 4- Անական 4- Անական 5 – Առանց պայմանագրի 6- Առանց աշխատովարձ (կուփոիոն վՀարներ) 7 – Գյուղացիական տնտեսությունում 7 – Գյուղացիական տնտեսությունում									
F3.	Աշխաս	ողներին տրված նպաս	տներն	ու դրամ	նական ս	լարգևներյ	ը (գործունեու	թյան վերջի՝	ն ամսում)
	Բ3.1. Գործատուի կողմից վճարված պարտադիր սոցիալական ապահովագրությունը։								
	Բ3.2. Գործատուի կողմից վձարված մյուս բոլոր նպաստներն ու դրամական պարգևները։								
	63.3 0	יזיייין איזיייייייייייייייייייי	un (63	11 63.3	2 ոնրիա	โกเก (กเป	un)		

Բ3.3. Ընդամենը ամսվա համար (Բ3.1 և Բ3.2 ընդհանուր գումար)

(հազար դրամ)

Contraction of the local distribution of the		[bm4]	մն Գ. Այ	որույլությ	ուն	, պաշարներ և վաձառք					
Ð	Գ1. Որքա՞ն է կազմել Ձեր գործունեության հասույթը (ներառյալ բարտերով փոխանակված ապրանքների իրացումը)										
Q 1	Գ1.1.Գյուղատնտեսական գործունեության համար. (վերջին վեց ամառմ)			Գ 1.2. Ոչ գյուղատնտեսական գործունեության համար. (վերջին ամաում)							
	(հազար դրամ)				. (hmdml	ւ դրամ)				
Գ2. Վերամշակման (ձևափոխման) ենթարկված ապրանքների վաճառքը։											
	Գյուղատնտ	եսակ	ան		Ոչ գյուղատնտեսական						
	Ապրաևքի տեսակը	Չափի միա- վոր	Քանակը	Ընդհանուր արժեքը (հազար դրամ)		Ապրանքի տեսակը	Չափի միա- վոր	Քանակը	Ընդհանուր արժեքը (հազար դրամ)՝		
1					1						
2					2						
3					3						
4					4						
5					5						
	1 2 .1. Ընդամենը վերջին վեզ	յամնո	เป			Գ2.2. Ընդամենը վերջին ամսվ	ա հաւ	ໃໝກ			
93	Գ3. Առանց վերամշակման (ձևափոխման) ապրանքների վաճառքը (վերավաճառքի համառ գնված										
uu	ապրանքների վաձառքից հասույթը)։										
	Գյուղատնտ	եսակ	ան		Ոչ գյուղատնտեսական						
	Ապրաևքի տեսակը	Չափի միա- վոր	Քանակը	Ընդհանուր արժեքը (հազար դրամ)		Ապրանքի տեսակը	Չափի միա- վոր	Քանակը	Ընդհանուր արժեքը (հազար դրամ)		
1					1						
2					2						
3					3						
4					4						
5					5						
Q	ւ3.1. Ընդամենը վերջին վեց	ພປແກ	ป			93.2. Ընդամենը վերջին ամսվ	ա համ	ար			
94	. Մատուցված ծառայույ	թյունն	ւեր								
	Գյուղատնտեսական			Ոչ գյուղատնտեսական							
	Հարհանութ Ծառայության տեսակը նիազար դրամ)				Շևդիանու Ծառայության տեսակը արժեքը (հազար դրս			Հնդհանուր արժեքը ազար դրամ)			
1					1						
2	2				2	12 24 -					
3	3			3	.8						
4	÷				4						
5					5						
94.	1. Ընդամենը վերջին վեծ այ	ใบทานไ			C C	4.2. Ընդավենը վերջին այնըվալի	ານນໍາມາ				
պ	աշարների փոփոխությու	ւն							_		
----------------	---------------------------------------	---------------------	-----------	--	--------------------	---------------	---------------	---------	---------------------	---	--
	Գյուղատնս	ıtuul	լան				Ոչ գյու	ղատնս	ntuul	լան	1
	Ապրանքի տեսակը	Չափի միա- վոր	Քանակը	Ընդհանուր արժեքը (հազար դրամ)		Ապ տե	րանքի աակը		Չափի միա- վոր	Քանակը	Ընդհանուր արժեքը (հազար դրամ)
1					1						
2					2						
3					3						
4					4						
5					5		-			100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100	
Q	5.1 . Ընդամենը վերջին վել	յ ավսո	ເຟ			Գ5.2. Ընդամեն	ւը վերջի	ն ամսվ	ա հաս	նար	
ዓ.(6. Վերավաձառքի համայ	ր գնվւ	սծ ապր	անքների ս	ĮΨ	շարների փու	իոխությ	յունը			
	Գյուղատնտ	եսակ	ան		L		Ոչգյուր	լատնտ	եսակ	լան	
	Ապրանքի տեսակը	Չափի միա- վոր	Քանակը	Ընդհանուր արժեքը (հազար դրամ)		Ապյ տե	րանքի սակը		Չափի միա- վոր	Քանակը	Ընդհանուր արժեքը (հազար դրամ)
1					1						
2					2						
3					3						• • •
4	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			`	4						· · · · · ·
5					5						
q	6.1. Ընդամենը վերջին վեց	ամսո	เป			Գ6.2. Ընդամեն	ւը վերջին	ն ամնվե	ս հավ	ար	
ዋ.	7. Սեփական կարիքների	ւ համա	up oqui	ագործված	սեւ	իական արտ	ադրութ	յան աս	կրան	քների ծ	ավալը
	Գյուղատնտ	եսակ	ան	~	Ոչ գյուղատնտեսական						01.1.6
	Ապրանքի տեսակը	Չափի միա- վոր	Քարարն	Հադհանուր արժեքը (հազար դրամ)		Ապլ տեւ	րանքի սակը		Չափի միա- վոր	Քանակը	Հադոանուր արժեքը (հազար դրամ)
1	-				1						
2					2						
3					3						
4					4						
5					5						
q	7.1. Ընդամենը վերջին վեց	ամաո	ւմ			Գ7.2. Ընդամեն	ւը վերջին	նամավ	ահավ	ար	
Р 8	. Ինչպիսի՞ տատանումն	եր են	գրանցո	վելՁեր բիզ	լնե	սում անցած	12 ամիս	ւների ը	նթաց	յքում։	
Uu Anr	հս Ա1 Ա2 Ճունեության	π	3 U.	4 U.5		U.6 U.7	U. 8	U. 9	U 1	0 U.	11 U 12
bud	blughp										
<u>Ф</u> д	ոծունեության ծածկագիր:	<u>ک</u> ח – 0	մի գործու	նեություն 1-	Նվս	սզագույն 2–Ս	Դիջին 3-	– Առավե	լագույն		

Գ.5. Վերամշակման (ձևափոխման) ենթարկված ապրանքների (ներառյալ կիսապատրաստուկների)

Գ9. Ամսական համախառն հասույթը (անցած 12 ամիսների ընթացքում)։	·							
Գ9.1. Նվազագույն համախառն հասույթ (հազար դրամ)								
Գ9.2. Միջին համախառն հասույթ								
Գ9.3. Առավելագույն համախառն հասույթ								
Գ10. Վերջին 12 ամիսների ընթացքում աշխատանքի ընդունե՞լ եք արդյոք ժամանակավո	որ աշի	ւատողն	երի։					
1 Ujn 2 Ω _Σ → Ubabli in	udhù I	-ри						
Գ10.1. Որքա՞ն աշխատող ունեիք այն ամսում, երբ ունեիք								
առավելագույն համահառն հասուտ։								
	1.1.1. 100.0	NAN TRAVELOW						
Բաժին՝ հ. Հումքի, սյութերի և վերավաձառնան համար ապրանքների ձեռբ	րերվ	ան ծա	սսեր					
11. Հար գործուսաության ռասար օգտագործված հուսքի և նյութերի ծախսը։	- S 5-	L	- h					
	101111	աւթյա	ն ուսար Ընդհանուր					
Ապրանքի Չափի արժեքը Ապրանքի	Չափի միա-	Քանահո	արժեքը՝					
տեսակը վոր դրամ) տեսակը	վոր		ក្រាយវ)					
1			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
3								
4 4								
5 5								
Դ 1.1. Ընդամենը վերջին վեց ամսում								
Դ2. Վերավաձառքի համար գնված ապրանքների (առանց վերամշակման) արժեք	ը։							
Գյուղատնտեսական գործունեության համար Ոչ գյուղատնտեսական գոր	Ոչ գյուղատնտեսական գործունեության համար							
Ընդհանուր Մաթանթի Չափի արժեքը Մաթանթի	Quuhh		Ընդհանուր արժեթո					
տեսակը միա- Քանակը (հազար տեսակը տեսակը վոր հոսակը	uhu- Jnn	Քանակը	(huqun					
Micady			դրաս)					
1 1								
2 2								
3								
4								
5 5								
		an gere						
Դ3. Որքա [°] ն էին Ձեր գործունեության ծախսերո վերջին ամսա	CUSO UN	սար						
Ծախսեր Մո	մեթը ()	huugun n	րամ)					
Գլուրատ	ւնտե-	T	Մնացած					
	11. 2. 11.17	qnpb	ունեություն					
(վերջին վել	ցասիս	9 (l[t]	igha maha)					
	Sadara		THE REAL PROPERTY IN					
վճարումներ	1.10%							
վճարումներ 2. Պարտադիր առցիալական ապահովագրության վճարներ (Բ.3.1)								

	🧭 Բաժին Դ. Հումքի, նյութերի և վերավաձածման համար ապրանք	ների ձեռջ բերմա	ւն ծախսեր					
4.	Հումք, նյութեր (Դ1.1., Դ1.2.)							
5.	Վերավաձառքի համար գնված ապրանքների արժեքը (Դ2.1., Դ2.2.)							
6.	Վառելիք							
7.	Qnip							
8.	չ. էլեկտրաէներգիա							
9.	Վարձակալական վձարներ (<i>տարածք, մեքենա-սարքավորումներ</i>)							
10.	Տրանսպորտային ծառայություններ							
11.	Կապ, հաղորդակցություն, ինտերնետ							
12.	Այլ ոչ արտադրական ծառայություններ <i>(բանկային ծախսեր ներառյալ</i> տոկոսներ և այլն)							
13.	Արտադրական միջոցների պահպանում և վերանորոգում							
14.	Այլ արտադրական ծառայություններ							
15.	Վ՜Հարված տոկոսներ							
16.	Հարկեր		-					
17.	Ապահովագրական վճարներ							
18.	Այլ ծախսեր (ևշել)							
Դ 3.	1.Ընդամենը (հազար դրամ)							

	Բաժին Ե. ՝	գտովիտայ	ծախսեր		
Ե.1. Վերջին 12 ս	ւմիսների ընթացքում Ձեր գործունե	ության համ	նար ինչ հիվ	նական միջոցներ 1	են օգտագործվել։
Տեսակը	Բնութագրեր (Կարձ նկարագիր)	Գործար- քի ձև	Մեփակա- նություն ձև	Ձեռք բերման, վաձառքի կամ օտարման (ամիս / տարի)	Արժեք (փոխհատուցման ծախսեր) (հազար դրամ)
	u)				
1. Հող	p)				
	(p				
	u)				
2. Շենքեր	F)				
· · · ·	d)				
0 xx 1	uı)				
3. Ujį humnig-	p)				
վաօքսել	ф) .				
4. Մեքենաներ և	ա)				
umppu-	p)				
վորումներ	q)				
5. Տոանսարը	u)				
տային	<u>р)</u>				
միջոցներ	g)				
6. Կահույթ և	ա)		A second		
գրասենյակայ	<u>р)</u>				
ին սարքավո- րումներ	ď)		-		
	ա)				
7. Չեռքի	p)				

			1						
գործիքներ	g) .								
8 ຕາມຕາໂນນໂນນ	ш)								
տնկարկներ	<u>F)</u>								
9. Բանող և	<u>m)</u>								
մթերատու	<u>p)</u>								
uuuuuuuuu	q)								
	ui)								
10. Այլ	4/ n)								
	1// b)								
	(d)								
<u>Գործարքի ծածկագր</u> ն	<u>եր։</u> 1 – ար գևված 2 – օգտագործված 3 – զգալի փոփո 5 – վաձառք 6 – օտարում	արթյունները ենթարկվանց՝ 4-նեկ	նավար անտամնություր՝						
<u> Մեփականության ձև</u>	<u>ի ծածկագրեր</u> : 1 - անձնական սեփականություն 2 – հա	մատեղ սեփականություն 3 - վարձա	կալված 4–լիզինգ						
	an a								
	Բաժին Զ. Վարկային տեղ	եկատվություն							
91 0 [°] n⁄r Ebbilium	וואמתם נוונו כל ולתחולת כובל הה תכווואמנווויו	ໂປະກາງອາກາໂມງ:							
1 Ընտանեն։	ישני שלשטותנוויני, און דאני ונטיויען עד שלע לאויסאני	amelouredr.							
2 2່ແປແຟແນ	տասխանում է իմ մասնագիտությանը։								
3 Այն տալիս	.u է ավելի բարձր եկամուտ (շահույթ)։								
4 Ապահովո	ում է ավելի կայուն եկամուտ (շահույթ)։								
5 Այլ (նշել)									
92. Դուք Ձեր գործունեության համար վերցրե լ եք արդյոք վարկ վերջին 12 ամիսների ընթացքում ։									
	1 Ujn	2 Ω _Σ → Uhobbly mudh	b 24						
Ձ3. Ո՞րն է Ձեր բյ	իզնեսի ֆինանսավորման աղբյուրը։								
(บกเทรนq	յրել "1" Այո–ի դեպքում կամ "2" ` Ոչ-ի դեպքո	<i>11</i>)	1						
	1 Ազգախաններ, հարևաններ, ընկերներ	· · ·	2						
2	2 Գործատու (կազմակերպության սեփական	ատեր)	3						
3	3 Մասնավոր վարկային կազմակերպություն	(գրավատուն)	4						
4	4 Առևտրային բանկ		5						
	5 Կոոպերատիվ		6						
e	6 Այլ (նշել)								
94. ໂາຍຣາເ ປພາ	րկ չեք վերցրել Ձեր գործունեության համար։		`						
(Մուտքագ	որել "1" Այո –ի դեպքում կամ "2" ` Ոչ-ի դեպքո	LL()							
	1 Ունեմ եկամտի այլ աղբյուռ		1						
	2 Անչափ մեծ պահանջներ են		2						
	3 Տեղեկություն չունեմ վարկի աղբյուրի մաս	1u	3						
	4 Բարձր տոկոսադրույթո		4						
	5 Uŋ (u2b)		5						

Բաժին է Այլ տեղեկատվություն

է1. Ձեր կարծիքով, որքան է կազմում Հայաստանում փոքր ձեռնարկության (անհատ տնտեսավարողի) միջին ամսական փաստացի եկամուտը, ինչպես նաև վարձու աշխատողի միջին ամսական աշխատավարձը (Կարող եր նշել միայն այն մյուղերը, որոնց վերաբերյալ ուներ գատատանաններ)

		(Հազար դրամ)							
		սեփականատիրոջ միջին ամսական եկամուտ	վարձու աշխատողի միջին ամսական աշխատավարձ						
1	Լեռնահանքային արդյունաբերություն								
2	Վերամշակող արդյունաբերություն								
3	Շինարարություն								
4	Մեծածախ առևտուր								
5	Մանրածախ առևտուր								
6	Տրանսպորտ								
7	Կրթություն								
8	Առողջապահություն	-							
9	Այլ ծառայություններ								

է2. Ձեր կարծիքով, Հայաստանում փոքր ձեռնարկությունները (անհատ տնտեսավարողները) իրենց իրական ջրջանառության կամ եկամուտների, որ մասը պիտի արտացոլեն պաշտոնական մարմիններին տրվող հաշվետվություններում, որպեսզի չզրկվեն գոնե նվազագույն եկամտից։

- 1 մինչև 20%-ը
- 2 21-hg 50 %-p
- 3 51-hg 80 %-р
- 4 81-ից բարձր
- 5 ամբողջը (ոչինչ պետք չէ թաքցնել)։

Հարցազրույցի ավարտ

Շնորհակալություն

Appendix 10 Informal Sector Survey 2009 Questionnaire: English Version

National	Statistical S	Service of t	he Republic	of Armen	ia				
		Approved by State Council on Statistics on 5 Dec 2008, No 43-A decision							
	The Info	ormal Sec	tor Surve	У					
	Number of (Questionnai	uestionnaire						
	Number of I	Household							
	Number of I	Household H	Head						
	(form 1-HH, section D, ta	section A, a able 2, colur	table 1 or mn 1)						
Survey period				montl	h 2009 year				
Country									
	n	ame			code				
City									
	n	ame			code				
Number of Interviewer									
Interview Date									

	SECTION A. ORGANIZATION OF BUSINESS											
A1.	What is the main activity (product made an see 1- HH , page 11 column 5)	d/or so	old/ ser	vice	provided for pay) of your busing	ess?						
				NA	ACE							
A2.	In what year was this business established	l?										
A3.	In which type of premises do you conduct	this bu	siness	acti	ivity? (see 1- HH , page 11 column 7	7)						
	Fixed premises		<u>No f</u>	ixed	premises							
01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09	At home with no special work space At home with work space inside/attached to the hor Business premises with fixed location independent from home Farm or individual agriculture/subsidiary plot Home or workplace of the client Construction site Market, bazaar stall, trade fair Street, pavement or highway with fixed post Employer's home	me	10 11 90	Trai No t (e.g Oth	nsport vehicle fixed location . mobile, door-to-door, street w/o fixed ers (specify)	post)						
A4.	In addition to the main activity you describ this place of business? 1 Yes, specify	ed abo	ve, do	you 2	carry out other activities in 2 No							
Δ5	A5. Do you have other places of business where you also conduct your main activity?											
1 Y	1 Yes 2 No → Skip to A6											
	A5.1. How many other places?											
A6.	Is your business registered in any local or r	nationa	l gove	rnm	ent agency?							
		7	DT.		In the process of being registered							
	A61 Tax agency	(es 1	N0 2		3							
	A6.2 State redister	1	2		3							
	A6. 3 Social security agency	1	2		3							
A7.	Do you have a bank account in the name of	f this b	usines	s?								
	1 Yes			2	2 No							
A8.	What type of bookkeeping and account pra	actices	do you	ı kee	ep for this business?							
	 No written records are kept Informal records for personal use Simplified accounting format required for tax particular 	ayment	4 5	Det Oth	ailed formal accounts (balance sheets) ers (specify))						
A9.	Do you run a business in other locations w	hich is	differe	nt fr	om this main activity?							
	1 Yes			2	2 No → Skip to section B							
	A9.1. How many other places?											

SECTION B. EMPLOYMENT AND COMPENSATION											
B1.	How many persons, including	g yourse	elf, worl	ked in ye	our busin	ess even for j	ust an hour	during the <u>last</u>			
		number	formel	(000							
	i otai How	many nai	d worker	yees s?							
B2.	Characteristics of those who	worked	regula	rly durin	g the last	month your	business op	berated			
	(including yourself)		Acc	-		Total working	Pasia of	Wagon and colorise			
No.	Name (1)	Sex	(yrs)	Status	Contract	hours	Payment (7)	(thousand dram)			
1		(=/	(0)	(.)	(0)		(. /	(3)			
2											
3											
4											
5											
6											
7											
8											
9											
10											
11											
12											
13											
14											
15	15										
	B2.1 Total for the month				(Thousan	d Dram)					
<u>Con</u> 1 – 2 –	Codes for Sex Codes for Status Codes for Contract Codes for Sex 1 - Male 1 - Boss/employer 1 - Written contract without fixed duration 0- In kind, imputed (received as wage/salary) 2 - Female 2 - Own-account worker/ Self employed 1 - Written contract without fixed duration 0- In kind, imputed (received as wage/salary) 3 - Wage earner 4 - On trial/probation 3 - Verbal agreement 3 - Per day 4 - Paid family worker 5 - No contract 5 - No contract 6 - Other salaries/wages (specify) 6 - Not salaries/wages (specify e.g. commission basis) 7- Unpaid farm worker										
В3.	Allowances and bonuses paid	to wor	kers (la	st mont	h of opera	ntion)					
	вз.1. тотаl social insurance р	baid by e	employ	er	(inousai	na uram) 🗋					
	B3.2. Total of all other allowa paid by employer	nces/bo	onuses		(Thousar	nd Dram)					
	B3.3. Total for the month (To	tal of B3	.1 and	B3.2)	(Thousa	nd Dram)					

I

C1. What was the total amount of your gross sale/revenue (including barter)? (Thousand Dram) (Thousand Dram) C1.1. FOR AGRICULTURE: What was the total amount of your gross sale/ revenue for the last 6 months of operation? C1.2. FOR NON-AGRICULTURE: What was the total amount of your gross sale/ revenue for the last 6 months of operation? (Thousand Dram) (Thousand Dram) (Thousand Dram) C2. Products sold after transformation (Thousand Dram) AGRICULTURE NON-AGRICULTURE N Kind of product Qty Qty Unit Total value (Thousand Dram) 1 1 1 2 2 2 3 3 1 4 4 1 5 1 5 C2.1. TOTAL (for the last 6 months) C2.2. TOTAL (for the last month) C3. Products sold without transformation (sales of products bough for trade) Non-AGRICULTURE N Kind of product Qty Unit Total value (Thousand) N Kind of product Qty 1 2 2 1 1 2 3 3 1 1 5 1 1
C1.1. FOR AGRICULTURE: What was the total amount of your gross sale/ revenue for the last 6 months of operation? C1.2. FOR NON-AGRICULTURE: What was the total amount of your gross sale/ revenue for the last 6 months of operation? (Thousand Dram)
(Thousand Dram) (Thousand Dram) C2. Products sold after transformation AGRICULTURE N Kind of product Qty Unit Total value (Thousand Dram) N Kind of product Qty Unit Total value (Thousand Dram) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 2 2 2 1 1 1 1 3 3 3 1 1 1 1 1 4 4 4 1
C2. Products sold after transformation AGRICULTURE NON-AGRICULTURE N Kind of product Qty Unit Total value (Thousand Dram) N Kind of product Qty Unit Total value (Thousand Dram) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 2 1 2 2 1 1 1 1 3 1 3 3 1 1 1 1 1 4 1 2 1 <
AGRICULTURE NON-AGRICULTURE N Kind of product Qty Unit Total value (Thousand Dram) N Kind of product Qty Unit Total value (Thousan Dram) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 2 2 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 3 1 1 3 1 1 1 1 1 1 4 1
N Kind of product Qty Unit Total value (Thousand Dram) N Kind of product Qty Unit Total value (Thousan Dram) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 3 1 <td< td=""></td<>
1 1
2 2 1 2 3 3 3 1 1 4 4 4 1 1 5 5 5 1 1 C2.1. TOTAL (for the last 6 months) C2.2. TOTAL (for the last month) C2.1. TOTAL (for the last 6 months) C2.2. TOTAL (for the last month) C3. Products sold without transformation (sales of products bougth for trade) AGRICULTURE N Kind of product Qty Unit Total value (Thousand Dram) N Kind of product Qty Unit Total value (Thousand Dram)
3 3 1
4
5 5 C2.1. TOTAL (for the last 6 months) C2.2. TOTAL (for the last month) C3. Products sold without transformation (sales of products bougth for trade) AGRICULTURE NON-AGRICULTURE N Kind of product Qty Unit Total value (Thousand Dram) N Kind of product Qty Unit Total value (Thousand Dram)
C2.1. TOTAL (for the last 6 months) C2.2. TOTAL (for the last month) C2.2. TOTAL (for the last month) C3. Products sold without transformation (sales of products bougth for trade) AGRICULTURE NON-AGRICULTURE N Kind of product Qty Unit Total value (Thousand Dram) N Kind of product Qty Unit Total value (Thousand Dram)
C3. Products sold without transformation (sales of products bougth for trade) AGRICULTURE N Kind of product Qty Unit Total value (Thousand Dram) N Kind of product Qty Unit Total value (Thousand Dram)
AGRICULTURE NON-AGRICULTURE N Kind of product Qty Unit Total value (Thousand Dram) N Kind of product Qty Unit Total value (Thousand Dram)
N Kind of product Qty Unit Total value (Thousand Dram) N Kind of product Qty Unit Total value (Thousan Dram)
2 2
3 3
4 4
5 5
C3.1. TOTAL (for the last 6 months)
C.4 Services offered
AGRICULTURE NON-AGRICULTURE
No. Type of service Total value (Thousand Dram) N o. Type of service Total value (Thousand Dram)
1 1 2 2
1 1 2 2 3 3
1 1 2 2 3 3
1 1 2 2 3 3 4 4

C.5.	Changes in	invento	ries of j	produc	ts (inc	luding	g semi-p	proc	lucts)	after tra	nsformat	tion					
		AG	RICULI	TURE							NON-A	GRICU	JLTUR	RΕ			
	Kind o	of product		Qty	Unit	Tot (Th E	al value ousand)ram)			Kind of	product		Qty	Uni	t	Total value (Thousand Dram)	
1								1									
2								2									
3								3									
4								4									
5								5									
C.5.	1 TOTAL (fo	or the las	st 6 mo	nths)				C	C.5.1 T	OTAL (f	or the la	st mon	th)				
C.6.	Changes in	invento	ries of j	produc	ts wit	hout t	ransforr	nati	ion								
		AG	RICULI	TURE							NON-A	GRICU	JLTUR	RE			
	Kind o	of product		Qty	Unit	Tot (Th E	al value ousand Dram)			Kind of	product		Qty	Uni	t	Total value (Thousand Dram)	
1								1									
2								2									
3								3									
4								4									
5								5									
C.6.	C.6.1 TOTAL (for the last 6 months)						C.6.1 TOTAL (for the last month)										
C.7	Products (af	ter trans	sformat	tion) u	sed fo	r own	consun	npti	ion								
		AG	RICULI	TURE				NON-AGRICULTURE									
	Kind o	of product		Qty	Unit	Tot (Th E	al Total value ousand Dram)			Kind of	fproduct		Qty	Uni	t	Total value (Thousand Dram)	
1								1									
2								2									
3								3									
4								4									
5								5									
C.7.	1 TOTAL (fo	or the las	st 6 mo	nths)				C	C.7.1 T	OTAL (f	or the la	st mon	th)				
C. 8	B How did yo	our busii	ness ad	ctivity	fluctu	ate wi	thin the	ра	st 12	months?	?						
	Month	M1	M2	M	3	M4	M5	+	M6	M7	M8	M9	M1	0	M11	M12	
Acti	vity																
	Activity	codes:	0 —	No acti	vity	1 – Mini	imum 2	2 – A	Average	e 3 – Ma	ximum						

C9 Maximum monthly gross	sale/re	evenue,	average gro	ss	sale/revenue, and	minimum	mont	nly gros	s	
C9.1. Minimum gross sale C9.2. Average gross sale C9.3. Maximum gross sale	C9.1. Minimum gross sale/revenue (Thousand Dram) C9.2. Average gross sale/revenue									
		enue								
C10. Did you employ tempor	r ary w 1 Ye	orkers v es	within the pa	st 1	12 months? 2 No →	Skip to see	ction D			
C10.1 How many tempo wherein there wa	orary v s a ma	vorkers aximum	were there in gross sale?	n th	ne month					
SECTION D. EXPEN	DITUF	RES ON	N RAW MAT	ER	RIALS AND STOC	CK (last n	nonth	of ope	eration)	
D1. How much did you spend	d on ra	aw mate	erials used fo	or y	our business?					
AGRICUL	TURE				N	ON-AGRIC	ULTU	RE		
Kind of product	Qty	Unit	Total value (Thousand Dram)		Kind of prod	uct	Qty	Unit	Total value (Thousand Dram)	
1				1						
2				2						
3				3						
				4						
-				4						
5				5						
D1.1. TOTAL (for the last (6 mon	ths)			D.1.2. TOTAL	(for the las	st mon	ith)		
D2. How much was the purchase cost for products (without transformation) for sale										
AGRICUL	TURE			NON-AGRICULTURE				RE		
Kind of product	Qty	Unit	Total value (Thousand Dram)		Kind of prod	uct	Qty	Unit	Total value (Thousand Dram)	
1				1						
2				2						
3				3						
4				4						
5				5						
D.2.1. TOTAL (for the last	6 mor	iths)			D 2.2. TOTAL	(for the las	st mon	th)		
D3. What were your busines	ss exp	enses d	during the or	bera	ation?					
	Expe	nses/C	ost			Va	alue	Thousan	d Dram)	
						Agricu (Last 6 m	lture ionths	Nor) (L	n-agriculture ast month)	
1. Wages and salaries (from	B.2.1)									
2. Social insurance (from B.3	, 3.1)									
3. Bonuses & allowances (fro	, om B.3	8.2)								

	SECTION D. EXPENDITURES ON RAW MATERIALS AND STOCK (last month of operation)			
4.	Raw materials (from D1.1, D1.2)			
5.	Purchase cost of products sold (from D2.1, D2.2)			
6.	Fuel, gasoline & lubricants			
7.	Water			
8.	Electricity			
9.	Rental payments (space, machinery, structures)			
10.	Transport services			
11.	Post, communication, internet			
12. Other non-industrial services (bank charges excluding interest, professional, business and other service fees, representation and entertainment expense, storage and warehousing fees, stevedoring, forwarding and other freight charges)				
13.	Repair & maintenance of facilities & equipment			
14.	Other industrial services			
15.	Paid interests			
16.	Taxes			
17.	Insurance			
18.	Other charges (specify)			
D3.	1 Total for the month (Thousand Dram)			

SECTION E. CAPITAL EXPENDITURES					
E1. What are the capital assets you used for your business activity during the past 12 months?					
Туре	Characteristics (Short Description)	Mode of trans- action	Owner- ship	Date of acquisition/ sale/lost (month / year)	Value (replacement cost) (Thousand Dram)
	a)				
1. Land	b)				
	c)				
	a)				
2. Buildings	b)				
	c)				
3 Other	a)				
structures	b)				
	c)				
	a)				
4. Transport	b)				
equipment	c)				
5. Other	a)				
machinery	b)				

and equipment	c)					
	a)					
6. Furniture	b)					
equipment	c)					
	a)					
7 Small tools	b)					
	c)					
	a)					
8. Other	b)					
assets	c)					
	a)					
9. Livestock	b)					
and poultry	c)					
	a)					
	b)					
10.Others	c)					
	d)					
	e)					
	f)					
Mode codes: 1 – Bo Ownership codes:	Mode codes: 1 – Bought new 2 – Bought used 3 – Made major improvements 4 – Own-produced 5 – Sold 6 – Loss Ownership codes: 1 – Personal property 2 – Rent 3 – Lease 4 - Share property					
	SECTION F. CREDIT INFORMATION					
F1. What is the main reason you chose this business activity? 1 Family tradition 2 It is the profession that I know 3 It gives better income/higher profits than other products or services 4 More stable returns than other products/services 5 Other (specify)						
F2. During the last 12 months of operation, did you avail of any credit to finance your business?						
1 Yes 2 No → Skip to F4						
F3. What was/were your source(s) of financing your business?						
(Enter "1"	for YES; "2" for NO)				1	
2	 Relative/neighbor/friends Employer/landlord Private money lender/pawnshop Private bank Cooperative 					
6 Others, specify 6						

F4.	Why did you	not avail of any loan to finance your business?	
	(Enter "1" fo	r YES; "2" for NO)	
	1	Has other source of income	1
	2	Burdensome requirements	2
	3	Unaware of source	3
	4	High interest rate for loans	4
	5	Others, specify	5

SECTION G .OTHER INFORMATION

G1. In your opinion, how much is the average real income of small producing unit (organisation or person) in Armenia by the following industries

(Fill only those raws where you have estimates)

(Thousand dram)		
Mining and Quarrying		
Manufacturing		
Construction		
Wholesale trade		
Retial trade		
Transportation		
Education		
Health		
Other services		
	Mining and Quarrying Manufacturing Construction Wholesale trade Retial trade Transportation Education Health Other services	

G2. In your opinion, what share of their real income should small producing units report to state bodies, to be able to receive at least minimal profit.

- 1 up to 20%
- 2 21-50 %
- 3 51-80 %
- 4 81 and more
- 5 totally (no need to hide anything)

End Interview

Thank You!!!

References

- Asian Development Bank. Forthcoming. A Handbook in Using the Mixed Survey for Measuring Informal Employment and Informal Sector.
- Barwa, S. 1995. Structural Adjustment Programmes and the Urban Informal Sector in Ghana. *Issues in Development*, Discussion Paper 3.
- Brooks, D., R. Hasan, J.W. Lee, H. Son, and J. Zhuang. 2010. Closing Development Gaps: Challenges and Policy Options. *ADB Economics Working Paper Series* No. 209.
- Charmes, J. 2009. "Concepts, measurement and trends". In Is Informal Normal? Towards more and better jobs in developing countries. Eds. J.P. Jütting and J.R. Laiglesia, Paris: OECD.
- Chen, Martha A. 2007. Rethinking the Informal Economy: Linkages with the Formal Economy and the Formal Regulatory Environment. *DESA Working Paper* No. 46, ST/ESA/2007/ DWP/46.
- Delhi Group and International Labour Office. Forthcoming. *Manual on Surveys of Informal Employment and Informal Sector*.
- Gennari, P., Guerrero, M., and Orhun, Z. 2009, The "1–2" Survey: A data collection strategy for informal sector and informal employment statistics. UN ICMISIE Working Paper No. 1.
- Hussmann, R. 2004a. Defining and Measuring Informal Employment. Paper presented at the ESCAP Subcommittee on Statistics Meeting, entitled Economic Statistics: Statistics on the Informal Sector and the Non-observed Economy, First Session, Bangkok, Thailand, 18–20 February 2004.
 - . 2004b. Statistical Definition of Informal Employment: Guidelines Endorsed by the Seventeenth International Conference of Labour Statisticians (2003). Paper presented at the 7th Meeting of the Expert Group on Informal Sector Statistics (Delhi Group), New Delhi, India, 2–4 February 2004.

- Hussmann, R. and Farhad Mehran. Undated. Statistical Definition of the Informal Sector – International Standards and National Practices. International Labour Organization, Geneva.
- International Labour Organization. 2004. Report on the 17th International Conference of Labour Statisticians. Geneva. Available: www.ilo.org/ global/What_we_do/Statistics/events/icls/lang--en/ docName--WCMS_087568/index.htm.
- _____. 1993. Report on the 15th International Conference of Labour Statisticians. Geneva.
- _____. 1982. Report on the 13th International Conference of Labour Statisticians. Geneva.
- Joshi, K., R. Hasan, and G. Amoranto. 2009. Surveys of Informal Sector Enterprises – Some Measurement Issues. *ADB Economics Working Paper Series* No. 183.
- Maligalig, D. 2008. Measuring the Informal Sector: Current Practices. Paper presented at the Inception Workshop for RETA 6430: Measuring the Informal Sector at the Asian Development Bank (ADB) Headquarters, Manila, 20–23 May 2008.
- . 2010. Towards a Reliable and Cost-Effective Data Collection Strategy for the Informal Sector and Informal Employment. Paper presented at the International Conference on Measuring the Informal Sector and Informal Employment, Viet Nam, 6–7 May 2010.
- Maligalig, D. and M. Guerrero. 2008. How Can We Measure The Informal Sector? Paper presented at the Philippine Statistical Association, Inc. mid-year conference at the Department of Labor and Employment, Intramuros, Manila, 06 June 2008.
- Maligalig, D., S. Cuevas, and A. Rosario. 2009. Informal Employment in Bangladesh. *ADB Economic Working Paper Series* No. 155, April 2009. Manila.
- National Statistical Service of the Republic of Armenia (NSSRA). 2009. Labour Force and Informal

Employment in Armenia: On the Results of One-Off Sample Survey 2008. Yerevan.

- _____. National Accounts Data. Available: www .armstat.am/en/.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. 2002, Measuring the Nonobserved Economy – A Handbook. Paris, France: OECD.
- _____. 2001. Measuring Productivity: Measurement of Aggregate and Industry - Level Productivity Growth. OECD Manual. Paris, France.
- United Nations. 2001, System of National Accounts 1993. United Nations Statistics Division.

About the Country Report

This country report is one of the outputs of Asian Development Bank's (ADB) regional technical assistance (RETA) 6430: Measuring the Informal Sector. The National Statistical Service of the Republic of Armenia, one of the three partner statistical agencies of RETA 6430, worked closely with ADB in adapting the mixed survey approach for collecting informal sector and informal employment data, in analyzing the survey results, and in writing this country report.

The country report presents an in-depth analysis of informal employment, which comprises about 52.1% of all jobs in Armenia. The method for estimating the contribution of the informal sector to the gross domestic product, the resulting estimates, labor productivity, and the characteristics of informal sector production units are also discussed in this report.

About the Asian Development Bank

ADB's vision is an Asia and Pacific region free of poverty. Its mission is to help its developing member countries substantially reduce poverty and improve the quality of life of their people. Despite the region's many successes, it remains home to two-thirds of the world's poor: 1.8 billion people who live on less than \$2 a day, with 903 million struggling on less than \$1.25 a day. ADB is committed to reducing poverty through inclusive economic growth, environmentally sustainable growth, and regional integration.

Based in Manila, ADB is owned by 67 members, including 48 from the region. Its main instruments for helping its developing member countries are policy dialogue, loans, equity investments, guarantees, grants, and technical assistance.

Asian Development Bank 6 ADB Avenue, Mandaluyong City 1550 Metro Manila, Philippines www.adb.org ISBN 978-92-9092-238-4 Publication Stock No. RPT102860



Printed on recycled paper

Printed in the Philippines